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This has been my second year as 
Chairman and it has continued as the 
first, one which has been both exciting 
and full of challenges and opportunities.  
Throughout the year I have continued my 
focus of taking time to meet with staff, 
key stakeholders, patients and members 
of the public to listen to their views.  This 
is a key priority in light of the Francis 
Report and is something the Board, senior 
managers and all staff working in our 
organisation, need to actively pursue if we 
are to put patient care, quality and safety 
at the heart of everything we do.  Our 
focus on safety and patient experience is 
something which the Board is fully behind 
and will continue to drive forward. 

Along with my non-executive colleagues, I have continued 
to take part in safety visits across the Trust.  At these I 
have had an opportunity to discuss with frontline teams 
how we can improve care and safety for all our patients.  
This provides invaluable feedback to the Board helping to 
inform the debate as we seek to deliver on safety, quality 
and the efficiency challenge.  

I continue to be impressed with the quality and dedication 
of governors.  They add outstanding value to our decision- 
making process, providing true representation of the 
communities we serve.  Publicly elected and supported 
by representatives from key stakeholders, their expertise 
is critical as we develop our services.  I am especially 
pleased that the recently approved changes to the Trust’s 
Constitution will mean that in future, governors will be 
able to be elected for three terms instead of two.  This 
will assist the Trust as we enter a new phase for the NHS 
where changes to services are considered.

Over the past 12 months we have continued our focus 
on improving nursing standards.  This approach to safe 
and caring continues to be embraced by our staff and 
local communities alike.  Whilst our finances have been 
challenging throughout the year, they continue on a 
firm and even keel.  This is important as it means that we 
have the resources to continue to invest in our buildings, 
equipment and our staff.  It will become even more 
challenging in the years ahead and we will need to hold 
open debates with our local population on how we can 
continue to deliver high quality services within the financial 
limits set.  The final result of an operating surplus ensures 
that we can continue to invest in important routine work 
such as replacing existing equipment and refurbishing 
wards and also invest in service developments, our estate 
and new equipment.  

During the year, 239,418 people attended our accident 
and emergency (A&E) departments and 857,355 people 
attended outpatients. These are staggering numbers of 
local people who rely on us to deliver the care they need 

Lord Philip Hunt 
Chairman
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at a critical time in their lives.  Our role in supporting and 
developing the local community cannot be underestimated 
as we provide healthcare and also vital jobs and through 
our local procurement provide local businesses with much 
needed income.  

Throughout the year we have encouraged people to come 
forward; patients, carers, visitors and staff to share their 
views and experiences.  This ensures that we can continue 
to take action and - where appropriate - change services 
so that we can continue to improve the standard of care 
we deliver.  

Trust performance has been strong in many areas but one 
where we have failed to meet the target is in the four hour 
emergency access target. This is extremely disappointing; 
especially as last year for the first time we achieved it in all 
quarters of the year.  The Board and Executive see this as an 
important safety measure as it measures time in which the 
number of patients attending A&E are seen, treated and 
discharged or admitted to a ward, the target being 95% 
within four hours.  The Trust achieved 93.14%. A great 
deal of work is underway to address this performance 
and it is something that is being closely monitored by the 
Board.  This includes working with our partners and the 
third sector as this organisation, like many in the NHS, has 
struggled to achieve this standard especially over the busy 
winter months.   

We are focused on all safety measures including driving 
down infection rates, improving waiting times, and 
reducing all errors.  It was disappointing that we just missed 
the MRSA target by one, with seven MRSA bacteraemia in 
the year for the whole Trust; one of these was a likely skin 
contaminant. (There were eight MRSA bacteraemia in the 
previous year).  Although these numbers are very small, 
added measures have been introduced to reduce the 
chance of such infections. This includes the introduction 
of a new anti bacterial body wash and shampoo for all 
inpatients, to reduce carriage of Staphylococcus aureus, 
and real-time electronic monitoring to identify patients 
who were not screened for MRSA on admission.

The  C. difficile target for 2012/13 was 124 cases. There 
were 86 cases in the year, being 30% under the target. 
This very good result needs to be considered against the 
stringent target of 67 for the 2013/14 year. 

The Board remains committed to its open approach to 
discussing issues widely and encouraging staff to report 
safety concerns.  Safety and quality remain our top 
priorities and it is on this principle that we will continue 
to make any financial investments and changes.

The Trust is required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and I am pleased to be able to report 
that its current status is registered without any conditions. 
During the year the CQC visited our sites on four occasions 
to review various outcomes: medicines management; 
safeguarding; care and welfare of people who use services; 
co-operating with other providers; staffing; complaints; 
and respecting and involving people who use services. 

I have been supported throughout the year by six 
experienced non-executive directors.  At the start of 
2012/13 the governors appointed three new non-executive 
directors:  Laura Serrant-Green, Director of Research and 
Enterprise and Professor of Community and Public Health 
Nursing at the School of Wellbeing at the University of 
Wolverhampton; Les Lawrence, former Cabinet Member 
for Children, Young People and Family at Birmingham 
City Council; and Edward Peck, Pro-Vice Chancellor and 
Head of the College of Social Science at the University of 

Birmingham.  These outstanding candidates joined our 
strong team and have helped to ensure that we have 
scrutinised the Trust’s performance and direction.  

Two non-executive directors have left during the 
year - Richard Samuda to become Chief Executive at 
Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust, 
and Richard Harris to take on the same role at The Royal 
Wolverhampton Hospitals NHS Trust.

At the end of this year the governors have appointed 
Alison Lord an accountant with already strong 
foundation trust experience, who joins us on 1 May 2013. 
Dr Patrick Cadigan, Consultant Cardiologist at Sandwell 
and West Birmingham NHS Trust and also the Registrar 
of the Royal College of Physicians and Dr Jammi Rao, 
until recently Deputy Regional Director of Public Health 
based in Birmingham and David Lock QC, who is Head 
of Healthcare Law at a  Birmingham-based Chamber. All 
three join us on 1 July 2013. Regrettably, this summer we 
will be losing the services of two of our longest serving 
and most experienced non-executive directors, both 
of whom have completed eight years for the Trust and 
who were appointed as non-executive directors when we 
first became a foundation trust in 2005. Anna East and 
Paul Hensel have served the Trust with dedicated service 
and to them both I offer my warmest thanks for a job 
exceptionally well done.

We have developed a very strong Board, focused on 
putting the patient at the core of everything we do.  This 
will ensure that the Board continues to provide a high level 
of scrutiny and strategic input as we focus on delivering 
quality services in what is a very financially challenging 
and  dynamic environment.

Fundraising continues to support core business, providing 
additional funds to improve services and patient 
experience.  I am pleased to report that donations have 
been increasing at a time when many charities are 
suffering declining income.  The volunteering service 
continues to be strong and there are now 750 volunteers.  
They continue to play a key part in service delivery with 
roles as diverse as directing patients and visitors, feeding 
patients, providing support to patients with long-term 
conditions and assisting the dementia team with social 
intervention for confused patients.

I want to thank all of the staff for their continued 
commitment.  I continue to be impressed by their 
openness in sharing their views and aspirations for the 
Trust and their dedication in delivering safe quality care 
for patients.  I know that we have a great deal to achieve, 
the targets and performance are critical, but firmly believe 
we have the best people, have set the right direction and 
continue to have the right guiding principles of quality 
and safety.

Rt. Hon. Lord Hunt of Kings Heath, PC. OBE, Shadow 
Deputy Leader of the House of Lords, and Chairman
28 May 2013

@LordPhilofBrum
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Ever since the Board defined the Trust’s 
mission as ‘Healthcare at the Heart of our 
Communities’ all our programmes have 
focused on achieving that via four strategic 
priorities:

Safe and caring;
Locally engaged;
Efficient;
Innovative.

These remain our guiding principles but we are 
moving forward into 2013/14 with the sobering 
findings of the Francis Report in mind, and its 
recommendations are informing our future strategy.

Now we are renewing our focus on ensuring that 
we are always safe and caring, and this is our 
overarching principle. We are implementing a five 
year plan to improve the quality of our services and 
their delivery, starting by making a greater relative 
investment in acute, general services such as A&E 
and care of the frail elderly, where improvements 
will be most keenly felt.

We are also redoubling our efforts to optimise 
efficiency, and we believe that, by getting these 
crucial acute services right first, improvements will 
flow through into all other aspects of our care.

Unfortunately, at the start of the year our service is 
really struggling with emergency activity, something 
that is unprecedented and is caused by a number of 
complex factors which we must better understand if 
we are to continue to improve the care we provide 
to our patients.

As we work though our five year plan, the views 
of service users and staff will play a vital part as we 
seek to align our services to the needs and health 

Dr Mark Newbold 
Chief Executive
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aspirations of our community, and to achieve our 
ambition to secure a place among the top 10% of 
trusts for patient safety.  For this Annual Report we 
asked service users what improvements they would 
like to see at their local hospital, and a number 
of themes emerged.  You can see what they said 
on pages 24 and 25.  There will be a continuous 
consultation and engagement process to ensure 
our care meets the needs of the 1.3 million people 
– including a disproportionately high number of the 
deprived and frail elderly – that we serve.

We are removing the traditional barriers between 
inpatient and community care, and between 
curative and preventive treatment.  To this end, we 
are going to be breaking new ground by appointing 
two public health specialists to work in collaboration 
with teams from Birmingham University to research 
and develop public health initiatives that will help 
members of our communities improve and maintain 
their own health more effectively.

As a Trust operating in a populous area with high 
levels of need in some parts, we take seriously our 
ability to be a good neighbour.  We are one of the 
largest local employers, and we will be expanding 
the opportunities we offer over the coming year.  I 
am a governor of Waverley School, which is a next 
door neighbour to us at the Heartlands Hospital site, 
and we will be working in partnership with them on 
training and apprenticeship initiatives to maximise 
career opportunities for local young people, and 
help us to grow our own local talent.

One thing that must not go unsaid is a big ‘thank you’ 
to all the Trust staff who have worked so tirelessly, 
and with such commitment, throughout a busy and 
very challenging year.  I remain proud to lead this 
organisation, to recommit us all to delivering safe, 
high quality, efficient healthcare, and to ensuring 
that patients – not targets – are our first priority.

This year, the Annual Report is very different in look 
and feel. We asked the directors to take a moment 
to tell us what has stood out most for them and 
to structure their reports clearly against the Trust’s 
four core priorities. I hope readers will see how we 
are putting these at the centre of everything we do.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
everyone for their continuing enthusiasm and 
commitment during what has been a very busy year.

Dr Mark Newbold
Chief Executive
28 May 2013

www.marknewbold.com
@drmarknewbold
mark.newbold@heartofengland.nhs.uk
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The Board
In addition to the Chairman, there 
are currently seven executive board 
directors and six non-executive board 
directors.

The Board is responsible for the overall management 
and performance of the Trust, and approves its long-
term objectives and strategy.  While day-to-day 
management is delegated to the Chief Executive, 
there is a formal schedule of matters reserved for 
the Board.  That schedule provides a framework 
for the Board to oversee the Trust’s affairs, and it 
is available to view on the Trust’s website - www.
heartofengland.nhs.uk.

Non-executive directors are appointed for three or 
four years, and their appointment can be terminated 
with one month’s notice given by either the director 
or the Trust.  Further details of the directors, their 
remuneration and how they operate is given in the 
Remuneration Report on page 154.

The Board meets in formal public session six times 
a year and also ad hoc when necessary.  It is given 
accurate, timely and clear information so it can 
maintain full and effective control over strategic, 
financial, operational, compliance and governance 
issues.  The directors bring a range of skills and 
experience to their role on the Board, to ensure the 
balance, completeness and appropriateness of the 
Board’s discussions and determinations.    

The attendance of the directors at Board meetings 
and certain committee meetings is set out on page 
147.

Board committees include:

• Nominations Committee
• Audit Committee
• Governance and Risk Committee
• Donated Funds Committee
• Stakeholder and Community Engagement 

Committee
• Finance and Performance Committee
• Information Management and Technology 

Committee
• Remuneration Committee

Their terms of reference are available at the Trust’s 
offices.

The Governance section of the report contains 
reports on the work of the Nominations, Audit and 
Remuneration Committees, while the work of the 
Finance and Performance Committee is explained in 
the Finance Review.

The directors do not have material interests in 
organisations where those organisations or related 
parties are likely to do business, or are possibly 
seeking to do business, with Heart of England NHS 
Foundation Trust.

12
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The directors serving on the board during 2012/13 were:

Lord Philip Hunt – Chairman \ ‡•
Dr Mark Newbold – Chief Executive •
Dr Aresh Anwar – Medical Director 
Ms Mandy Coalter – Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development (resigned 30 
September 2012)
Mrs Anna East – Non-Executive Director and Deputy Chair \ † ‡ •  
Mr Simon Hackwell – Commercial and Strategy Director 
Ms Najma Hafeez  – Non-Executive Director \  ‡ 
Mr Richard Harris – Non-Executive Director \ † ‡ (resigned 5 March 2013)
Mr Paul Hensel  – Non-Executive Director \ † ‡ 
Mr Les Lawrence – Non-Executive Director \  ‡  (appointed 1 April 2012)
Ms Alison Lord – Non-Executive Director \ † ‡ (appointed 1 May 2013)
Professor Edward Peck – Non-Executive Director \  ‡ (appointed 1 April 2012)
Professor Laura Serrant-Green – Non-Executive Director \  ‡  (appointed 1 April 2012)
Mr Richard Samuda  – Non-Executive Director \ † ‡ (resigned 9 April 2012)
Mr Adrian Stokes – Director of Finance and Performance, Deputy Chief Executive 
Ms Mandie Sunderland – Chief Nurse 
Mrs Lisa Thomson  –  Director of Corporate Affairs and Corporate Governance
Dr Sarah Woolley  –  Director of Safety and Organisational Development 

\        Independent     †    Audit Committee         ‡        Remuneration Committee
•        Nominations Committee         

The Council of Governors has approved the appointment as Non-Executive Directors of Dr Patrick 
Cadigan, Mr David Lock and Dr Jammi Rao with effect from 1 July 2013. 

Board of Directors

13
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Lord Philip Hunt, Chairman

Lord Philip Hunt left Leeds University in 1970 with a BA in Political Studies. In 
1972 he became a works study officer for Oxford Regional Hospital Board, moving 
to Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre as a hospital administrator in 1974.  He was the 
first Secretary of Edgware and Hendon Community Health Council, the first Chief 
Executive of the NHS Confederation, a director of the National Association of 
Health Authorities from 1984 to 1990 and a director of the National Association of 
Health Authorities and Trusts from its formation in 1990.  He became President of 
the Royal Society for Public Health in 2010.

In 1997, Lord Hunt was created a life peer with the title Baron Hunt of Kings Heath, 
of Birmingham in the County of West Midlands.  He served as Parliamentary Under-
Secretary of State in the Department of Health from 1999 until his resignation 
in 2003 over the invasion of Iraq.  He was re-appointed to Government in May 
2005 as Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State at the Department for Work and 
Pensions and returned to the Department of Health as Minister of State in January 
2007, moving to the Ministry of Justice in July of that year.  In the October 2008 
Government reshuffle, Lord Hunt became Minister of State in both the Department 
for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) and the newly created 
Department of Energy & Climate Change (DECC), as well as acting as the Deputy 
Leader of the House of Lords.  In the June 2009 reshuffle he left Defra to focus 
solely on his roles in the Lords and at DECC.

He is Opposition Spokesman on Health and the Shadow Deputy Leader of the House 
of Lords.  Lord Hunt was appointed Chairman of the Trust in April 2011.

You can follow Lord Hunt on Twitter @LordPhilofBrum

“Our annual Staff Recognition Awards night was the highlight of the year for me. 
We honoured and commended over 24 staff for delivering high quality care and 
going above and beyond for our patients. Congratulations again to them all.” 
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Dr Mark Newbold, Chief Executive

Dr Mark Newbold was appointed Chief Executive of the Trust in August 2010 having 
previously held the same post at Kettering General Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. 
He has spent 20 years as a hospital doctor, including time at both Warwick Hospital 
and University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire as a consultant specialising in 
gastrointestinal disease and histopathology.

Dr Newbold played a lead role in developing the National Bowel Cancer Screening 
Programme and was Managing Director of Rugby St Cross Hospital before leaving 
medicine to begin a new career as a chief executive. 

Mark is Chair of the NHS Confederation Hospitals Forum and Honorary Senior 
Fellow at the Health Services Management Centre at the University of Birmingham.  
He is a governor of Aston University and Waverley School, and a Fellow of the 
Royal College of Pathologists.
 
He has a strong interest in the future of hospital services and in leadership, 
particularly clinical leadership. He believes that NHS leaders need to be visible and 
open in their decision-making and is fascinated by the role social media can play 
in bringing this about.
 
You can follow Mark on Twitter @drmarknewbold or read his blog at 
www.marknewbold.com

“For my abiding memory of 2012/13, I pick the award of the Trust’s own Nursing 
Medal.  Awarded to nurses who can show they live our values, and who have 
scored 100% on our (own design) VITAL education and assessment programme, it 
marks a real milestone in the development of nursing in our Trust.  When I started, 
it was clear that for patients and local people this was a top priority, so it’s really 
pleasing to see the progress we have made.”
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Dr Aresh Anwar, Medical Director

Mrs Anna East, Deputy Chairman

Mrs East was formerly Head of Group Legal at Britannic Group plc and Halfords 
Group plc, and has also practised as a solicitor at Eversheds.  She is Chairman of 
Dudley Building Society, a non-executive director of Midland Heart and Entrust, 
Vice Chairman of Dowell’s Trust Housing Association and a governor of the King 
Edward’s Schools.  She chairs the Trust’s Governance and Risk Committee and is 
a member of the Remuneration and Audit Committees.  She was appointed as 
Deputy Chairman in April 2008. 

“My highlight of the year was meeting members of the Sutton community and 
hospital staff at Good Hope’s first fete.  It was a really good way of getting in 
touch with the people who use the hospital and of giving them a look at what 
we do.”

Dr Anwar is an experienced clinical director of medicine and diabetes, a consultant 
physician and has been involved in the delivery of both frontline and outpatient 
clinical services.  Prior to joining the Trust he spent six years at University Hospitals 
Coventry and Warwickshire as Clinical Director and Associate Medical Director for 
Medicine and Emergency Services.  With a keen interest in medical management, 
enhancing service quality and improving efficiency, Dr Anwar has led on change 
programmes delivering new models of care and on many collaborative projects.

Dr Anwar is a founder member of the Regional Pregnancy Advisory Board at the 
Perinatal Institute and sat on the regional Diabetes in Pregnancy Advisory Group.  
He is also a member of the South Asian Health Foundation with his role focused 
on raising awareness of diabetes in deprived populations of South Asian origin in 
the UK.

“One thing that stands out for me this year is the tremendous effort demonstrated 
by all of our staff through the winter period. Staff went above and beyond the call 
of duty in order to maintain our services and for that I have to say ‘thank you’.”

Ms Mandy Coalter, Director of Human 
Resources and Organisational Development

Prior to joining the Trust as Director of Human Resources (HR) and Organisational 
Development in July 2006, Mrs Coalter worked in local government for 12 years 
and is a graduate in law, a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel and 
Development, a practitioner in NLP and qualified executive coach. Mrs Coalter 
led the HR team, overseeing workforce planning, education, organisational 
development, employee relations, employee wellbeing and HR services, such as pay 
and recruitment.

 Following a period of maternity leave Ms Coalter left the Trust in September 2012.

“It was exciting to watch the Touch Rugby Competition with staff from the Trust 
playing teams from across the West Midlands. The initiative helped inspire the 
Department of Health’s challenge to get 2012 people moving in 2012, and the Trust 
was awarded use of the London 2012 INSPIRMark branding.”
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Mr Simon Hackwell, Commercial and 
Strategy Director

Mr Hackwell is a politics graduate with an MBA in international business.  He 
joined the Trust in 2007, having worked previously in the private sector for, among 
others, Arthur Andersen and KPMG.  He was programme director for the merger 
with Good Hope Hospital and, in 2011, led the transfer of Solihull Community 
Services into the Trust.  Mr Hackwell leads the Board’s work on strategy, business 
and service development, research and innovation.  He has developed close links 
with partner universities and oversees the development of the Hollier Simulation 
Centre at Good Hope.  He also sits on the Board of MidTECH – the West Midlands 
NHS Innovation Hub.  He was appointed to the Board in May 2011.

“The launch of the new pathology build really stands out for me this year as it 
shows the level of ambition and dedication we have as a Trust to investing in high 
quality services for our patients.”

Ms Najma Hafeez, Non-Executive Director

Ms Hafeez was appointed to the post of Non-Executive Director at the Trust in 
April 2007.  Ms Hafeez is Managing Director of Russell Excel, a firm of international 
consultants specialising in management training, education, communication 
and leadership skills, human resources and change management.  She was the 
youngest and first Muslim woman elected to Birmingham City Council in 1983 and 
she held several senior Council positions including Chair of Education, Chair of 
Social Services, Chair of Community Affairs and Chair of Euro-Cities Network.

Ms Hafeez was involved in the development of Birmingham City’s regeneration 
programme, including the building of the International Convention Centre, 
Brindley Place, Millennium Point and other key projects. She is also Chair of Mosaic 
(a Prince’s Trust charity) and an associate member of INVOLVE, a national advisory 
group that supports greater public involvement in the NHS, public health and 
social care research.

“Our community health fair event at Millennium Point proved to be a huge success 
and stands out as a highlight for the year. It was great to see so many members of 
our staff working with our communities.”

Richard Harris, Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a non-executive director in May 2008, Mr Harris is a chartered 
accountant and spent eight years as a partner with Pricewaterhouse, followed by 
11 years in senior finance roles, reporting to the main Board finance directors with 
two FTSE100 companies.

Mr Harris brought a mixture of finance and business experience encompassing 
the management of large and complex projects, treasury management, taxation, 
investment appraisal, acquisitions and divestments, risk management, governance 
and accounting. He is a trustee of the Birmingham Community Foundation, a 
governor of the RSA Academy at Tipton, a non-executive director of Simplyhealth 
Group Limited and a trustee of various pension funds. Mr Harris was Chairman of 
the Finance and Performance Committee from May 2011 to April 2012 and was 
appointed Chairman of the Audit Committee in May 2012.

“My highlight of the year was the fete at Good Hope Hospital. It was fantastic to 
see our staff and people from the communities we serve coming together for a 
happy, celebratory day.”
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Alison Lord, Non-Executive Director

Alison joined the Trust on 1 May 2013, having previously been a non-executive 
director at Birmingham & Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust. She 
has worked extensively at Board level with public and private sector health and 
social care organisations, in both executive and non-executive capacity, and 
specialises in organisational culture change, performance improvement and 
business  restructuring. Alison is a Fellow of the Chartered Association of Certified 
Accountants and the Association of Business Recovery Professionals, and a member 
of the Institute for Turnaround.

Mr Les Lawrence, Non-Executive Director

Mr Lawrence has been Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Family at 
Birmingham City Council, and has previously chaired both the Royal Orthopaedic 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and the Alexandra Hospital (Redditch).  He joined 
the Board on 1 April 2012. From 1 July 2013 he will be Deputy Chair, and the 
Board’s senior independent director.

“I continue to be overwhelmed and impressed by how much support and generosity 
the public have shown by supporting our Trust. Over the past year we have received 
over £1.3m through our charity, donations and grants.”

Mr Paul Hensel, Non-Executive Director

Mr Hensel is an IT professional with 35 years’ experience in the development and 
provision of IT systems.  His early career encompassed roles with Dunlop, GKN, 
Chubb and West Midlands Regional Health Authority.  Mr Hensel, together with 
his brother, started his own business in 1980 to harness the emerging power of 
small-scale computers.  This company, which eventually became a leading supplier 
of software to the worldwide mobile telecommunications industries, particularly 
in South Africa and Europe, was acquired by CMG/Logica in 2003.  Mr Hensel was 
appointed as a Non-Executive Director to the Trust in August 2005 and is the non-
executive lead for IT issues.  He is also a Non-Executive Director of the John Taylor 
Hospice.

“The high point of the year for me was when Good Hope Hospital opened its doors 
for its first ever fete,which turned out to be a great family day out. We got to show 
off our new Ward Block 1 and really engage with our community.”
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Professor Edward Peck, 
Non-Executive Director

Professor Peck joined the Board on 1 April 2012.  He is a pro-vice chancellor and 
Head of College of Social Sciences at the University of Birmingham.  He initially 
joined the university as Director of the Health Services Management Centre, one 
of the leading centres for research, teaching and consultancy in health policy and 
practice in the UK.  He is also a member of the Council of the Birmingham Chamber 
of Commerce.

“The highlight of the year was the Trust’s staff awards night - reminding us all once 
again of the commitment and creativity that makes the NHS.”

Professor Laura Serrant-Green, 
Non-Executive Director

Prof Serrant-Green is Director of Research and Enterprise and Professor of 
Community and Public Health Nursing at the School of Wellbeing at the University 
of Wolverhampton.  She has worked at a very senior level in both nursing and 
teaching with particular emphasis on marginalised and hard to reach populations 
in health and social care.  Prof Serrant-Green has also worked for the Department 
of Health, most recently as a member of the Prime Minister’s Commission on the 
Future of Nursing and Midwifery. Prof Serrant-Green joined the Board on 1 April 
2012.

“The support we are showing our communities through our volunteer programme 
is simply wonderful and its success is clear from the fact that we now have more 
than 750 volunteers supporting our staff through our hospitals.”

Richard Samuda, Non-Executive Director

Mr Samuda has over 20 years’ experience specialising in management consultancy 
as an advisory partner in KPMG. He is a chartered accountant with a wealth of 
business experience dealing with major private and public sector clients and is 
also Chairman of Horton Estates, one of the largest private property companies 
outside London and a director of Warwick Racecourse. Mr Samuda was appointed 
non-executive director in June 2006, and resigned in April 2012 to take over 
as Chairman of Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust. He was 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, supported the volunteering work at the Trust 
as the non-executive lead and is also a member of the Clinical Awards Committee.

“My highlight of the past year at the Trust was the conference we held in 
collaboration with the Royal College of Nursing focusing on diversity and how 
healthcare is changing to meet the needs of a diverse population. We were the 
first Trust to organise a conference of this type and it was attended by healthcare 
professionals from across the region.”
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Mr Adrian Stokes, Director of Finance and 
Performance, Deputy Chief Executive

Ms Mandie Sunderland, Chief Nurse

Mr Stokes has been Finance Director for the Trust since 2007 and formally came 
on to the Trust Board in July 2008.  He graduated from Lancaster University in 
1992, working his way through the NHS Finance Graduate Training Scheme and 
being appointed to a succession of posts within the Trust in addition to a period 
working for West Midlands Strategic Health Authority (SHA) as the Financial and 
Performance Manager covering North and East Birmingham.

Mr Stokes is on the Board of the Heartlands Education Centre Ltd and chairs the 
Pan Birmingham Decontamination Board.  He is also Deputy Chief Executive of the 
Trust and takes the Board lead for estates, site strategy, procurement, emergency 
planning and performance reporting.

“My highlight for the year has to be the newly-built ward block 1 at Good Hope 
Hospital for winning the prestigious industry award, Built in Quality, for the quality 
of its construction work by Birmingham City Council. Ward block 1 exceeded our 
expectations and has now set the benchmark standard for future developments 
across our Trust sites.”

Ms Sunderland came to the Trust in December 2008 as Chief Nurse, having previously 
held executive director positions in acute trusts in the North West of England.  Her 
clinical specialty is intensive care nursing and she has worked in both clinical and 
practice development posts in London, Manchester and Lancashire. 

She has extensive policy experience, having worked for regulators and the 
Department of Health in reviewing standards of care across several hospital 
trusts in England and Northern Ireland.  Her main interests now lie in quality and 
governance, and in improving standards of nursing care and nurse education.

“The highlight of 2012/13 for me was the inaugural presentation of the Trust’s 
Nursing and Midwifery Badge in November 2013 at Sutton Coldfield Town Hall.  
Nearly 100 nurses received the badge, having scored full marks in an online 
assessment of their knowledge, signed up to the Trust’s professional values and 
code of professional behaviour, and provided evidence from patients or their peers 
that they have demonstrated those behaviours in practice.”
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Mrs Lisa Thomson, 
Director of Corporate Affairs
and Corporate Governance

Dr Sarah Woolley, 
Director of Safety and 
Organisational Development

Dr Woolley was appointed as Director of Safety and Governance in May 2007 and is 
now responsible for leading the Trust’s patient and organisational safety agenda.

She trained as a clinical biochemist in the West Midlands, undertaking analytical 
and diagnostic services to support clinical care for patients.  Before joining the NHS, 
Dr Woolley worked as a research scientist at Manchester University, investigating 
the mechanism of chronic myeloid leukaemia.

“My highlight would be the ‘Safety September’ campaign. It was great to see such 
engagement and enthusiasm from staff. The month-long campaign was owned 
and driven by clinical teams from across the Trust, with innovative ideas from the 
frontline being implemented to improve practice in their wards/areas.”

With a background firmly in communications and marketing, Lisa has worked 
for leading organisations including Amey plc, Cadbury Schweppes plc, Do it All, 
Warwick Hospital, Finelist Group plc, Motorcycle City and Halfords, designing 
and delivering marketing and communications strategies, media relations, crisis 
media relations and media relations training.  Lisa also specialises in business 
integration programmes and has worked on over 100 mergers and acquisitions. 
She has a wealth of experience working across organisations to deliver complex 
programmes including designing, developing and executing media relations and 
communications strategies on an international, national and regional basis. 

Since joining Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust Lisa has led programmes 
which have resulted in a number of awards including:

• The Health Information team’s Information Prescription Pilot scooped a 
national award at the prestigious NHS Health and Social Care Awards.

• The website team achieved the Innovative Information and Communications 
Technology Award for the touch screen unit in the Cystic Fibrosis Centre.

Whilst at the Trust, Lisa was appointed to work for Lord Darzi on the development of 
the NHS Next Stage Review.  This work has included developing a communications 
strategy centred on social marketing techniques and delivering a strategic plan 
working across Government.

“My highlights for the year are many but I would like to single out the success of 
our annual Surveillance Review which continues to show that our service delivery 
complies with the requirements of The Information Standard.  This means that 
our patients receive the highest standards of information possible.”
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The Chief Executive has responsibility for the day-to-day running of the Trust, 
supported by the Executive Management Team.  The Executive Management Team 
meets formally once a month to make decisions on key operational and strategic 
issues, and there are weekly updates to address other developments as they arise.

The Executive Management Team 
comprises:

Dr Mark Newbold 
Chief Executive*

Dr Aresh Anwar 
Medical Director*

Ms Hazel Gunter 
Director of Workforce

Mr Simon Hackwell
Commercial and Strategy 

Director*

Mr Andrew Laverick
Director of Information and 
Communications Technology

Ms Claire Molloy
Managing Director of Solihull 

Healthcare

Ms Sue Moore 
Managing Director of Good Hope 
Hospital

Mr John Sellars 
Director of Asset Management

Mr Adrian Stokes
Director of Finance and Deputy 
Chief Executive*

Ms Mandie Sunderland 
Chief Nurse*

Ms Lisa Thomson
Director of Corporate Affairs and 
Corporate Governance*

Dr Sarah Woolley
Director of Safety and 

Organisational Development*

*voting board member

Executive Management Team
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Improvement
“What

We asked service users at the Trust’s four sites 

“Better facilities and   
information in A&E”

“I come here a lot and 
I have no complaints. I 
wouldn’t change anything”

“Everything is 
good here. I would 
make no changes”

“More 
attention given 
to basic care”

“The car parking is a problem. I have 
spent over a £100 here in the last couple 
of months. There needs to be some sort 
of reduced price scheme for visitors”

“Sometimes it 
all feels a bit 
impersonal”

“The car park is terrible! 
Very difficult to find a space”

“I was left waiting for 
quite a long time with no 
information. Families should 
be told what is happening 
and how long they may 
have to wait”

“More nurses”

“The food could
be better”

“We had a timed appointment 
but we had to wait ages”

“Better signs. 
We got lost”

“Appointments are too hurried”

see page 33

see page 59

see page 59

see page 38

see page 29 and 33
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Improvement would you like to see at 
your local HOSPITAL?”

“Everything 
is fine at 
Solihull. I 
couldn’t think 
of anything 
I would 
change”

“There is a general lack 
of information and a 
lot of waiting around. 
Phoning in is especially 
a problem. The last 
time I phoned in,  I was 
passed around to seven 
different numbers and 
no one got back to me”

“It would be good to feel less hurried 
when you’re talking to doctors”

“You shouldn’t 
have to wait 
ages past your 
appointment 
time”

“During my visit, the care and 
professionalism shown by staff 
was excellent. I think the NHS 
should focus on its strengths”

“Seems a little laid back. 
There is a need for authority 
figures to make it work 
better”

“Sometimes when you come 
here it seems to be frantic, 
which can’t be good”

“All my visits 
here have 
been excellent. 
I wouldn’t 
change anything 
at Heartlands”

“My one 
complaint 
would be 
about the 
size of the 
car park – 
it needs to 
be bigger”
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We always welcome feedback from patients, their families and friends. 
You can send us your comments via the website

see page 47
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Other Disclosures in the Public Interest

Health and safety
A health and safety framework is embedded within the Trust. An annual work plan enables the health and 
safety team to provide a structured approach to delivering a safety programme across the organisation, 
utilising resources that are available. Performance against the work plan is monitored by key performance 
indicators and compliance is routinely monitored by the organisation’s Safety Committee.

The Trust provides an internal occupational health service which provides a range of services for staff, 
including support with lifestyle and wellbeing initiatives focusing on healthy living (smoking cessation, 
weight management, exercise) and healthy mind (stress management, addiction management, mediation).  
In addition to supporting our employees’ wellbeing, we offer core occupational health services ranging from 
immunisation and vaccination to management and self-referrals.

Consultations
The Trust has not completed any formal public consultations within the last 12 months or officially consulted 
with local groups / organisations (including the Overview and Scrutiny Committee) on any service changes 
within its membership areas.
 
The Trust continues to engage members of the public with its services, listening to concerns and queries 
through hosting health information events that take place across the diverse local communities it serves. With 
an increasing focus on the health awareness agenda, collaborative partnerships with local third sector, public 
and private sector organisations and schools have increased the reach and the effectiveness of these sessions. 
This activity will continue to be developed and enhanced for the remainder of 2013 / 14 and beyond.

 

Disabled employees and equal opportunities
 
All Trust employment policies include equality impact assessments and these are reviewed in conjunction 
with staff representatives. A report on Equality and Diversity in Employment is produced annually and the 
information is made available on the Trust website.
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Operating and Financial Review2. “The Trust’s

overarching
Priority

is to be

safe & Caring”
27
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Dr Sarah Woolley
Director of Safety and 
Organisational Development

“As a Trust, our top priority is 
to be safe and caring. In 2008, 
we implemented a new safety 
strategy, giving a fresh focus 
on systems improvement, 
organisational learning, culture 
and behaviour change. We 
have come a long way since 
then, and our response to the 
Francis Inquiry will drive a 
further emphasis on safety 
improvement.”

Each area of work outlined in the strategy enables us to 
create ways of working, teaching and supporting staff. By 
breaking this down into four key areas, the safety agenda 
is shaped as follows:

Actively promoting safe and reliable care, developing, 
testing and leading safety improvement projects and 
awareness campaigns in clinical and corporate areas. 
This also includes working with clinicians from multi-
disciplinary teams to develop improvement strategies and 
promote a positive safety culture, incorporating human 
factors training and improvement interventions.

Patient safety
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Creating and maintaining a safe and secure environment in which our staff can work.  There is a dedicated 
health, safety and security team which takes part in strategic and local safety and security committees 
and supports managers undertaking complex risk assessments.  The team delivers comprehensive training 
programmes and undertakes incident investigations in relation to health and safety, violence and aggression.

Staff safety

Audit and effectiveness is a quality improvement process based on understanding practice in relation to best 
available evidence or professional clinical standards. Changes are implemented at an individual team or service 
level, and further monitoring is used to ensure current systems are understood and improved where needed.

Audit and effectiveness

Developing a range of approaches to support staff with learning from 
both good practice and adverse events. This includes the monthly safety 
message, at a glance reports for audit and serious untoward incidents, a 
series of safety manuals and online resources for staff.  Going forwards, 
we will continue to work with staff on making safety improvements and a 
key priority for the organisation for the next two years will be medication 
safety.   As a Trust, we have committed to reducing avoidable harm 
associated with medication errors. This will be done through the learning 
and openness that comes from working together to discover what went 
wrong, and learning from it to guard against it happening again.

Learning and openness

Key achievement for 2012-13

“Over the last year, Jonathan Stewart has led the 
introduction of a new evidence-based team work system 
(TeamSTEPPSTM), designed to  improve the delivery of quality 
and safety in clinical practice.  This focuses on reducing 
harm and errors in dynamic and complex environments 
by enhancing  team and individual communication, 
leadership  and situational awareness.   Initially, Jon and his 
team are working with maternity, colorectal and patient 
transfer.  Going forwards, this approach  to strengthening 
the effectiveness of both individual and team practice 
will play a key role in supporting improved clinical safety 
across our Trust.”

Public viewpoint
get the answers

“More 

attention given 

to basic care”
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Chairman’s report 

Dr Aresh Anwar
Medical Director

“It is impossible to reflect on the 
past year without doing so through 
the sobering eyes of the Francis 
Report.  There is not the space here 
to comment in detail on the report or 
the circumstances that led to it but, 
for me, this Trust’s response to it is 
best exemplified through our renewed 
focus on terminal care.  We continue 
to work towards new and better ways 
to support those reaching the end of 
their lives, and their families.  We have 
built on our existing relationships with 
palliative care organisations, notably 
Macmillan, and enhanced doctor training 
by rotating junior doctors as part of a 
programme that we will be developing 
further and supporting through a hugely 
innovative simulation programme.”
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Innovative

Patient care and patient safety are increasingly 
being delivered in innovative ways both within 
our hospitals and beyond their traditional 
boundaries.  Newly-established ambulatory services 
in gynaecology and the emergency departments are 
helping to reduce the need for inpatient care, and 
we are running large-scale preventive programmes 
to reduce the incidence of future illness – our retinal 
screening programme and respiratory hub are prime 
examples.

Safe and caring

Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust is the first 
to adopt the Medical Examiner role, ahead of its 
national implementation in 2014, to oversee and 
implement the new process of death certification 
and provide objective scrutiny of all deaths that are 
not referred to HM Coroner.  The new process has 
been linked with Trust-wide mortality and morbidity 
meetings to monitor near-misses and trends in 
patient care to help improve patient safety.

So where to next year?  No 21st Century Annual 
Report can be complete without an App, and 
the Trust’s Department of Emergency Medicine, 
Patient Safety team and the Medical Illustration 
team have worked in partnership to develop an 
eMapp (Emergency Medicine app) for smartphones.  
Important local and national guidelines have been 
included to ensure easy access to the information 
at the bedside.  The field of medical smartphone 
applications has real potential to change the way 
evidence-based healthcare is delivered in the future.
We are also planning a dedicated teenage 
chemotherapy suite, a suite for stem collection and 
a new hybrid theatre to accommodate complex 
vascular work. Every year we look forward to the 
next expecting major changes.  That is also the 
case this year, but now it should be a different 
kind of change.  I began with a look back on the 
year through the perspective of the Francis Report, 
and it seems only appropriate to look to those 
recommendations to plan the future:

• a relentless focus on the patient’s interests; 
• an obligation to keep patients safe and 

protected from substandard care; 
• a culture of intolerance of substandard care; 

and
• empowerment of frontline staff to act with 

responsibility and freedom when standards 
have been compromised. 
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“The year 2012-13 has been a busy one, 
in which we have focused on improving 
our nursing quality standards. This 
has been warmly welcomed by both 
patients and staff.  It is something which 
features heavily in the Francis Report 
and we are committed to ensuring 
that basic nursing care is of the highest 
standards possible.” 

In that context, I’d like to highlight three key areas of 
success for the Trust’s nursing and midwifery professionals:

Ms Mandie Sunderland
Chief Nurse

Safe and caring, efficient
The Nursing Badge

In November 2012 we held our inaugural Trust Nursing 
Badge ceremony at Sutton Coldfield Town Hall, where 
Baroness Audrey Emerton DBE DL awarded our first group 
of 100 nurses their badges.  The badge represents all of 
our values as nurses and midwives and everything we 
strive to achieve for our patients.  Our continuous aim is 
to be safety-focused, professional, compassionate patient 
champions, and to communicate clearly and effectively.

To achieve their badge, nurses had to:

• Achieve a 100% pass in the Trust’s online learning 
tool VITAL (Virtual Interactive Teaching and Learning 
– read more on page 33);

• Submit a written statement describing how they 
practise in line with the Trust’s nursing and midwifery 
values; and

• Include statements from their patients and line 
manager to support the application.

In 2013/14 the rest of the organisation’s 5,000 nurses and 
midwives will be invited to apply for their badge.
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Our nursing teams are committed to reducing harm 
on hospital wards through the new harm free care 
programme launched at this Trust in October 2012.

The programme will enable us to provide a greater 
level of transparency for patients and visitors, by 
publishing detailed safety and quality data collected 
at ward level, including monthly information 
tracking pressure ulcers and injurious falls, staff 
feedback, and the results of patient experience 
surveys.

A ward leader toolkit, developed by the corporate 
nursing team, will be available to support hospital 
nursing staff in developing practice, with the 
additional aim of helping staff understand how to 
reduce harm on their wards. 

Over the last year we have been measuring our basic 
processes via our nursing and midwifery metrics to a 
point where we now have robust assurance that we 
are following process well.  This latest programme 
will enable us to look in depth at improving our 
nursing standards still further.

VITAL is an e-learning tool developed to assure 
nursing knowledge in 14 essential areas of nursing 
care, from basic nursing practice through to 
specialist diabetes care. To date, our nurses have 
answered more than two million questions, which 
will have undoubtedly raised knowledge levels.

Early indications point to improvements in the 
quality and safety of patient care, and we are 
conducting in-depth analysis of the data to 
quantify this.  While VITAL is designed to enhance 
safe practice and demonstrate knowledge, it also 
gives us the opportunity to recognise and reward 
excellence.

Safe and caring, locally engaged – 
harm free care

Innovation: VITAL - Virtual Interactive 
Teaching and Learning

“More nurses”

Public viewpoint
get the answers

Public viewpoint get the answers

“More attention 
given to basic care”
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Chairman’s report 

Simon Hackwell 
Commercial & Strategy Director

“The next 10 years are going to 
see significant changes in the 
way we deliver healthcare in 
the NHS.  The combination of a 
difficult financial environment, 
increased focus on quality 
and safety and continued 
improvements in medicine and 
technology all point to a very 
different healthcare system in 
the future.  Over the last 18 
months the Trust has set out to 
better understand this future 
environment and, in particular, 
what we need to do over the 
next two to three years to 
prepare for it.”
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We have clarified our vision and purpose and set out our priorities.  That has helped us decide what our clinical 
and individual hospital strategies need to look like.  We have brought this together into a transformation 
programme called ‘Reshaping’ and the last year saw the first year of implementation of this programme. These 
priorities include:

• Improvement to our stroke service;
• Development of an elective care centre at Solihull;
• Integration with other health and social care services, in particular around the management of patients 

with long-term conditions;
• Improving our compliance with established clinical standards, particularly in relation to acute and 

emergency care;
• Investing in our @Home services to support the discharge of some of our patients from hospital; and
• Building a sustainable seven day clinical service model, ensuring that we deliver consistent outcomes and 

standards of care throughout the week.

In the next two years we will be talking closely with our commissioners and patients about these proposed 
changes and improvements.  While some change can be difficult and unsettling, it is important to be clear that 
these changes are clinically-led and, in all cases, underpinned by a commitment to improve the quality of care. 
More specifically, in the year ahead we will:

• Open the 24/7 hyper-acute stroke centre at Heartlands Hospital;
• Produce and approve a business case for the elective care centre at Solihull and agree a blueprint for the 

wider configuration of surgery across our hospitals;
• Formally launch the @Home service from Heartlands and continue to support the scheme at Good Hope;
• Agree the programme for whole system integration for Solihull;
• Agree the scope and plan for the seven day clinical service model; and 
• Consult on future plans for individual hospitals.

Innovative

Locally engaged
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POD

Safe and caring

Heartlands Hospital and 
Birmingham Chest Clinic
Birmingham Heartlands Hospital is based at the 
heart of a bustling, dynamic community. A large 
site consisting of modern, state-of-the-art buildings 
purpose-built to provide the highest possible quality 
of patient care and support services, Heartlands 
is the largest hospital at Heart of England NHS 
Foundation Trust. The hospital offers a very 
extensive array of facilities and procedures for its 
patients and visitors. Its dedicated staff serve a 
diverse population with professionalism and pride.

At the heart of what matters

36

To ensure we operate within a safety culture we 
implemented a new infrastructure that breaks down 
the Heartlands Hospital site into four discrete inter-
related clinical areas (PODs), having accountability 
and responsibility for managing safety, resources, 
capacity and flow within their specific areas. Each 
POD has an identified lead nurse and a clinician 
responsible and accountable for the delivery of 
effective clinical safety while maintaining patient 
flow across their clinical areas.
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Alison Hughes-Byrne, for her outstanding and
ground-breaking work with female genital
mutilation.

Team Star

Care of the elderly

Heartlands Hospital is working to support an ageing 
population and to provide appropriate services to 
support frail elderly patients.  In the last year we 
have introduced a geriatrician into A&E who can 
assess patients in a timely way and identify the 
community-based services they will need to return 
home safely on the same day.

The BBC is currently filming a documentary on 
the wards at Heartlands Hospital, following the 
care of elderly patients.  We hope this will clearly 
demonstrate the high level of care provided by the 
hospital and community services staff.

“Making
SAFEGUARDING

Part of

Healthcare 
Delivery”

ADULTS
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 Looking ahead to 2013/14

Our key focus will be to improve the experience for 
patients and staff by developing and improving the 
acute care pathways, enhancing our ambulatory 
care area and model, improving our maternity 
facilities and establishing our ward managers as 
supernumerary, enabling them to focus on leading 
and supervising their teams, promoting standards 
of care and planning effective patient discharges.
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The Supported Integrated Discharge Team (SID) includes hospital-based therapists and enablement staff from 
social care who together provide rehabilitation and support for frail patients as soon as they are discharged 
from Heartlands Hospital into their own home. 

Innovative

Supported Integrated Discharge (SID)

Enhanced Recovery in Thoracic Surgery
The underlying principle of Enhanced Recovery is to enable patients to recover sooner by minimising the 
surgical stress response by optimising every step in the patient pathway.  This is achieved by patients being in 
the best possible condition for surgery, having the best possible management during and after their operation 
and experiencing the best possible post-operative rehabilitation.  The aim is to ensure that patients get the 
best possible care and are able to return to their place of residence safely as soon as possible with all the care 
support they need.

Efficient

Across the NHS a national review has been undertaken examining the delivery of stroke services to ensure 
patients receive optimal care. The Trust commissioned Professor Matthew Cooke, Professor of Emergency 
Medicine and Director of Warwick Clinical Systems Improvement to carry out an internal review of stroke 
services. His recommendation that there should be one hyper-acute stroke unit based on the Heartlands site, 
with all three hospital sites offering acute stroke services and inpatient rehabilitation, was ratified by the Trust 
Board in September 2012.  A full implementation plan is now being progressed with a proposal to deliver the 
changed pathways and improvements in care and outcomes in the summer of 2013.

To improve the waiting times for patients scheduled for cardiac bypass surgery, Cardiology has negotiated the 
service of North Staffordshire Hospital in Stoke to support the services already offered at local trusts. 

Locally EngagedAmbulatory Care Centre
Over the past few months we have seen increasing demand for services in our Accident and Emergency 
Department (A&E).  We have been working with the Clinical Commissioning Group to establish an ambulatory 
emergency care facility, taking referrals of patients who need not be admitted from the Single Point of Access 
(SPA) team, GPs and through the rapid assessment process in A&E.

There is clear evidence that many patients benefit from an ambulatory care approach to diagnosis, observation, 
treatment and rehabilitation.  At Heartlands we aim to offer skills, knowledge and expertise combined in one 
area to use resources more effectively and efficiently in collaboration with our partners in primary care.

Heartlands Hospital

“Better facilities and   
information in A&E”

Public viewpoint
get the answers
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Innovative

Birmingham Chest Clinic 
is situated in the very 
heart of Birmingham city 
centre, and offers a series 
of specialist services 
to patients. Providing 
cutting edge surgical 
procedures and clinics 
in a variety of expert 
disciplines, Birmingham 
Chest Clinic is easily 
accessible and enjoys 
state-of-the-art facilities.

Safe and caring

Birmingham Chest Clinic reached a huge milestone 
this year, celebrating its 80th anniversary.  In the 
past year, having seen and treated over 12,000 
patients with lung fibrosis, tuberculosis and a variety 
of allergies, the clinic fondly known for ‘helping 
Brummies breathe easy’ continues to play a crucial 
part in keeping the city fit and healthy.

39

Birmingham Chest Clinic
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Good Hope Hospital

Local enough to care, 
big enough to count

Good Hope is a medium-
sized district general 
hospital which is relied 
upon for providing 
acute services for the 
population of Sutton 
Coldfield and South East 
Staffordshire.  It provides 
a full range of secondary 
care services both for 
medical and for surgical 
specialties which are 
highly valued by local 
people.

Extra Mile
“went the 

for Their 

Patients”
40
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Radiology facilities
In December 2012 Good Hope unveiled new radiology 
facilities, including a state-of-the-art scanner that 
will improve patients’ experience through faster 
scanning, reduced exposure to radiation and 
more efficient diagnosis, made possible by clearer 
imaging.
 
Good Hope’s new emergency department (ED) 
has won a prestigious Secured by Design award 
following collaboration with West Midlands Police 
on the new build. 

A £5m investment in Good Hope’s new emergency 
department (ED) has brought the minor injuries unit 
and majors areas into closer proximity, and provided 
an enlarged resuscitation area.  There is also now a 
separate, dedicated children’s ED area.

The newly-refurbished building and its state-of-the-
art facilities became operational in November 2012 
and will be officially opened in Spring 2013.

The Ward 9 elderly care team has been recognised 
for its efforts in improving patient care.  The 
hospital’s annual ‘excellent care award’ was given 
to ward staff because they ‘went the extra mile’ for 
their patients, including introducing a dayroom for 
those that wish to use it.  The award was judged 
by looking at how nursing teams have performed 
during the past 12 months, with particular focus on 
patient experience, the ways in which teams work 
together, and the quality of nursing care.

Safe and caring

Elderly care team 
celebrate award win

41
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In partnership with Healthcare at 
Home Limited, Good Hope launched 
the Recovery at Home service (R@H) 
at the end of September 2012, 
offering a new model of care for 
clinically stable patients.

The initiative means that those patients for whom it 
is appropriate can benefit from leaving hospital as 
soon as they are clinically stable, and completing the 
remainder of their acute pathway in the comfort of 
their own home. 

The service is aimed specifically at patients who are 
suitable for acute nursing and/or therapeutic care in 
their own home – for example, following an acute 
emergency admission, as part of an elective package 
of care or instead of an admission to a hospital ward.  
Each patient using this model of care remains under 
the care of their hospital consultant and benefits 
from recovering in the comfort of their own home.

The service has received positive feedback from 
patients and their families, and in February the 
service accepted its 200th patient.

Locally engaged

Innovative
A Good Hope consultant has won 
international recognition for leading 
a new treatment study - thought 
to be the largest prospective study 
reported anywhere in the world - 
for patients with superficial bladder 
cancer. 

Consultant Urological Surgeon Mr Haider Syed and 
his team have been able to perform a new, less 
invasive, surgical procedure on those suffering from 

recurrent bladder cancer, using a holmium YAG 
laser.  Mr Syed’s bladder cancer work has earned 
recognition at the European Annual Urology 
Meeting in Vienna, from the British Association of 
Urological Surgeons, and at an international level at 
the World Congress EndoUrology 2012.

The same laser machine has also been used to treat 
kidney and urinary stones at the hospital for the past 
six years, producing excellent results in keyhole and 
laser surgery.  Good Hope is a centre of excellence in 
this area of medicine, treating a range of complex 
cases.

Efficient
New theatres opening for business

Two new laparoscopic theatres at Good Hope 
opened for business in April 2013, representing an 
investment of £5m.  The theatres will see and treat 
around 2,400 patients each year and are the only 
bespoke laparoscopic theatres in the West Midlands 
catchment area. 

Theatre 7 will be a dedicated gynaecology theatre, 
being served by a dedicated single-sex ward.  This 
will mean the theatre is used for endoscopic as well 

as laparoscopic surgery and so it can be described 
as multifunctional.  Theatre 8 will be dedicated to 
gastro-intestinal surgery, enabling this service to 
further advance and develop. 

The theatres have been ‘future-proofed’ - the 
theatre lights have the potential to have cameras 
fitted and there is also the potential to incorporate 
streaming technology hardware to display the 
procedure outside of the operating theatre to 
support the teaching of students.

Good Hope Hospital
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Looking ahead to 2013/14

We intend to improve staff and 
patient experience by:
 
Moving our acute medical assessment area into the 
refurbished Ward 21 to ensure speedy assessment 
and treatment of our acutely medically ill patients; 
enhancing our ambulatory care area and model 
and making our ward managers supernumerary, 
enabling them to focus on patient care issues 
and leadership within their teams and promoting 
standards of care and planning effective patient 
discharges.
 
We will also look to improving our orthopaedic 
services by introducing innovative techniques to 
treat Dupuytrens contracture and developing 
bespoke knee-joint surgery to reduce length of 
stay. 

We also plan to open a new cafe.

43
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Solihull Hospital and 
Community Services

Staff  at Solihull Hospital and in Community Services 
have succeeded in improving quality in the areas 
the Trust measures continuously, such as infection 
control processes, medication safety, tissue viability, 
nutrition, falls prevention and several other areas of 
fundamental practices. For example, Solihull Hospital 
has not had a case of the hospital-acquired infection 
MRSA for over a year.  We also continue to score 
very well in the ‘patients’ family and friends’ test, 
consistently achieving a 70% plus recommendation 
level, which is the highest in the organisation and 
compares favourably with other local services. 

In addition, two of our nurses have received awards 
for their contribution to nursing, quality, safety and 
care:
• Helen Meehan received the Trust’s Chief 

Nurse’s Award in November for leadership and 
contribution to end-of-life services; and

• Cecily Harper received the Queen Mother’s Award 
for Outstanding Service by the Queen’s Nursing 
Institute for her contribution to community 
nursing over 20 years, and particularly for her 
leadership of our virtual wards.

It has been a difficult winter with more people 
being seen in our emergency department. Staff have 
worked tirelessly to ensure patients receive a safe 
service, and we have put into place a number of 
improvements to support them in this. For example, 

strengthening the staffing in our acute medicine 
assessment area; extending the number of triage 
cubicles; and improving the resuscitation area. In 
recognition of the continued pressure on A&E, we 
are currently working with our commissioners and 
other stakeholders to improve the emergency care 
pathway.  

We have developed a number of other services to 
improve the care people receive. For example:

• Intravenous therapy, which is traditionally 
only available in hospital, is delivered by our 
community nursing teams in people’s homes, 
with the teams supporting between five and 10 
people at any time.  The service is collaborating 
with hospital heart failure teams to bring about 
a better patient experience and reduce hospital 
admissions, including the development of the 
new Furosemide pathway. 

• We have improved care for people with 
dementia. In January, we opened an enhanced 
recovery ward, staffed by nurses with specialist 
skills, which is getting very positive feedback 
from patients and their families. 

Safe and caring
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Solihull Hospital provides a range of 
outpatient, inpatient and emergency 
care services for local people and is also 
the regional centre for dermatology. 
Since April 2011, the Trust has also 
been the provider of community 
healthcare services for Solihull residents. 
Community Services provides a range 
of care in people’s own homes and 
in community based settings such as 
GP surgeries, community clinics and 
care homes. The services range from 
supporting people to stay healthy and 

well, including stopping smoking and 
community dentistry; to pro-active care 
to support people to stay independent 
in a community setting, including 
‘virtual’ wards and community nursing; 
to support in a crisis, such as rapid 
response nursing, hospice at home and 
intermediate care. Over the last year we 
have developed closer working between 
clinicians and services in hospital and the 
community to ensure patients receive 
more coordinated care.

Over the last year, we have spent time talking to 
members of the public and organisations who 
work with us in providing care about how we can 
improve. For example:   

• We have been working closely with local GPs to 
improve services for people with diabetes, ear, 
nose and throat problems, and dermatological 
conditions.  More services are now provided 
in a convenient, community setting – for 
example, we now offer community-based ENT 
outpatient clinics at a number of GP practices 
and are exploring doing something similar for 
dermatology. A partnership between us,  Solihull 
Council and local GPs has been developing 
services for frail, elderly people, and enabled 
more people to be cared for in their own 
homes.  To support this initiative we have jointly 
appointed another elderly-care geriatrician to 
work across hospital and community services. 

• We have also focused on improving services 
for children and families. Health Visiting and 
Children and Adolescent Mental Heath Services 
are supporting the national ‘Troubled Families’ 
initiative with the local authority, police and 
Adult Mental Health Services.  The new Solihull 
service is called ‘Families First’ and seeks to 
support families in a coordinated, multi-agency 
and service-led way. 

We have developed a range of services that support 
people in a community setting, for example:

• The Musculo-Skeletal Service has introduced 
both a TENS group for chronic pain sufferers 
and a Pilates exercise group in the community 
to improve treatment options. 

• We have developed our community dental 
services to support local care homes and the 
Solihull Hospital stroke ward, aiming to improve 
dental hygiene and access to dental care for 
these vulnerable groups. 

• Community staff manned the ‘Lifestyle Bus’, 
which toured 14 local work places offering 
health checks such as cholesterol levels, blood 
pressure and blood sugar, and provided advice 
on healthy lifestyles.  We visited the local 
authority, Solihull Hospital, Birmingham Airport, 
John Lewis and Land Rover. 

In Solihull, we are lucky to have very strong support 
from voluntary and community groups.  Solihull 
Hospital League of Friends raised an amazing 
£87,000 to fund a full laparoscopic camera system in 
theatres, helping patients to have their surgery in a 
far less invasive way.   Stroke patients have benefited 
from a donation by Solihull Lions towards a special 
chair, giving patients greater support, increased 
safety and extra mobility, and the charity Breast 
Friends gave £30,000 to redesign vacated podiatry 
clinics into four extra breast care clinics.  We are very 
grateful to all those groups and individuals who 
kindly give time and money in support of Solihull 
Hospital and Community Services.

Locally engaged

Care you can count on
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We are supporting people with a long-term condition to be cared for by staff 
working together across hospital and community. For example, we have set up 
a respiratory ambulatory day service to give respiratory patients most of their 
diagnostic tests on one day.  A multi-disciplinary team of hospital and community 
clinicians sees new patients referred by GPs, specialist nurses, community matrons 
or doctors from other teams (such as those in A&E) as well as any patient whose 
main doctor is worried about the need for hospital admission.  The priority is to 
help patients get their problem diagnosed and treated rapidly and help reduce 
hospital admissions. Our long-term conditions services – virtual wards, diabetes, 
respiratory and heart failure services - have been recognised as high quality in a 
recent independent visit from the West Midlands Quality Review Service.

Significant improvements in the patient pathway and experience have been 
achieved on Ward 12, which primarily cares for elderly patients with orthopaedic 
conditions and illnesses.  After a move of the ward from Heartlands in October 
2011, length of stay for patients has been greatly reduced from a peak of 40 
days to just above 10 days through good quality care on the ward and using 
integrated community services in the patient pathway.

Our Contraception and Sexual Health Service has developed a virtual tour of 
Just4You clinics, accessible via smartphones, so young people know what to expect 
when they attend, and are encouraged to seek advice.  This was co-produced 
with narrative written and performed by young people – who identified the 
worries of their peers and addressed them as part of the tour. 

Our Breast Feeding Support Team has achieved the Level 3 UNICEF accreditation 
for practice in the support of breast feeding with one of the highest scores the 
assessors have ever seen. The proportion of mothers breast feeding has increased 
across both north and south Solihull.  We have developed the www.youplusbaby.
co.uk website with parents to support parents-to-be, particularly in the north 
of the borough where many are reluctant to attend traditional ante-natal care. 

Innovative

Our aspirations for 2013/14 include a continuing focus on improving quality 
and safety within the hospital especially in the emergency pathway; making 
the most of our estates; and working with our partners in the Council, general 
practice and voluntary and community sectors in improving services for the frail 
elderly. We would like to expand the range of services such as  rapid response 
and intermediate care services to support more people in their own homes, and 
to work in a more joined-up way with hospital colleagues and primary care 
providers in diabetes, heart failure and respiratory services.

We intend to improve staff and patient experience by enhancing our ambulatory 
care area and model, improving our elective care facilities, developing our front 
entrance at the hospital and supporting facilities, and making our ward managers 
supernumerary, enabling them to focus on patient care issues and leadership 
within their teams, promoting standards of care and planning effective patient 
discharges.

Looking ahead to 2013/14
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Looking ahead to 2013/14
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By bringing hospital and community services into the same organisation it has been 
possible to develop and provide single services more efficiently.  For example, we 
are working to develop single services for audiology, musculo-skeletal care and 
sexual health. 

We have also been successful at reducing waiting times. For example, the waiting 
times for breast care outpatients at Solihull Hospital have been more than halved 
and privacy greatly improved by redesigning the breast clinics.  A £30,000 donation 
from the charity Breast Friends enabled the breast care and process design team to 
turn vacated podiatry clinics in the main outpatients’ area into an extra four breast 
care clinics.

And we have redesigned a number of services to make them more efficient and to 
improve the care that people receive. For example:

• Children’s Community Services had been working with partners in commissioning 
and education to review and redesign the school nursing service.  As a result of 
that work, the service has integrated with Health Visiting Services to provide a 
new way of working which offers both universal provision and targeted input 
for the most vulnerable.

• The Solihull Nutrition Support/Sip Feed prescribing project was commended as 
an example of good practice by the British Association for Parenteral and Enteral 
Nutrition.  Reviewing patients in the community has saved over £100,000 and 
helped to relieve pressure on hospital outpatient services.

 

“You shouldn’t have to wait ages past 
your appointment time”

Public viewpoint
get the answers

We have so many stars in the team at Solihull Hospital, but special thanks go to:

The AMU team – for their commitment while working under significant pressure, and particularly Kathy 
Mitchell for her outstanding leadership and commitment to Solihull over many years
 
The dementia team – for setting up the new enhanced recovery ward and improving care for this group of 
patients

Sister Kath Riley – for her work to improve care on ward 12

Julie Bond, complaints administrator – for her unstinting and dedicated hard work in managing complaints 

Team Stars
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We recognise and are sorry that 
the time taken in investigating a 
particular surgical technique that 
was adopted by one of its consultant 
breast surgeons has continued
to have a profound impact on
patients and staff.  It continues to
generate media attention due to the
various legal processes still awaiting
completion, both internally and
externally (including, for example, the
GMC).
 
The Trust has been involved for some time in 
investigating this and has worked with patients 
and stakeholders over the last few years to answer 
as many questions as possible at any given time. 
The Trust has sought not only to understand the 
concerns of individual patients and their clinical 
position, but also to address wider questions such as 
how the surgeon was able to perform the procedure 
in question, who within the Trust knew of the 
procedure, and what steps were taken - and when 
- to address the concerns that were raised. While 
some of these matters will be explored peripherally 
by some of the external processes such as any GMC 
hearing that may follow, the Trust considers that 
there is room for further learning.

Accordingly, the Trust Board has asked Sir Ian
Kennedy to undertake an independent retrospective
and reflective review. This is looking at the events
surrounding the incomplete mastectomy procedure
concerns, including the sequence of events based
upon what is now known, and the Trust’s response
to those events as information became available.
The review is considering the concerns raised by
present and former staff, patients and the public,
and the subsequent investigation and actions taken
to ensure patient safety, to see whether any further
modifications to our processes are required. It
commenced on 9th January 2013 and is chaired by
Professor Sir Ian Kennedy, whose experience within
the health sector, and ability to explore and report
on difficult challenges within the NHS, will ensure a
fair but robust process of investigation.

Sir Ian is talking to patients, staff and the wider public 
to understand their perspectives and experience, so
that any learning is maximised and improvements
can be made to services and governance systems
where necessary. His report will be published later
this year with all lessons shared widely, so that
lessons relating to the complex matter of raising
and acting on concerns about professional practice
can be revisited across the organisation and the
wider NHS.

Solihull Hospital Breast Care Review

Chaired by Sir Ian Kennedy

www.breastcarereview.co.uk
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Locally Engaged
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Women’s and 
Children’s Services

The Heartlands Neonatal 
Unit has been awarded a 
Miracle Unit Award in the 
national Tommy’s Baby-
friendly Awards 2013, 
following a nomination 
for the care and support 
received in the unit by 
babies and their parents.

A new Phlebotomy Unit at Heartlands 
Hospital was opened officially 
in February 2013, specifically to 
meet the needs of babies and 
children. Specially trained paediatric 
phlebotomists staff the unit, which 
is located within the paediatric 
department so that blood samples 
are taken in a child-friendly setting.  
The service caters for inpatients and 
outpatients, and there is a ‘bleep’ 
on-call phlebotomist also available 
to provide extra support.

Good Hope Hospital’s Special Care 
Baby Unit has had a £750,000 

refurbishment, greatly improving 
the facilities and the environment 
for babies, their families and the 
staff who support them.  Parents’ 
feedback helped to determine the 
design and the décor.
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Innovative

VITAL (Virtual Interactive Teaching 
and Learning) online learning is 
helping to ensure that our nurses 
have the knowledge and skills they 
need to provide safe and effective 
care.  The paediatric and neonatal 
elements of VITAL have been written 
by our own nurses in partnership 
with the Trust’s Faculty of Education.  
The Trust’s development of VITAL 
has won national awards.

The Women’s and Children’s 
division provides maternity 
and gynaecology services 
to women and paediatric 
services to children and 
their families from large 
areas of Birmingham, 
Solihull, Sutton Coldfield 
and South Staffordshire.

This year the team helped to deliver 
nearly 11,000 babies, which makes this 
one of the busiest units in Europe. It 
provided emergency gynaecology 
care to over 5,000 women and saw 
more than 60,000 in outpatients or 
as day cases. It also provided 4,000 
days of intensive or high dependency 
neonatal care, and saw more than 
11,000 children for an emergency 
opinion with a further 22,000 in 
outpatient clinics.

“Safeguarding
Our Children is our

top priority”
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In the coming year we will be working to enhance the Children’s Emergency 
Pathway on all Trust sites.  The directorate will follow Royal College of Paediatrics 
and Child Health (RCPCH) guidelines to provide excellent services.

Looking ahead
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In 2013 the Head of 
Midwifery launched a 
strategic framework 
for midwifery practice, 
developed in conjunction 
with the Faculty of 
Education with input from 
midwives and service 
users.  This is now the 
strategic framework for 
midwifery and it is being 
developed into a three 
year strategy.

In May 2012 the new Solihull Birth 
Centre was officially opened by the 
Mayor of Solihull, in a celebration 
attended by local dignitaries, staff 
and some of the hundreds of mothers 
and babies who have used the unit.  In 
the first year of operation (2010/11) 
centre staff supported mothers in 321 
deliveries: by April 2013 that number 
had risen to 922 in total.

The women’s and neonatal teams 
have started to redesign and develop 
the service to improve patient 
pathways for mothers and babies, 
and we have introduced clinical 
pathways for women who suffer a 
miscarriage to help them avoid a 
general anaesthetic and a hospital 
stay.  Women who present in early 
pregnancy with pain or bleeding 

now have an improved pathway that 
prevents unnecessary waits in the 
emergency department.
 
Across the Trust, maternity 
departments have successfully bid 
for Department of Health maternity 
funds, following input into the bids 
by patients:

• Birthing pool for Heartlands 
Hospital;

• Improvements to the 
Bereavement Suite at Good 
Hope Hospital; and

• Upgrading of en suite facilities 
at Heartlands Hospital.

    
Good Hope Hospital has been 
awarded a Stage 3 accreditation by 
the UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative 
for its success in implementing the 
steps for successful breast feeding. 

Most excitingly, we have recently had 
confirmation that funding has been 
approved to help us rebuild and 
extend the maternity and neonatal 
building at Heartlands Hospital. This 
will allow us to provide a service that 
is much more focused on the woman 
and child, in a greatly improved 
environment.

Innovative, safe and caring, 
locally engaged
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Strategic Framework for 
Midwives
In 2013 the Midwifery Department launched a 
strategic framework for midwifery practice. This
framework was developed in conjunction with the 
Faculty of Education. Surveys were undertaken
with midwives, service users and supervisors of 
midwives and the values of safe, caring and
professional were identified by each group. This is 
now the strategic framework for midwifery and is
being developed into a three year strategy.

• The women’s and neonates teams have 
commenced work on the redesign and 
development of the service to improve the 
patient pathways for mothers and their babies,  
and to ensure a fit-for-purpose workforce in 
well- designed accommodation.

• New clinical pathways for women who have 
a miscarriage to avoid undergoing a general 
anaesthetic and a hospital stay.

• Streamlined pathway for women presenting with 
pain or bleeding in early pregnancy to prevent 
unnecessary waits in the Emergency Department 
and improve the patient  experience.

• Julie Smith, Clinical Nurse Specialist for 
Gynaecology Oncology, was awarded runner-up 
for the Patient’s Carer award at this year’s Staff 
Recognition Awards. Julie was nominated by 
patients and carers.

Team Stars

Karl Emms because of all he has achieved studying 
mandatory nursing skills. All staff in the paediatric 
unit now have protected time to enhance their 
skills;

and 

Julie Smith, clinical nurse specialist,  who received 
a Patient’s Carer Award at this year’s Staff 
Recognition Awards.

The midwifery team and the Faculty 
of Education have launched an 
initiative to train midwives to 
complete baby checks.

We have worked hard to improve 
our screening performance, 
using policies and procedures 
recommended by Clinical 
Negligence Scheme for Trusts 
(CNST) - a recent failsafe review 
highlighted good practice and 
innovation at the Trust. We have many stars working in our service but 

this year we especially want to highlight:
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Workforce

2012/13 was a challenging 
year with increased 
CIP (Cost Improvement 
Programmes) and KPI (Key 
Performance Indicator) 
targets and ongoing 
pay bill challenges.  
However, throughout 
the year the Workforce 
Directorate (formerly 
the HR Directorate) 
team has responded to 
the changing priorities 
of our business, and 
we have supported our 
operational, clinical and 
medical colleagues to 
ensure the Trust delivers 
against local, national and 
corporate objectives.  

Safe and caring

We have introduced a new coaching and 
mentoring programme and improved 
workforce information data to support leaders 
across the Trust in managing sickness within 
their teams.  This ensures that Trust processes, 
such as return to work interviews, are being 
followed.  Improved collaborative working 
between HR and Occupational Health has 
ensured faster turnaround times for staff 
referrals, and the number of long-term sickness 
cases has reduced.

Work began in 2012 on a values and behaviours recruitment 
and selection process to ensure we attract and engage the best 
talent, and that our new recruits demonstrate the values and 
behaviours we need from staff so the Trust can meet its strategic 
priorities.  This work programme is ongoing and will be rolled 
out across the Trust throughout 2013/14. 

Mandatory training KPI’s were achieved and new follow-up 
processes for persistent non-attendees are proving successful.  
New online mandatory training has allowed staff more choice 
and flexibility about how and when they complete their training, 
and has increased the number of training opportunities available.  
The workforce team’s key focus over the last 12 months has been 
community service integration and NHSLA Level 2 success, and 
the NHSLA visit in July 2012 praised the improvements.

Locally engaged

The Faculty has continued to deliver the Step In-to Work 
programme, recruiting from local communities those who 
may not have previously considered a career in healthcare.  A 
new partnership with Waverley School is supporting students 
who want to build a career in healthcare through training and 
development programmes.  This is designed to give the Trust a 
good quality new candidate pipeline for frontline roles and to 
allow us to grow our own talent.

“Equality and 
diversity are 
at the heart 
of the NHS’s 
strategy, and 
also at the 
heart of ours”
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Efficient

We are committed to improving working practices 
and customer access to our directorate’s range of 
services.  Over the past year we have completed 
our largest ever implementation of e-access and 
e-improvement programmes.  It includes the launch 
of e-CRB, e-expenses and the new workforce 
website, and is improving our customer access while 
also securing efficiencies for the Trust.  

The Faculty continues to develop and deliver 
numerous training and development programmes 
to support and develop our workforce, including a 
number focused on wellbeing. We have developed 
the Live Well Work Well group, which is tasked with 
delivering new initiatives to support personal health 
and wellbeing.

The Workforce Directorate is leading a regional 
project sponsored by the Strategic Health Authority, 
developing and delivering a collaborative supply 
model for temporary staffing within the West 
Midlands region, a role given to Heart of England 
NHS Foundation Trust because we have one of the 
best temporary staffing fill rates in the region.  This 
supply model could be rolled out across the region, 
to bring about efficiencies for this Trust and for the 
wider regional health economy.

Innovative

“The Workforce Directorate’s 
top priority for 2013/14 is the 
development of a performance 
framework for all staff that will help 
drive our key priority  - Safe & caring”
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Workforce
Staff Survey

The National Staff Survey 2012, 
which samples 850 randomly 
selected staff, was run between 
September and December 2012.  
The Trust also chose to run a 
census survey this year, and 
therefore every member of staff 
was issued with the survey.  This 
was to enable us to add in our 
own local engagement questions 
for benchmarking purposes.  The 
Trust has continually undertaken 
local and national surveys since 
2006 and is committed to ongoing 
improvement of staff engagement 
and wellbeing.  This is one of our 
core objectives.

This year, 43% of the 850 staff sampled 
responded; this was a slight decline on last 
year’s 45% response rate.

On the census, we saw an overall Trust response 
rate of 31% (approximately 3,000 employees) 
and this has enabled us to provide each 
directorate, division and site with their own 
breakdown of results.

We have identified a core action planning and 
monitoring process; focusing on Trust wide 
issues such as engagement levels and other 
‘cultural’ issues; specific issues such as access to 
training; and another focusing on our ‘hotspot’ 
directorates, where our analysis demonstrates 
areas of concern around stress and engagement.  
The Trust’s Live Well Work Well Steering Group 
is responsible for monitoring progress against 
action plans and escalating concerns, where 
necessary, to the HR Committee and Executive 
Management Board.

The overall indicator of staff engagement from 
the National Survey analysis has shown the Trust 
with a score of 3.63 which was below average 
(average is 3.69) when compared with trusts of 
a similar type, but has seen a very slight internal 
improvement from 3.60 in 2011.

Top and Bottom 5 Rankings

Top Five Ranking Scores

Where The Trust compares most favourably with 
other acute trusts.

Area HEFT Other Acute

% of staff working 
extra hours

63% 70%

% of staff 
experiencing 

physical violence 
from patients, 

relatives, public

13% 15%

% of staff witnessing 
potentially harmful 

errors
30% 34%

% of staff appraised 87% 84%

% staff experiencing 
harassment and 

bullying from staff 
22% 24%
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We have identified the following issues as key areas 
for focus, and are in the process of developing 
formal action plans to support improvement:

• Increasing staffs’ views of the Trust as a place for 
treatment and in which to work is paramount 
to ensuring recommendation in the future – this 
will need a clear strategy and robust leadership.  
We are currently undertaking further internal 
analysis on this issue to identify appropriate 
interventions:

• Bullying and harassment of staff is a key priority 
for further assessment and scrutiny – this has 
been discussed with the Live Well Work Well 
Steering Group and recommendations for a 
high level awareness campaign are under way;

• Equality and diversity training has been low 
for the last four years.  The Trust does provide 
training but it is woven into other programmes, 
rather than being an overt E&D session.  Much 
work has been carried out over the past 12 
months to raise awareness that this is taking 
place within all training - however, this may 
need to be reviewed.  It is recommended that 
the Faculty reviews this and proposes a different 
approach;

• The incident reporting procedures may need to 
be reviewed to ensure fairness and equity – this 
may require some scoping to understand the 
issues;

• A review of communication between senior 
management and staff is recommended, to aid 
engagement and motivation levels – again, this 
may require some further scoping to be clear 
about what improvements need to be made. 
The organisational development strategy and 
plan is being re-developed to focus on culture 
change.

A comprehensive governance and reporting 
framework is currently being put in place, in 
response to the staff survey to ensure improvement 
and action can be tracked and monitored at 
both directorate and executive level, giving clear 
operational and executive responsibility and 
direction.  Once this has been fully developed, it will 
be overseen by the Governance and Risk Committee 
and HR Committee.  The organisation is also 
developing a new performance framework to be 
implemented across the whole organisation, which 
will encourage the development of a performance 
culture based on safety and quality.  The Director 
of Workforce and the Director of Safety and OD 
are working collaboratively on this piece of work, 
which will also cover areas such as recruitment 
and promotion opportunities.  It will be further 
developed to include talent management and 
succession planning once Phase I is complete.

Bottom Five Ranking Scores

Where the Trust compares least favourably with other acute trusts.

Area HEFT Other Acute

% of staff having equality and diversity training 19% 55%

% of staff having health and safety training 57% 74%

% of staff having job relevant training 77% 81%

% of staff reporting good communication between 
senior management and staff

21% 27%

Fairness and effectiveness of incident reporting 
procedures

3.42 3.50
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Innovative

The Process Design Team (PDT) enables clinical 
services to redesign and improve services 
within a professional project or programme 
management framework, using a number 
of innovative tools such as team coaching, 
right to left mapping, 6M design, and design 
brief and project planning charts to support 
a robust approach to service design and 
improvement.

Over the last year, the PDT has supported clinical teams to 
redesign their processes, and so improve the experiences of 
patients and staff.  We have supported teams in Dermatology, 
Oncology, Outpatients, Rheumatology, Endoscopy and the 
Women’s and Neonatal services in taking a step back from day-
to-day pressures, and helped them to review and redesign their 
systems and processes.  We have also managed the design brief 
process to make sure they get the best possible architectural 
designs for their new-build and refurbishment works.
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Efficient

Safe and caring

The Estates team operates in several distinct areas:

Provides a helpdesk facility for wards and departments to 
report breakdowns, carries out planned maintenance of 
statutory and non-statutory plant and equipment, and carries 
out minor ward refurbishments and developments.  We offer 
an out-of-hours service and maintain the asset register for all 
plant and equipment.

Estates Operational and 
Medical Engineering

Estates Developments

Estates Developments is responsible for capital development 
works including major ward refurbishments, adaptation 
works, relocation of services and small new-build projects.

Health and Safety, Quality, and Fire 
Prevention teams

Health and Safety, Quality, and Fire Prevention teams ensure 
that the Trust complies with statutory requirements and its own 
standards in these key areas.
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Estates Directorate

Hotel Services
Hotel Services delivers a broad range of services including car parking and security, cleaning, catering, 
portering, transport, waste, pest control, window cleaning, laundry and linen, post and medical gases.

In catering, we have been improving the patient experience by developing our own specific intranet site, 
featuring everything a patient, dietician or member of the nursing team needs to know about the patient 
meal service.  At ward level the site is used to access menus including any special dietary needs, and the 
next step will be to make the information accessible at the bedside via Hospedia.

Tasty, nutritious and attractively presented food is served throughout the day to meet patients’ particular 
dietary requirements, by polite and helpful staff.

Programme Management Office
The Programme Management Office’s Capital Development arm has been working to deliver significant 
improvements to patient and staff experience throughout the year. Building works have been planned with 
input from local stakeholders, and completed to the highest standards to optimise patient care and protect 
staff safety.

For 2013/14, we are working to 
evaluate and improve car parking 
facilities via provision of deck car 
parks, and to deliver a state-of-the-
art vascular hybrid theatre. At grass 
roots level, we are working on a 
number of developments in Hotel 
Services to boost efficiencies, starting 
with a new one-stop helpdesk, 
and we will be extending recycling 
facilities and replacing our ageing 
vehicle fleet with more efficient 
models.

Team stars

“Lots of people in Estates have gone above 
and beyond this year, but I’d like to nominate 
two people in particular as team stars. Estates 
officer Pat Hayes  (bottom,left) is enthusiastic, 
helpful and customer-focused: carpenter Tony 
Sinton joined us this year and is proving a 
quality-focused, customer-friendly member of 
the team.” (John Sellars, Director of Asset 
Management)

“The car park is 
terrible! Very difficult 
to find a space”

Public viewpoint
get the answers

“The food could be better”
Public viewpoint
get the answers
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Corporate Affairs

The Corporate Affairs team has an established 
programme of initiatives to improve patient 
experience.  We are committed to establishing 
a culture in which patient experience is seen as 
the responsibility of all hospital staff, and patient 
experience is an integral part of the Trust’s 
governance arrangements. Our Patient Services 

department combines the PALS and complaints 
functions, and we have a proactive membership 
department working with 100,000+ members. 
The department runs a regular series of outreach 
seminars for local and diverse communities.

Patient experience

Over the year the team has focused on improving the ways in which staff and 
patients provide feedback. Local engagement has continued and we have signed 
up more volunteers to support frontline staff and improve patient care.

The approach

In-house surveys monitor and report qualitative 
and quantitative feedback from over 1,700 patients 
each month, asking them whether they would 
recommend the service they received to their friends 
and families. The test is recognised by the Trust 
Board as an early indicator of ‘quality’ and the team 
uses the results to highlight wards/areas/specialties 
requiring additional focus. The Patient Services 

department surveys staff to shape a tailored training 
programme for staff. In 2013 the Trust will become 
a member of the Institute of Customer Service, 
supporting the training done to help reception staff 
become champions of customer service.

The impact

All areas that have worked with Patient Services have 
significant reduction in complaints and improved 
patient experience as illustrated in the friends and 
family (Net Recommender) update. The results in 
table 1 show that, on average, 69% of patients felt 
the hospitals met or exceeded their expectations.

FRIENDS	  	  &	  FAMILY	  SURVEY	  (APRIL	  2013)	  

Jul-‐12	   Aug-‐12	   Sep-‐12	   QTR2	   Oct-‐12	   Nov-‐12	   Dec-‐12	   QTR3	   Jan-‐13	   Feb-‐13	   Mar-‐13	   QTR4	   Apr-‐13	  

52	   61	   64	   60	   63	   63	   65	   63	   68	   63	   65	   65	   62	  

The	  FFT	  score	  fell	  in	  April	  2013	  to	  62	  points.	  A&E	  Department	  is	  now	  included	  in	  
the	  survey,	  the	  Trust	  response	  rate	  for	  April	  was	  8.2%,	  which	  was	  27%	  return	  rate	  
for	  InpaFents	  and	  3%	  for	  A&E.	  

69%	   68%	   72%	   73%	   65%	  
84%	  

25%	   27%	   24%	   23%	  
26%	  

11%	  

6%	   5%	   5%	   4%	   9%	   5%	  

62	   63	   67	   69	   57	   80	  
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Trustwide	  FFT	  scores	  analysed	  by	  the	  percentage	  of	  promoters,	  passives	  
and	  detractors	  

Demotors	  

Passives	  

Promoters	  

NRI	  Score	  
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Communications
Nationally commended for its social media activities, 
demonstrating openness and transparency, the 
department has forged forward to enhance the 
way in which the Trust communicates with its 
stakeholders and the communities it serves.  In 
the last 12 months followers of the Trust’s Twitter 
account, @heartofengland, have increased by over 
100% to more than 2,500 followers.  A total of 1800 
tweets were sent supporting numerous initiatives, 
encouraging feedback and dispelling myths around 
hospital services.
 
The communications team continues to promote 
and protect the Trust’s brand, generating 970 
positive pieces of media coverage in the past 12 
months, which averages to 80 items per month 

and is 40 more than the closest competitor trusts 
combined.  Various Trust services have featured 
on 24 separate prime time television programmes 
including Channel 4’s Embarrassing Bodies, Channel 
5’s The Big Body Squad, 999 Emergency Services and 
the BBC’s flagship live magazine programme, The 
One Show.
 
Looking forward into 2013/14, the team will 
be focusing on developing and implementing 
communications strategies to support the Trust’s 
implementation of the Francis Report.  The Trust will 
also launch its new, more informative and accessible 
website, develop an online presence via LinkedIn 
and introduce www.heartofenglandblog.co.uk

Volunteers

Two hundred new volunteers have been recruited 
this year, and the ‘volunteer army’ is 750-strong. 
Volunteers now work outside the traditional 
volunteer role, meeting patients and relatives at 
the front door, delivering art packs to keep patients 
occupied and happy, providing breast feeding 
support to new mums, offering sexual health 
advice in the community and, of course, making 
thousands of cups of tea and coffee each year. Next 
year the Trust will be working towards the Investors 
in Volunteers standard.

Fundraising

The fundraising department has raised significant 
additional funds and provided benefits both to 
staff and to patients. A highlight has been the 
collaboration between the arts department, 
fundraising, and external charity Speight of the Art, 
which has enabled the charity to deliver art therapy 
sessions to children in the wards.

Fundraising efforts have also made possible the 
purchase of an additional four paediatric ventilators 
for Good Hope and Heartlands, rehabilitation 
equipment for the elderly unit at Good Hope, 
equipment for a bowel cancer treatment room at 
Heartlands and funding for the music programme 
at Solihull.

There are so many team stars we could nominate, 
but we have chosen Debbie Parkes, who works 
on the information desk at Heartlands Hospital, 
because she combines an encyclopaedic knowledge 
of the hospital and its services with a can-do attitude 
and bags of empathy for service users.

Team Star
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2012/13 has been a very busy year for the ICT 
Directorate with an investment in an infrastructure 
refresh project comprising a new Storage Area 
Network (SAN), new data-backup platform and 
new virtualised server platform which provides 
more flexibility. Major improvements to the Good 
Hope and Heartlands data centres are also obvious 
highlights. A three year refresh programme for the 
Wi-Fi network was launched. 

Thanks to additional funding, we have made clinical 
hardware more readily available, and refurbished 
and upgraded IT equipment such as the ‘Computers 
on Wheels’ and mobile devices in use in most wards. 
This is activity that will continue in the current 
financial year for the mobile units.

The Trust switchboard had a busy year handling on 
average about a quarter of million calls per month, 
while the workload on the service desk rose nearly 
10% while maintaining the same satisfaction levels.

The systems development team has continued to 
support the directorate’s initiatives with the further 
development of Dendrite clinical systems while 
developing Phase 2 of the Pathway Management 
System.  Following the successful implementation 
by Radiology in using the PCTi technology to 
transfer radiology reports electronically to GPs in 
March 2012, the development team has continued 
to support the use of this technology with the 
emergency departments introducing electronic 
transfer of A&E attendance documentation to GPs. 
The next phase will be to support Outpatients with 
its pilot to transfer OP attendance letters following 
ENT and Dermatology appointments.

We also continue to prioritise restructuring of the 
team and the continued development of clinical 
systems to support patient care.

The ICT Programme Management, Training and ICT 
DQ services continue to provide a high level of ICT 
support to staff at all levels. The team has focused 
on: 
 
• A restructure of the programme management 

and training services following the integration 
with Solihull Care Trust;

• Training and ICT DQ procedures have been 
updated to support all new internal and 
external developments;

• ICT Training has recently been audited for 
Learning and Performance Institute (LPI) 
accreditation and has retained the Gold 
Standard for the 10th successive year.

Medical Records:
• We have supported the scanning of 765,514 

volumes since April 2011. This equates to 
171,457,918 images now being available 
electronically, around the clock.

• Access to Health records now provide either 
paper or electronic records to requestors, no 
mean feat given that staff process thousands 
of requests each year and saw a 4% increase in 
requests in 2012.

ICT Directorate
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Efficient

We are piloting a programme using 
SystmOne Briefcase to support mobile 
working by community staff and 
Macmillan. It enables clinicians to 
download their caseload from SystmOne 
to a Panasonic Toughbook and access 
patients’ medical information while 
delivering care to those patients in their 
own homes.  Clinicians will have access 
to the GP health record and Marie Curie 
Hospice patient record, for organisations 
using SystmOne.  
 
Clinicians use the system to record a 
prescribed set of clinical information 
about the care they have delivered to the 
patient, which can then be uploaded into 
the patient’s record when the clinicians 
return to their base.

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

63



64

Research & Development

During the year, research teams from across the Trust 
have recruited nearly 4,000 patients into national 
portfolio clinical trials.  This has been achieved 
in partnerships with other NHS trusts, the local 
Universities of Birmingham, Warwick and Aston and 
importantly through close collaboration with the 
pharmaceutical and medical technology industries.  
Trust patients have been given the opportunity to 
not only participate in national trials of new drugs 
and interventions but also to be involved in research 
led from within the Trust, designed to inform the 
care of our own patients.  Particular highlights 
include high recruiting trials in the areas of 
resuscitation, thoracic surgery, respiratory medicine 
and cancer under the leadership of our senior 
academic staff.  Importantly, there have also been 
significant increases in trials participation by our 
non academic departments including paediatrics, 
sexual medicine and renal medicine.  The Trust 
Board is ambitious to increase research activity in 
the Trust, recognising that improved care and better 

outcomes are strongly associated with research- 
active institutions. This year has seen research led 
by anaesthetist Professor Fang Gao Smith and her 
team included in the International Guideline on 
Management of Severe Sepsis. 

The Trust has increased its success in securing 
funding. These include grants in critical care in 
collaboration with the University of Warwick 
(Professor Gavin Perkins, Health Technology 
Assessment [HTA] £1.3million); in eye disease with 
Aston University (Professor Jon Gibson, European 
Union 7th Framework Programme [FP7] as part of 
a consortium of leading European ophthalmologists 
and endocrinologists).  Examples of locally-led 
projects include National Institute for Health 
Research (NIHR) funding for kidney research (Dr 
Mark Thomas) and a Doctoral Research Fellowship 
(Claire Stradling).   The Trust also welcomed Dr 
Matthew Wilson into the Academic Department of 
Anaesthesia, Critical Care, Pain and Resuscitation, 

Innovative
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having secured an NIHR Clinical Scientist Award and 
as a collaborator on a NIHR HTA award (£2 million).

Further progress on implementing the Trust’s 
research strategy has been made in 2012/13 under 
the new leadership of Professor Donald Milligan, 
R&D Director.

The Trust’s Research Management and Governance 
function (RM&G) continues to develop and is now 
achieving the important National Institute for 
Health Research (NIHR) target of approving research 
studies within 30 days.   The team includes an NIHR 
Good Clinical Practice trainer to assist in training 
Trust-wide and regionally, and the R&D Director and 
Manager were selected to participate in the NIHR 
leadership support and development programme 
(Ashridge). 

The Trust has played a key role in the development 
of the emerging West Midlands Academic 
Health Science Network; this will bring together 
healthcare organisations, academic institutions 
and industry to respond to the region’s priority 
healthcare challenges.  This will provide its NHS 
member organisations with an opportunity to work 
collaboratively at a regional level to overcome 
existing barriers in research delivery and increase the 
level of adoption and spread of innovation, directly 
benefiting our patients.  Close alignment to the 
WM-AHSN, its members and partners will allow the 
Trust to benefit from the sharing of best practice, 
leverage further funding through collaboration and 
draw on the region’s expertise to step up the level 
of research activity and innovation adoption locally.

Going forward, the Trust is actively recruiting new 
academic appointments in obstetrics and infectious 
diseases and is developing new posts for recruitment 
in 2013/14 to drive research in the areas of public 
health and patient safety. 

Efficient
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Jonathan Stewart has held a series of training 
days for Specialty and associate specialist (SAS) 
Trust employees to develop them as trainers for 
TeamStepps and act as clinical leaders within the 
Trust. He has also been guest speaker at a West 
Midlands regional urology training day, and the US 
AHRQ has invited him to speak and run a symposium 
in Dallas, Texas on the use of the TeamStepps 
programme in failing units.

Consultant Paediatrician Dr Kallappa has hosted 
an ST1 paediatric training day and the centre will 
be hosting a simulation ‘train the trainers’ day’ for 
paediatricians interested in developing simulation 
training for paediatrics within the Trust.

A collaborative project with Imperial College 
London using Operating Theatre Assessment Tool 
(OTAS) has commenced in maternity and colorectal 
theatres as part of team training.

The centre is intending to open a new ward 
environment and purchase a new human patient 
simulator (HPS) that can be used in anaesthetic 
simulations. With the support of Managing Director 
Sue Moore, the centre is also intending to take over 
an operating theatre, which will open up new and 
exciting possibilities for future training.

Hollier Simulation Centre
The centre, on the Good Hope 
Hospital site, is committed to 
improving patient safety through 
the use of simulation and teamwork 
training: since September 2008, more 
than 3,000 healthcare workers at 
undergraduate and postgraduate 
levels have been trained here. We 
have now introduced a culture change 
teamwork training programme 
called TeamStepps to improve safety 
throughout the Trust, starting with 
maternity, colorectal surgery and 
inpatient transfer at Good Hope.

Over the past 12 months Dr Lisa Boulstridge, 
Consultant in Palliative Care, has developed several 
unique courses for hospital nurses, hospice multi-
professionals, GP trainees and Charcot-Marie-Tooth 
disease (CMT) doctors. A research project examining 
the use of an end-of-life tool for ambulance crews is 
in progress in collaboration with Warwick University 
and the West Midlands Ambulance Service, and we 

are in discussion with the cardio-thoracic team and 
the Deanery regarding training for their trainees. 
Dr Boulstridge was been awarded third prize in an 
international palliative care Educator of the Year 
Award programme in March 2013.

New courses for GP trainees are running on 
Saturdays, focusing on out-of-hours management 
and decision-making, and led by Drs Murdoch and 
Randhwah.

Drs Freestone and Panting have led a successful 
cardiology programme and have obtained donations 
of equipment to help in ensuring that the Hollier 
Centre is one of three national training centres of its 
type. Funding from Medtronic has been generously 
donated to fund a cardiology research registrar at 
the Hollier.

In situ radiology team training has taken place in 
the CT scanner at Good Hope. Led by Drs Freedman 
and Jaffe, this training will become routine within 
the department to improve patient safety in the 
emergency setting.
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Sustainability and 
Carbon Plan Report

Context

The Climate Change Act (CCA) was introduced to 
ensure the UK cuts its carbon emissions by 80% by 
2050 against a 1990 baseline.

As the largest public sector emitter of carbon 
emissions, the NHS and the wider healthcare system 
has a duty to meet the CCA.

This Trust aims to manage the social and 
environmental impact of its operations by 
embarking upon a strategy that will continue to 
reduce emissions through implementing a number 
of carbon saving measures.

In that year, our carbon emissions were calculated to be:In 2008/09, the Trust was set a 
target of a 25% reduction in CO2e  
emissions by 2013/14, with a further 
reduction of 20% by 2018/19.  
Previously the Carbon Trust has 
assisted this process with regard 
to surveys, grants and the NHS 
Carbon Management Programme. 
More recently the Trust has utilised 
an NHS Framework to tender a 
Sustainability Contract. The Trust 
has also applied for funding from 
the Carbon Energy Fund for a third 
Combined Heat & Power (CHP) 
scheme. 

2007/08 was the Carbon 
Management Plan ‘baseline’ year, 
against which all future progress is 
measured.

Buildings
(79.5%)

Trust Buildings (204,974m2) consumed 67 GJ/100 m3 
compared to a typical benchmark of 61 GJ/100 m3 and 
a best practice of 55 GJ/100 m3. CO2e emissions due to 
buildings are 35,707 t CO2e.

Commuting
(12.9%)

70% of all staff drove a car to work alone, 13% took 
public transport, 10% car shared, 7% walked or cycled. 
Total commuting emissions accounted for 5,789 tonnes 
CO2e, equivalent to 0.58 tonnes per employee.

Waste
(6.9%)

57% of Trust waste by weight was sent to landfill, 
37% was incinerated and 6% was recycled. Total CO2e 
emissions associated were 3,085 tonnes.

Transport
(0.4%)

Fleet travel contributed 179 tonnes of CO2e. This has been 
calculated from fuel consumption, as mileage data is not 
presently recorded.

Water
(0.3%)

The Trust consumed 321,507 m3 of water, equivalent to 
130 tonnes CO2e.
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Since 2007 the Trust has invested in a number of high value carbon saving projects these include:

• Trigeneration Combined Heat and Power (CHP) scheme at Heartlands Hospital;

• Decentralised Combined Heat and Power (CHP) scheme at Solihull Hospital;

• Replacement high efficiency lighting scheme at both Solihull and Heartlands Hospitals; and

• PC inactivity shutdown software.

Future plans include a CHP scheme at Good Hope Hospital with work due to commence shortly and ongoing 
tender for a Sustainability Development to all three sites.

Historical performance and future progress

Energy consumption and 
carbon emissions are 
monitored on a regular 
basis. This enables us to 
focus on both financial 
savings and carbon emissions 
performance.  

No Action 
Taken
Emissions
CO2e
(tonne)

Actual

Emissions
CO2e
(tonne)

Saved

CO2e
(tonne)

2007/08 44,892 44,892 0

2008/09 46,239 40,280 5,959

2009/10 47,626 40,748 6,878

2010/11 49,055 42,736 6,319

2011/12 50,527 42,668 7,859

2012/13 52,042 44,632 7,410

The increased emissions for 2012/13 is due largely to lower than expected winter temperatures, degree days 
for 2011/12 were 3,026 compared to 3,611 for 2012/13 a 19% increase. Further increased emissions were caused 
by greater demand for electrical equipment.

For the period 2008/09 to 2012/13, there has been an overall saving of 34,425 tCO2e.

From the instigation of the plan net savings of £1.9M have been realised against the ‘do nothing’ option.

Priorities for 2013/14

The carbon reduction and sustainability priorities are:

• To implement the CHP scheme to Good Hope Hospital;
• Finalise the Sustainability development tender;
• Establish sub metering as mandatory for all new building developments;
• Engage with patients, visitors, staff and the local community to improve energy, water and waste 

awareness and to avoid unnecessary waste of finite resources;
• Improve recycling to further reduce the environmental impact to Trust operations;and 
• Following the successful implementation of ISO 14001 Environmental management at Solihull Hospital 

to extend the scheme to Heartlands and Good Hope Hospitals.

Progress in reducing our CO2e emissions against target are shown in 
table 2.
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Environmental initiatives

Two CHP plants have been operational at 
Heartlands and Solihull for seven years and two 
years respectively, delivering both environmental 
and cost savings.  A third CHP scheme is ready 
for installation at Good Hope Hospital. This will 
contribute to the achievement of  Building Research 
Establishment Environmental Assessment Method 
(BREEAM) ‘excellent’ status for the new ward block 
at Good Hope Hospital.  BREEAM is the leading 
and most widely used environmental method for 

buildings. This sets the standard for best practice 
in sustainable design and has become the de facto 
measure used to describe a building’s environmental 
performance.

The table below sets out the energy, carbon and 
cost savings and simple payback for the proposed 
Sustainability development which is due to come to 
fruition during 2013.

Initiative
Energy

Saving   kWh

Carbon
Saving
CO2e

Cost
Saving

£

Capital
Cost

£

Payback in 
years

Lighting 3,182,257 1,725 312,510 1,741,128 5.6

Pipework
Insulation

2,814,294 517 80,647 82,663 1.0

Variable speed
Drives

1,246,901 676 122,451 404,843 3.3

Refrigeration
Controls

460,621 250 45,235 112,442 2.5

Energy display meters 85,736 46 8,420 26,435 3.1

Total 7,789,809 3,214 569,263 2,367,511 4.2

The Trust has a legal requirement to participate in both the European Union Emissions Trading Scheme (EU 
ETS) and the Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency Scheme. The cost of these two schemes 
for EU ETS for 2013 and the CRC scheme for 2011-12 were £70k and £288k respectively. Further energy savings 
will have a positive impact on these schemes.
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Key areas of focus for 2013/14

The Trust is in the process of 
securing bidders for a Sustainable 
Development programme, two 
suppliers are currently finalising their 
bids. The purpose of this project is to 
secure the implementation of energy 
reduction and carbon saving measures 
which will include technology 
improvements, consumption 
reduction and dialogue with staff, all 
designed to reduce the Trust’s energy 
costs and cut carbon emissions. 
Included within this package are 
proposals for:

Lighting upgrades – Using latest 
technology such as LED’s, T5 lamps and a control 
strategy that allows the luminaires to dim to 10% 
when no human presence is detected, will drastically 
reduce consumption.

Pipework insulation – Heat loss 
through uninsulated pipework can generate high 
surface temperatures, exposed pipework wastes 
heat and hence energy. 

Whilst much work has been completed in this area 
further savings can be made through additional 
insulation.

Variable speed drives (VSD) – 
The control of motor speed to meet demand allows 
the consumption of electricity in fans and pumps to 
be reduced considerably, a 20% reduction in speed 
will save 50% in energy. VSD’s will facilitate the 
improvement in control of fans and pumps across 
site to improve service delivery and make energy 
savings.

Energy display meters – The key 
to engaging staff and patients is to make energy 
consumption visible. Energy display meters will be 
located in high energy useage areas and display 
the power and lighting consumption in a way that 
everyone can understand.

Energy Manager (EM) – To provide 
a coherent approach to energy management and 
sustainable development the employment of an 
energy manager is seen as a key objective. 

This will facilitate the provision of:

Managing and monitoring the three CHP schemes 
across all sites is key to ensuring the energy contracts 
are thoroughly maintained. The guaranteed 
savings of the two completed schemes are worth 
£722k per annum, in order to realise these savings 
it is recognised that they should be monitored, 
controlled and effectively managed by the EM.

The Trust is legally required to participate in both the 
EUETS and CRC Energy Efficiency Schemes. The EM 
will ensure the Trust remains legally compliant and 
operates these schemes to the maximum efficiency 
in order to minimise the operating costs.

Procurement of energy is key to reducing energy 
costs across the Trust. The EM will be obliged 
to ensure the Trust procures energy in the most 
effective and efficient manner. 

Further the EM will perform a key role in;

• Ensuring the obligations of the Sustainability 
development is met.

• Keeping the Facilities team up to date and 
aware of new legislation and new technologies.

• Coordinating a Hearts and Minds Campaign 
across the Trust.
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Finance Review
In 2012/13 the Trust has reported 
a deficit of £30.5m after a net 
impairment charge of £41m to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(SOCI) arising from a revaluation 
of the Trust’s land, buildings and 
dwellings. The surplus generated 
before this impairment was in line 
with the levels forecast throughout 
the year.  To generate a surplus in 
the current environment is no easy 
task. Achieving this is the result of 
a significant effort by many across 
the Trust to reduce costs in all areas 
despite cost pressures arising from 
inflation, increased activity and an 
extremely challenging winter. 
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The Trust’s total income for the year has increased 
by almost 4% in year to £629m.  At the beginning 
of the year the Trust was aware of the need to 
work with the PCTs and emerging CCGs to reduce 
the activity in the hospitals.   An innovative contract 
was agreed with the main PCTs that involved less 
detailed scrutiny of each patient’s activity, treatment 
and cost which ultimately enabled more effort to 
be focused on jointly delivering more effective 
and efficient pathways and alternative accesses 
to healthcare.  This joint managed risk agreement 
(JMRA) has been successful for the health economy 
and this type of contract is also being used for 
the next financial year as it helps to preserve the 
financial sustainability of the local health economy 

in this time of unprecedented change.  There has still 
been activity growth at the Trust, but the initiatives 
and collaborative working between the CCGs and 
the Trust have prevented this growth from being 
even higher.  The income from PCTs included non-
recurrent income is in the region of £9m.

The level of private, non-NHS fee-paying income 
earned has decreased slightly year on year at £0.5m.  
Due to the changes in the treatment of private 
healthcare by Monitor, the Trust no longer has a cap 
on private patient income, but instead is required to 
monitor any growth in private patient income and 
so in this year no monitoring is necessary.

Income

Expenditure

In order to deliver a surplus the Trust set a target of 
£23m of cash-releasing savings to be made in the 
year. This was supported by a Cost Improvement 
Plan (CIP) Board which met regularly to review 
progress and take proactive steps to ensure the 
required levels of savings were delivered.  This is 
proving to be an increasingly difficult target to meet 
and in the year there have been some radical steps 
taken, including using managed service contracts, 
staffing reviews and process redesign.  At the end 
of 2012 the Trust ran a MARS (mutually accepted 
resignation scheme) to reduce future staff costs.  A 
total of 41  staff have signed up to the scheme, with 
an anticipated annual cost saving in the region of 
£1m.

A significant item of expenditure in the year is 
the £41m charge for the impairment of assets as 
at 31 March 2013.  The Trust commissioned expert 
valuers to perform the full valuation of the land, 
buildings and dwellings that was required by the 

accounting policies this year.  A set of principles 
upon which to base the valuation upon was agreed 
by the Audit Committee in advance of any work 
being performed.  This valuation has been prepared 
on the Modern Equivalent Asset Valuation basis 
required by accounting standards.  The outcome is 
a net decrease in the valuation of land, buildings 
and dwellings of £73.6m, made up of an increase 
of £23.9m offset by a decrease of £97.5m.  The 
decrease in value has resulted in a net charge to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) of 
£41m and a net charge to the revaluation reserve 
of £32.6m.   As these are non-cash transactions they 
have no bearing on the Trust’s financial viability and 
Monitor excludes these items from consideration of 
the Trust’s financial performance.

The Trust has complied with the cost allocations and 
charging requirement set out in HM Treasury and 
Office of Public Sector information guidance.
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Statement of Financial Position

As stated above, the value of the Trust’s assets has 
fallen due to the asset valuation.  In contrast the 
Trust’s capital expenditure programme has increased 
the asset base by £37.7m.  The Trust has continued 
to invest in the estate across the sites with a total 
of £17.7m being spent on site strategy projects, and 
two of the significant programmes completing in 
the year.  There was a significant refurbishment of 
the A&E department at Good Hope costing £3.9m, 
which was completed in December 2012 and the 
Pathology extension at Heartlands was completed 
on 28 March 2013, a project costing £8.8m.  The 
replacement theatres programme at Good Hope 
will be completed in April 2013 and has cost £4.8m 
by the end of the financial year.

As well as the larger projects, the Trust invests in 
the ongoing replacement and improvement of 
equipment and infrastructure across all of its sites.
The Trust continues to have a healthy cash balance 
at £93.7m at 31 March 2013.  This continues to be 

managed throughout the year to earn good rates 
of interest, a practice that has generated income 
of £1.9m in year.  The Treasury Management 
Committee, chaired by a Non-Executive Director, 
has met four times in the year to ensure there is 
rigour in the performance of the cash management 
team.  These cash balances are being held to fund 
the Trust’s future capital programme.

The Trust does not have a working capital facility.

In the year the Trust has continued to work with the 
counter-fraud specialists to promote the awareness 
of counter fraud and how to report it.  A self-
assessment was made against the new reporting 
framework and work has been done in the year to 
strive to earn the highest possible score for the Trust 
when the return is completed.

Future
The Trust is planning to generate surpluses 
in the future as these are required to be 
able to continue to invest in improvements.  
There is no doubt that delivering savings 
of approximately £20m per year for the 
foreseeable future is a challenge of the scale 
this Trust and many parts of the NHS have 
never seen before.  The Trust continues to 
explore all options available to deliver these 
savings.
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The financial risk rating is a weighted average of 
the following four factors:

• Achievement of plan – measures how well the 
Trust is meeting its forecast surplus at earnings 
before interest, taxation, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA) level

• Underlying performance – measures the EBITDA 
(%) level of the Trust

• Financial efficiency – measures the return on 
assets and the I&E surplus margin (%)

• Liquidity – measures the number of days’ 
operating costs the Trust holds in cash.

EBITDA is the measure used by Monitor to measure 
the Trust’s underlying ability to produce a surplus 
on its operations.  It is calculated as income less 
expenses excluding finance charges (public dividend 
capital and interest) and cash required to fund future 
working capital and investments (depreciation 
and amortisation).   The costs included in this 
calculation are effectively the direct and indirect 
costs associated with treating patients, such as staff 

costs, clinical supplies and non-clinical supplies and 
costs like energy, audit costs and software costs.

 The EBITDA margin or percentage measures the 
extent to which the cash operating expenses of 
the Trust use up revenue.  It is calculated as EBITDA 
divided by total income. The highest score available 
is 5 and the lowest score is 1.  

The governance risk ratings available are red, 
amber-red, amber-green, and green.  There are a 
number of factors that are used to determine the 
rating, including the legality of the constitution, 
having a representative membership, having 
appropriate board structures, having effective risk 
and performance management, cooperating with 
other NHS bodies and local authorities and meeting 
set standards on key clinical areas and achievement 
of national core standards.  

The detailed explanations for these calculations can 
be found in the Compliance Framework document 
on Monitor’s website.

Explanation of Risk Ratings

Review of Monitor’s 
Risk Ratings
In line with Monitor’s Compliance Framework, 
in May of every year, the Trust Board makes 
an Annual Plan submission to Monitor 
that details the financials for that year by 
quarter and also makes statements about the 
expected level of governance and mandatory 
services for that year.  Monitor then assesses 
the Trust’s expected performance levels and 
issues a financial risk rating and governance 
risk rating.  At the end of each quarter the 
Trust makes a submission to Monitor detailing 
the financial performance and governance 
levels at the Trust and again, Monitor assesses 
these returns and issues a financial and 
governance risk rating.
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When the Annual Plan was set in May 2012 it was expected that the Trust would be green for governance and 
that a level 3 financial risk rating would be achieved.  The Trust has achieved a level 4 rating for the year. This 
improvement is due to a reduction on net assets as a result of the valuation which has increased the score on 
the financial efficiency metric, causing an overall increase in rating.

The Trust always aims to achieve a green governance risk rating every quarter and hit all the targets set out in 
the Compliance Framework.  Because of this the Trust was rated as green in the Annual Plan. For quarter 1 all 
targets were achieved resulting in a green rating but, since then, the A&E four hour target has not been met, 
which is why there was an amber-green rating in quarter 2 and quarter 3.  Because the target has not been met 
for three consecutive quarters the Trust will automatically be rated red for quarter 4.    In addition, in quarter 
4 the Trust exceeded the de-minimus limit for MRSA by one case.

In 2011/12 the amber-red ratings in quarters 1 to 3 were caused by missing the C.difficile and MRSA targets and 
in quarter 4 for missing the MRSA full year target by one case and for missing the 62 day cancer wait target 
due to capacity constraint problems in January 2012.

The NHS is changing rapidly and for the Trust this can result in risk and uncertainty. The Trust Board has 
identified the strategic risks facing the Trust. These risks are formally reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Trust 
Board. Current strategic risks are identified in the table on page xx and appropriate risk management and 
mitigation plans are in place for each.

Financial Risk Rating

Governance Risk Rating

Risks and Uncertainties

The table below details the financial and governance risk rating for each quarter of the 
past two years and the expected year end position in the Annual Plan.

Annual Plan
2012/13

Quarter 1
2012/13

Quarter 2
2012/13

Quarter 3
2012/13

Quarter 4
2012/13

Financial Risk rating 3 3 3 3 4

Governance Risk 
rating

Green Green
Amber- 
green

Amber-
green

Red

Annual Plan
2011/12

Quarter 1
2011/12

Quarter 2
2011/12

Quarter 3
2011/12

Quarter 4
2011/12

Financial Risk rating 4 3 3 3 3

Governance Risk 
rating

Green Amber-red Amber- red Amber-red Amber-red

Trust Performance
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Part 1: 

Chief Executive’s Statement

It is with great pleasure that I present our 2012/13 
Quality Account, a report that I believe is a true and 
accurate reflection of the work we have delivered 
over the past year. Having listened to the views 
and thoughts of our patients, external stakeholders 
and staff, our Quality Account gives a thorough 
and concise overview of what the organisation has 
achieved. Our staff continue to work relentlessly to 
ensure we provide our patients with safe and quality 
care and within this account we have included 
feedback from our patients and testimonials from 
our stakeholders on our service delivery.

Our journey through 2012/13 has remained tightly 
focused on our set priorities; ‘Safe and Caring, 
Locally Engaged, Innovative and Efficient’, which 
underpinned our four key priorities for this Account: 
fundamentals of care, falls, pressure ulcers and 
fractured neck of femur. Our nursing and clinical 
teams have developed and implemented various 
tools to enable us to gain up to date, real time data 
so we know at any given time how well we are 
performing, which is essential for quality medical 
care. We have continued to work with colleagues 
across the health economy to define new patient 
pathways, whilst our thought provoking safety 
awareness campaigns have kept safety at the core 
of all that we do. We welcomed the introduction 
of the Friends and Family test, which is providing 
very helpful feedback now that the implementation 
challenges have been overcome.

As we move forward the Francis Report reminds 
us of the need to put patient care at the heart of 
everything we do and this is work we have already 
started. We must ensure our own culture and 
leadership is open and accountable, and works 
to create a truly patient centred culture where all 
voices are heard. I am quite sure that, from now on, 
the foremost measures of hospital success will be 
service quality, and patient feedback. We will need 
to ensure we continue to improve in these areas, 
notwithstanding the financial constraints we face.

I would like to sincerely thank all of our staff, 
partners and public for their continued support and 
dedication in driving standards ever upwards and 
onwards.

Dr Mark Newbold
Chief Executive
28 May 2013



79

Priorities for Improvement

 

Priority One: Fundamentals of Care
This priority is based on the National Care Campaign and specifically looks at Pain Management; Communications; 
Privacy & Dignity; and Nutrition. Performance is being managed through Trust-wide developed scorecards.

Priority Two: Falls
Performance was measured through Trust-wide developed scorecards which include nursing metrics regarding 
assessments, falls per occupied bed days and which wards have the highest number of falls, amongst other 
indicators.  

Priority Three: Pressure Ulcers
Here performance was also measured through a Trust-wide developed scorecard which includes nursing metrics 
regarding assessments, tissue viability audits, as well as incident numbers.

Priority Four: Fractured Neck of Femur
The Trust currently submits data to the National Hip Fracture Database (NHFD). The NHFD is a joint venture of 
the British Geriatrics Society and the British Orthopaedic Association, and is designed to facilitate improvements 
in the quality and cost effectiveness of hip fracture care. It allows care to be audited against the six evidence-
based standards and enables local health economies to benchmark their performance in hip fracture care 
against national data.  This data will be used to assess the Trust’s own clinical outcomes with regard to fractured 
neck of femur and to subsequently continue to improve its performance.

The Trust chose four new priorities for improvement to focus on for the Quality 
Account 2012/13.  These were chosen after discussion with Trust Board members 
and with the help of a wide range of stakeholders from the local community.
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Priority One:  
Fundamentals of Care

The Care Challenge from the National Patients 
Association is that, as a minimum, all patients 
should get assistance when they call for help, 
encouragement to eat and drink, assistance with 
going to the toilet, and have their pain addressed.

The scorecard measures all of the patient experience 
information in relation to the Patients Association 
Care Campaign. As a Trust we set a high standard 
for compliance and are confident that the Trust 
performance is high in these key areas. Many ward 
areas have implemented an intentional ‘rounding 
tool’ to improve on key fundamental care areas and 
improve patient’s confidence that they are regularly 

attended to by the nursing teams. In addition, there 
are a number of initiatives to improve fundamental 
care that have a strong multi-professional approach 
led by our therapy team.   The ‘eat, drink and 
move’ programme aims to ensure that nutritional, 
and hydration status is optimal and that patients 
mobilise as much as possible to reduce risks such as 
pressure ulcers and falls. 

To measure how we are doing, every month, our 
non-clinical managers and our volunteer  team visit 
our clinical  areas and talk to our patients and their 
carers to complete the patient experience survey.  
In the last 12 months we have added the question 
“Do you feel cared for?” and “Are you regularly 
attended to by a nurse or midwife?” To date the 
results have been extremely positive.

All of our divisions have a monthly quality and 
safety group chaired by the Associate Medical 
Director and co-chaired by their Head Nurse.  It is 
at this committee that the results of our patient 
experience are feedback and discussed.

Care stands for:      

C  Communicate with compassion

A  Assist with toileting, ensuring dignity

R  Relieve pain effectively

E  Encourage adequate nutrition

80
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Staying Safe scorecard: ‘Staying Safe’ is one of 
eight National High Impact Actions.  The High Impact 
Actions for nursing and midwifery were developed 
following a ‘call for action’ by the Chief Nursing 
Officer for England,  which asked frontline staff to 
submit examples of high quality and cost effective 
care that, if adopted widely across the NHS, would 
make a transformational difference. 

Nurses and midwives responded by submitting 
more than 600 examples in less than three weeks. 
Following on from High Impact Actions there is an 
‘observation’ tool which staff can use when closely 
monitoring those patients considered to be at high 
risk of falls.

Staying Safe is concerned with reduction of patient 
falls. The score card following correlates all internal 
information relating to patient falls, such as how 
well we assess patients risk of falls; what time of day 
or night our patients fall; and the areas where our 
patient group have the most falls to enable us to 
focus on reducing the risk of falls.  The Trust monitors 
falls rates for all inpatient areas on a monthly basis. 
This data is sent to site leads and ‘ward managers’. 
Areas with an increased rate are approached and 
a more detailed analysis of data is undertaken to 
highlight any trends that can be addressed.

This year we have focused on understanding how 
we are performing and where we may need to revise 
a number of processes.  As a Trust we also have a 
mandatory CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and 
Improvement) - a contractual agreement with our 
Commissioners whereby we commit to delivering 
certain quality standards. If we fail to reach the 
agreed standard then a proportion of our revenue 
will be withheld.  The Falls CQUIN requires us to 
collect data for a national tool called the safety 
thermometer.  The safety thermometer is a tool that 
is used across the NHS which collects information 

about falls, pressure ulcers, urinary catheter 
infections and VTE (Venous Thromboembolism) 
risks.  

From Quarter 4 (January – March 2013)  onwards 
we are embarking on an improvement programme 
to correlate harm from injurious falls and pressure 
ulcers, with both staff and patient experience data 
in a drive to eliminate avoidable harm. This has 
involved the Trust falls specialist nurse developing a 
new method of investigating falls that enable Trust-
wide learning. 

Further local initiatives include:-

• The falls specialist nurse can provide in-depth 
assessment of inpatients that have fallen in 
order to identify further actions that may be 
required or onward referral pathways. This 
includes access to the recently started nurse led 
falls clinic.

• The ‘Harm Free Care at HEFT’ web site now 
includes a ‘toolkit’ for falls. This includes 
immediately accessible relevant policies and 
guidelines as well as details of equipment which 
may help reduce risk for patients – e.g. non slip 
socks.

• The ‘Call Don’t Fall’ poster has been designed 
to use in bathroom and toilet areas to remind 
patients to call for assistance should they feel 
unsteady.

• Following on from High Impact Actions there 
is an ‘observation’ tool which has also been 
incorporated into the SSKIN (explanation on 
page 116) bundle which staff can use when 
closely monitoring those patients considered to 
be at high risk of falls.

Priority Two:  
Falls
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‘Your skin matters’ is another National High 
Impact Action concerned with a reduction 
of pressure ulcers. The score card correlates 
all internal information relating to skin 
integrity and is monitored by the Nursing 
and Midwifery Performance Committee. This 
committee meets monthly and is co-chaired 
by our Deputy Director of Finance and our 
Deputy Chief Nurse.  We have a nursing and 
midwifery dashboard that is reviewed every 
month and all of our head nurses and Head 
of Midwifery are required to attend and 
are called to account in relation to quality 
performance.

This year has focused on working with our 
commissioners to change the culture of our nursing 
teams, promoting site-wide forums to classify 
all of our pressure ulcers as either avoidable or 
unavoidable.  As a Trust we have a mandatory 
CQUIN schedule to collect data for a national safety 
thermometer tool – this is a point prevalence tool 
that will enable us to benchmark our drive to reduce 
harm from pressure ulcers.

As a Trust we have participated in the Strategic 
Health Authority (SHA) Midlands and East ‘Stop 
the Pressure’ campaign which has contributed to a 

regional reduction of pressure ulcers by 35%. As a 
Trust our hospital acquired pressure ulcer prevalence 
is now much improved at 1%.  We are by no means 
complacent, and our aim is to continue to reduce 
this over the coming year.

From Quarter 4 January - March 2013 onwards the 
Trust is embarking on an improvement programme 
to correlate harm from pressure ulcers and falls, with 
both staff and patient experience data in a drive to 
eliminate avoidable harm. This has involved the Trust 
clinical nurse specialist team revising our method 
of investigating pressure ulcers to enable Trust-
wide learning. A Harm Free Care at HEFT bundle 
has been developed and has been recently been 
approved. This incorporates the principles to SSKIN 
(see page 116 for further details) used in the ‘Stop 
the Pressure’ Campaign and the falls observational 
tool to reduce the risk to our patients. Our patient 
information leaflet has been revised and we hope 
to pilot a passport for pressure ulcers as a joint piece 
of work with our community colleagues to improve 
communication.

Priority Three:  
Pressure Ulcers

84
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The Trust submits data to the National Hip Fracture 
Database (NHFD), a joint venture of the British 
Geriatrics Society and the British Orthopaedic 
Association. Care of patients with hip fracture is 
audited against nine evidence based standards:

• Prompt admission to Orthopaedic Care;
• Surgery within 48 hours;
• Nursing care aimed at minimising pressure ulcer 

incidence;
• Routine access to ortho-geriatric medical care;
• Assessment and appropriate treatment to 

promote bone health and falls assessment;
• Review at Multi-Disciplinary Team meeting;
• Assessment Mental Testing (Dementia Screen) 

X2 and
• Bone density testing.

The Trust performance is monitored against this 
data and bench-marked against other trusts in the 
country.  

We continue to make progress in achieving the nine 
indicators and therefore improving outcomes for 
patients with hip fracture during 2012/13. 

The table on the next page shows the performance 
by site of one of the key indicators which the 
Trauma and Orthopaedic directorate has focused on 
during the last 12 months. The local target is 90% of 
patients should be operated on within 48 hours of 
admission. 

Site pressures and bed availability during Quarter 
4 has impacted on performance and also lack 
of theatre availability at Good Hope Hospital. 
Improvements have been made again during April 
2013 with the development of further theatre 
allocation for trauma at Good Hope Hospital. The 
aim is for this to be maintained throughout 2013/14.
 

Priority Four:  
Fractured Neck of Femur

86
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Areas that have been addressed to improve the 
service delivered to patients include:

• A Trauma Action Group developed to review 
pathways and implement improvements in 
service delivery to meet the standards. The action 
group meets fortnightly and is chaired by the 
trauma lead consultant – Mr. Shrivastava. The 
group reviews performance against both sites 
and details actions that need to be undertaken 
to achieve the standards, with actions monitored 
and reported at the directorate quarterly 
meeting.

• Birmingham Heartlands Hospital has been 
designated a trauma unit and there is a senior 
on call registrar on site 24 hours a day to ensure 
that patients are seen, assessed and admitted to 
the correct ward.

• There have been some improvements with time 
to theatre however bed pressures during the 
last quarter of 2012/13 have had a detrimental 
effect. Work is ongoing to improve this 
including a site review of trauma bed provision 
at Birmingham Heartlands Hospital.

• The ortho-geriatric team works closely with 
the orthopaedic team to ensure that all nine 
elements of the patient pathway including 
dementia screening and multi-disciplinary team 
discussions take place.  Increased ortho-geriatric 
input at weekends has meant that patients are 
seen and assessed quicker.

• An electronic board has been installed in trauma 
theatres to ensure that the whole team are 
aware of the time to theatre for each patient 
with a fractured neck of femur.

• A data manager was appointed in January 
2013 to ensure that robust data is collected and 
uploaded onto the national data base.

• A trauma nurse co-ordinator has been appointed 
who will track all patients with hip fracture, to 
provide support and help to ensure that the 
nine best practise indicators are met.

• Work is ongoing to enhance the ortho-geriatric 
cover at Good Hope Hospital.

Percentage of patients admitted to hospital with a primary diagnosis of fractured proximal femur who are operated on 
within 48 hours (Target 50%)

2012/13 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Site Prep - op LOS
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Good Hope

0-2 days 18 8 11 37 12 17 12 41 25 18 24 67 23 16 23 62 207

3+ days 1 4 1 6 2 5 1 8 1 1 2 5 1 3 9 25

% within 2 days 94.74% 66.67% 91.67% 86.05% 85.71% 77.27% 92.31% 83.67% 96.15% 94.74% 100.00% 97.10% 82.14% 94.12% 88.46% 87.12% 89.22%

Heartlands

0-2 days 31 29 32 92 28 26 34 88 29 31 35 95 38 38 22 98 373

3+ days 4 4 4 12 5 4 4 13 2 2 6 10 5 5 3 13 48

% within 2 days 88.57% 87.88% 88.89% 88.46% 84.85% 86.67% 89.47% 87.13% 93.55% 93.94% 85.37% 90.48% 88.37% 88.37% 88.00% 88.29% 88.60%

Trust wide

0-2 days 49 37 43 129 40 43 46 129 54 49 59 162 61 54 45 160 580

3+ days 5 8 5 18 7 9 5 21 3 3 6 12 10 6 6 22 73

% within 2 days 90.74% 82.22% 89.58% 87.76% 85.11% 82.69% 90.20% 86.00% 94.74% 94.23% 90.77% 93.10% 85.92% 90.00% 88.24% 87.91% 88.82%

2012/14 Q1

Site Prep - op LOS Apr - 13

Good Hope

0-2 days 14

3+ days 1

% within 2 days 93.33%

Heartlands

0-2 days 34

3+ days 1

% within 2 days 97.14%

Trust wide

0-2 days 48

3+ days 2

% within 2 days 96.00%
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After consultation with governors, staff and members of the Trust, we have decided 
to continue to focus on the four priorities from 2012/2013 as well as three new 
additional priorities.  

The consultation was undertaken by discussing potential priorities with sub 
committees of the Council of Governors (which includes staff, patient and public 
governors), the Community Healthcare Council, Trust members (including staff and 
patients) and taking into account local and national healthcare priorities.  This year 
interested parties were invited to put forward their own ideas. 

A list of potential priorities was then taken to the Trust Executive Management 
Board where a final decision was made as to which priorities the Trust would like to 
focus on for 2013/2014. These are:

Priority One:
Fundamentals of Care (from 2012/13)

Priority Two:
Reducing the number of Falls (from 2012/13)

Priority Three:
Reducing the number of Pressure Ulcers (from 
2012/13)

Priority Four:
Improving clinical outcomes for Fractured Neck of 
Femur (from 2012/13)

Priority Five:
Improving Clinical Outcomes for Stroke

Priority Six:
Improving Dementia Care

Priority Seven:
Improving Discharge Arrangements
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All the above priorities will be monitored, measured and reported by the relevant expert 
committee within the Trust.
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This section includes statements which are 
mandated by the Department of Health to be 
included in the Quality Account. The aim of this 
nationally requested content is to give information 
to the public that is common to Quality Accounts 
across all trusts. These statements demonstrate that 
the organisation is:

• Performing to 
essential standards;

• Measuring our 
clinical processes and 
performance;

• Involved in national 
projects and 
initiatives aimed at 
improving quality. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Income
During 2012/13 Heart of England NHS Foundation 
Trust provided and/or sub-contracted 79 relevant 
health services.

Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed 
all the data available to them on the quality of care 
in 79 of these relevant health services.

The income generated by the relevant health 
services reviewed in 2012/13 represents 100% of 
the total income generated from the provision of 
relevant health services by the Heart of England NHS 
Foundation Trust for the financial year 2012/13.

Clinical Audit
During 2012/13, 44 national clinical audits and 3 
national confidential enquiries covered relevant 
health services that Heart of England NHS Foundation 
Trust provides.

During 2012/13 Heart of England NHS Foundation 
Trust participated in 98% national clinical audits and 
100% national confidential enquiries of the national 
clinical audits and national confidential enquiries 
which it was eligible to participate in.

The national clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries that Heart of England NHS Foundation 
Trust was eligible to participate in during 2012/13 
are as follows: 

Part 2: 

Statements of Assurance

The national clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries that Heart of England NHS Foundation 
Trust participated in during 2012/13 are shown in 
the second column in Table 1.
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries that Heart of England NHS Foundation 

Trust participated in, and for which data collection 
was completed during 2012/13, are listed in the third 
column in Table 1 alongside the number of cases 
submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage 
of the number of registered cases required by the 
terms of that audit or enquiry. 
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Audit Title Participation in 2012-13 Submission % 

Acute coronary syndrome or Acute myocardial infarction (MINAP National Institute for 
Cardiovascular Outcomes Research)

Yes 100%

Adult Asthma (British Thoracic Society) Yes 100%

Adult Cardiac Surgery (National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research) Not applicable to the Trust

Adult community acquired pneumonia (British Thoracic Society) Yes 100%

Adult Critical Care (Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre) Yes 100%

Bowel Cancer (National Bowel Cancer Audit Programme) Yes 100%

Bronchiectasis  (British Thoracic Society) Yes 100%

Cardiac Arrest (NCAA Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre) Yes 100%

Cardiac Arrhythmia (HRM National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research) Yes 100%

Cardiothoracic transplant (Royal College of Surgeons) Not applicable to the Trust

Carotid interventions (Royal College of Physicians) Yes 100%

Comparative audit of blood transfusion (NHS Blood and Transport) Yes 100%

Congenital heart disease (Paediatric cardiac surgery) (National Institute for 
Cardiovascular Outcomes Research)

Not applicable to the Trust

Coronary Angioplasty (National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research) Yes 100%

Diabetes (Adult) (NHS Information Centre) Yes 100%

Diabetes (Paediatric) (Royal College of Child Health and Paediatrics) Yes 100%

Emergency use of oxygen (British Thoracic Society) No Considering registration

Epilepsy 12 (Childhood Epilepsy) (Royal College of Child Health and Paediatrics) Yes 100%

Fever in children (College of Emergency Medicine) Yes 100%

Fractured neck of femur (College of Emergency Medicine) Yes 100%

Head and neck oncology (DAHNO NHS Information Centre) Yes 100%

Heart failure (National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research) Yes 100%

Hip fracture database (NHFD British Orthopaedic Association) Yes 100%

Inflammatory bowel disease (Royal College of Physicians) Yes 100%

Lung cancer (NLCA NHS Information Centre) Yes 100%

National joint registry (National Joint Registry Centre) Yes 100%

Neonatal intensive and special care (NNAP Royal College of Child Health and Paediatrics) Yes 100%

Non-invasive ventilation (British Thoracic Society) Yes 100%

Oesophago-gastric cancer (NAOGC Royal College of Surgeons) Yes 100%

Paediatric asthma (British Thoracic Society) Yes 100%

Paediatric Intensive Care (PICANet) Not applicable to the Trust

Paediatric pneumonia (British Thoracic Society) Yes 100%

Pain Database  (National Pain Audit) Yes 100%

Parkinson's disease (Parkinson’s UK) Yes 100%

Potential donor (NHS Blood and Transplant) Not applicable to the Trust

Prescribing Observatory (Royal College of Psychiatrists) Not applicable to the Trust

Psychological therapies (Royal College of Psychiatrists) Not applicable to the Trust

Pulmonary hypertension (NHS Information Centre) Not applicable to the Trust

Renal Colic (College of Emergency Medicine) Yes 100%

Renal Registry (UK Renal Registry) Yes 100%

Renal transplantation (NHSBT UK Transplant Registry) Not applicable to the Trust

Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP Royal College of Physicians) Yes 100%

Trauma (Trauma Audit and Research Network) Yes 100%

Vascular surgery (VSGBI Vascular Surgery Database) Yes 100%

National Confidential Enquires 2012/13

NCEPOD – Alcohol Related Liver Disease Study Yes 100%

NCEPOD – Subarachnoid Haemorrhage Study Yes 100%
Mothers and Babies: Reducing Risk through Audits and Confidential Enquires across the 
UK (MBRRACE-UK)

Yes 100%
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The reports of 16 national clinical 
audits were reviewed by the provider 
in 2012/13 and Heart of England NHS 
Foundation Trust intends to take the 
following actions to improve the 
quality of healthcare provided:-

• As a result of the National Audit of Asymptomatic 
Screening, the Trust proforma has been updated 
with a new Blood Borne Virus risk assessment.

• Results from the Bedside Transfusion audit, 
has led to the development of a new Blood 
Transfusion Care Pathway which has successfully 
been piloted along with a new drug chart to be 
completed during transfusions.

• To ensure that regular data is fed into the 
Carotid Interventions audit, a dedicated vascular 
discharge coordinator and lab administrator is 
now in place.

• The Fractured Neck of Femur audit has resulted 
in the redesign of the paperwork to a single 
tick sheet format which has been added to the 
Trauma Booklet guidelines. 

• The Hip Fracture database will continue to be 
updated regularly following the successful 
appointment of a new administrators post.

• Following the Fever in Children audit, the MSS 
(electronic patient registration system) coding 
options have been reviewed to ensure that 
patients in this group are easily identified and 
the correct interventions have taken place. 

• Following participation in the Non-invasive 
Ventilation (NIV) audit, a new Oxygen Alert 
card has been introduced for patients, and a 
multidisciplinary group has been implemented 
to develop an elective NIV admissions pathway.

• The re-audit of the use of group O RhD Negative 
Red Cells findings has resulted in the Trust 
revising its documentation on stock levels of O 
RhD Negative Red Cells.

• The Renal Colic audit has resulted in amendments 
being made to the Clinical Decision Unit 
Pathway to ensure that the AAA (abdominal 
aortic aneurysm) criteria is explicit and there is 
Trust-wide clarity around the process.

• Following the re-audit of the Use of Platelet in 
Haematology, the local policy and associated 
guidelines have all been revised. 

Reviewing reports of national 
and local clinical audits
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The reports of 133 local clinical audits 
were reviewed by the provider in 
2012/13 and Heart of England NHS 
Foundation Trust intends to take the 
following actions as shown in the 
list below to improve the quality of 
healthcare provided. 

• Develop a stratification document to ensure 
patients are appropriately selected for a cardiac 
angiography in line with NICE guidance.

• Introduce a new guideline for diabetic 
retinopathy screening to guide graders on what 
to do with patients who present with retinal 
occlusions.

• Implement a new protocol for epistaxis to 
improve patient outcomes in the management 
of epistaxis.

• All junior doctor inductions to include a 
presentation of venous thromboembolism 
(VTE) prophylaxis to raise awareness on the 

importance of VTE assessment on surgical wards 
before and after interventions.

• Revise the existing template to record whether 
a patient information leaflet has been given 
on gonorrhoea as recommended by the British 
Association for Sexual Health and HIV.

• Revise the Vitamin D protocol which now 
includes safe and effective continuation of 
Vitamin D supplementation.

• Introduce a local dosing guide on Prothombin 
Complex Concentrate following audit.

• Develop a Foreign Body Radiography protocol 
for the use of foreign body imaging.

• Implement a new neonatal cranial ultrasound 
scans guideline and reporting document.

• Develop a septic joint and bronchiectasis 
guideline following audit. 

• Revise the C.difficile treatment guidelines 
and severity criteria to ensure antibiotics are 
prescribed appropriately.
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Over 500 individual research projects are 
being undertaken across the Trust in various 
stages of activity from actively recruiting 
patients into new studies to long-term 
follow-up.  There are 27 departments across 
the Trust currently taking part in research 
activity with between one and six research 
active consultants in each of these areas.  

The number of patients receiving relevant 
health services provided or sub-contracted 
by the Trust in 2012/13 that were recruited 
during that period to participate in research 
approved by a research ethics committee 
was 4013.

Clinical trials are the largest research activity 
performed at the Trust, in terms of project 
numbers with cancer services make-up the 
highest number of individual projects (36%) 
across the Trust.  We have a mixed portfolio 
of commercial studies and academic studies, 
the majority of which are adopted on to 
the National Institute for Health Research 
(NIHR) portfolio.  Non-portfolio work is 

undertaken and this are either commercial 
clinical trials, student based research or 
pilot studies for future grant proposals.  

Patient recruitment is highest in 
anaesthetics, pain and critical care, thoracic 
surgery, cancer services and obstetrics.  
Over the last 12-18 months we have seen a 
significant increase in research undertaken 
in GU medicine, thoracic surgery, paediatrics, 
and obstetrics.  

Taking total research activity as the indicator, 
in England in 2011 we ranked 8/41 for large 
acute hospitals in the Guardian Research 
Table and 31/69 for all large acute hospitals 
and teaching hospitals in the same ranking. 
We also have considerable activity in non-
NIHR commercial trials that is not reported 
by the Guardian table.  Within its group 
Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 
ranks first for peer reviewed publications.

The Trust’s Research Portfolio by Directorate

R
e
se

a
rc

h

Cancer Service (36%)

Diabetes (9%)

Gastroenterology (4%)

GU Medicine (4%)

Obstetrics & Gynaecology (3%)

Ophthalmology (4%)

Paediatrics (5%)

Renal Medicine (2%)

Respiratory Medicine (4%)

Rheumatology (5%)

Stroke (5%)

Thoracic Surgery (3%)

Anaesthetics, Critical Care & Pain (5%)

Other (11%)

In addition to clinical trials, the Trust hosts academic appointments in partnership with three local Universities; 
Universities of Birmingham and Warwick and Aston University.

We continue to be ambitious to increase research activity in the Trust, recognising that improved care and 
better outcomes are strongly associated with research active institutions.  
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Professor Gavin Perkins, Consultant in Critical Care, and his team have been successful in 
obtained £1.2million from the NIHR Health Technology Assessment (HTA) programme. 
This money is for the BREATHE study – which will determine if the use of non-invasive 
ventilation as an intermediate step in the protocolised weaning of patients off invasive 
ventilation is clinically and cost effective. This study is currently in the set-up phase and 
the research will start in the coming months.

A study led by Prof Fang Gao, Consultant Anaesthetist, has changed practice within 
the surviving sepsis campaign guidelines 2013. The BALTI-2 study was instrumental 
in establishing that not using beta 2-agonists for treatment of sepsis induced 
acute respiratory distress syndrome, in the absence of specific indications such as 
bronchospasm. This research study involved 326 patients from the Trust and over 40 
other UK Intensive care units. This is an excellent example of how research, and in this 
case our own “in house” developed research, can change practice. Further details of 
this study can be found in the Lancet (2012; Vol. 379; Issue 9812, P 229-235).

Researchers at Birmingham Heartlands Hospital will be leading the way nationally in 
treating prevention of blindness in diabetics through a study in partnership with Aston 
University.

The Hospital is one of only 11 European Union (EU) centres selected to win a £260,000 
EU funded grant to support the trial of a new eye drop treatment to prevent or stop 
the progression of the early stages of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetic retinopathy is an 
eye disease that can occur in people with diabetes. It can lead to severe loss of vision or 
even blindness and is the leading cause of preventable blindness in diabetic patients.

The clinical trial will involve patients being given one of three different types of eye 
drops which are hoped to protect the eye by preventing the retinal nerve damage 
which causes the loss of vision. It is believed that their use in the early onset of the 
disease will be of most benefit to patients. Patients who take part in the research will 
be closely monitored with regards to their progress.

Professor Jonathan Gibson, consultant ophthalmologist at Heartlands Hospital 
is leading the research. He commented: “Diabetic retinopathy is the main cause in 
blindness in the UK in those of working age, and therefore this research is potentially 
very important. We will be testing whether these special eye drops can prevent the 
development of diabetic retinopathy, and therefore prevent later visual loss. If they 
work it will be a major breakthrough for diabetic patients. The research team at 
Heartlands has a fantastic reputation and successful track record of ophthalmic research 
and I believe this is the basis they have been selected as one of 11 centres across Europe 
to be involved in this study.”
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A proportion of the Trust’s income in 2012/13 was 
conditional upon achieving quality improvement 
and innovation goals agreed between the Trust 
and any person or body they entered into a 
contract, agreement or arrangement with for the 
provision of relevant health services, through the 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 
payment framework. Further details of the agreed 
goals for 2012/13 and for the following 12 month 
period are available online at: 

http: / /www.monitor-nhsft .gov.uk/sites/al l /
modules/fckeditor/plugins/ktbrowser/_openTKFile.
php?id=3275

The CQUINs accounted for approximately £13 million 
of the Trust’s income in 2012/13. The CQUIN goals 
were agreed jointly by the Trust and commissioners. 
The Acute, Specialised Services, Community Services 
and Public Health contract included the following 
CQUINs:

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUINs)

Goal Number Performance Indicator Agreed Target HEFT Achievements

1
VTE Risk Assessment

Number of adult inpatient admissions 
reported as having had a VTE risk assessment 
on admission to hospital using the national 
tool.

90% 94%

2
Patient Experience

Index-based score reflecting positive 
responses to the 5 questions within the 
composite indicator. 

72% 65.2%

3a
Dementia Screening

% of all patients aged 75 and over who 
have been screened following admission 
to hospital, using the dementia screening 
question.

90% 21%

3b
Dementia Risk 

Assessment

% of all patients aged 75 and over who have 
been screened as at risk of dementia, who 
have had a dementia risk assessment within 
72 hours of admission to hospital, using the 
hospital dementia risk assessment tool.

90% 96%

3c
Dementia Referral

% of all patients aged 75 and over identified 
as at risk of having dementia who are 
referred for specialist diagnosis.

90% 83%

4
NHS Safety Thermometer

Improve collection of data in relation to 
pressure ulcers, falls, urinary tract infection in 
those with a catheter, and VTE

Not applicable

Not applicable:
The CQUIN 

incentivises correct 
use of the Safety 
Thermometer and 

therefore no baseline 
performance applies

5a 
Net Promoter

Patient experience - 
establish question and 

baseline score

To establish the question and baseline 
Net Promoter score for 10% of inpatient 
discharges for any given week, at or within 
48 hours of discharge.

56%
Questions set and 
baseline score 
agreed Q1 2012-13

5b
Net Promoter

Patient experience - 
board and commissioner 

reporting

Monthly Trust Board minutes that clearly 
demonstrate reporting of patient experience 
including Net Promoter Score.

Not Applicable
Minutes provided to 
the Board – CQUIN 
Achieved

Acute Contract
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Goal Number Performance Indicator Agreed Target HEFT Achievements

5c
Net Promoter

Patient experience - 
weekly reporting

Organisations collate and review the 
Net Promoter Score on a weekly basis, 
commencing in Quarter 2.

Weekly reporting 
submitted to Unify 
from Q2 2012-13

5d
Patient experience 

- performance 
improvement

Achievement of either a 10 point 
improvement in Net Promoter Score or 
achievement or maintenance of top quartile 
performance throughout 2012/13.

66% 65.12%

6a
Health Improvement

Making Every Contact 
Count

The Making Every Contact Count ambition 
aims to utilise the human resources of the 
NHS in the Midlands and East to inform and 
enable people to make positive changes to 
their life.

Achievement of 6 
indicators (see CQUIN 

scheme)

Achievement of 
6 indicators (see 
CQUIN scheme)

6b
Health Improvement
Alcohol Brief Advice

Identification of alcohol use for patients 
in contact with the trust, followed by brief 
advice and referral for drinkers identified as 
being in defined risk groups

90%

Of 8 potential 
indicators, 3 have 
been fully met 2 

partially met and 3 
not met.

6c
Health Improvement
Smoking Brief Advice

Identification of smoking status of patients 
in contact with the trust, followed by brief 
advice and referral to local stop smoking 
services.

90%

Out of 8 potential 
indicators, 2 have 

been met, 2 partially 
met and 4 not met.

7
Stroke

This CQUIN pulls together a number of 
indicators that underpin the achievement of 
better outcomes for stroke patients.

Submission of data against 
all metrics, showing 
improvement

Improvement 
achieved against 

the 4 Stroke CQUIN 
indicators

8
End Of life

To develop an improvement plan, based on 
2011/12 Q4 data, to ensure improvement on 
the number of patients identified as having 
a care plan based on recognised integrated 
care pathway for supportive care.

80%
60%

9
Pressure Ulcer Reduction

Demonstrable reduction in the number of 
grade 2, 3 and 4 avoidable pressure ulcers 
using NHS Midlands and East definition of 
avoidable pressure ulcers.

Trajectory set for no 
more than 24 grade 3,4 
avoidable pressure ulcers 
at end Q4 2012-13

19%

10 
Safer transfer of 

medicines on discharge

This indicator relates to the effectiveness 
of processes to ensure that medicines 
information is transferred with patients on 
discharge

Report at 12 months to 
provide final outcome 
details of if improvements 
achieved

end Q4 2012-13
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Goal Number Performance Indicator Agreed Target HEFT Achievements

1
VTE Risk Assessment

Number of adult inpatient admissions 
reported as having had a VTE risk 
assessment on admission to hospital using 
the national tool.

90% 94%

2
Patient Experience

Index-based score reflecting positive 
responses to the 5 questions within the 
composite indicator. 

72%
65.2%

3a
Dementia Screening

% of all patients aged 75 and over who 
have been screened following admission 
to hospital, using the dementia screening 
question.

90% 21%

3b
Dementia Risk 

Assessment

% of all patients aged 75 and over who 
have been screened as at risk of dementia, 
who have had a dementia risk assessment 
within 72 hours of admission to hospital, 
using the hospital dementia risk assessment 
tool.

90% 96%

3c
Dementia Referral

% of all patients aged 75 and over identified 
as at risk of having dementia who are 
referred for specialist diagnosis.

90%
83%

4
NHS Safety 

Thermometer

Improve collection of data in relation to 
pressure ulcers, falls, urinary tract infection 
in those with a catheter, and VTE

Not applicable
The CQUIN incentivises 
correct use of the Safety 
Thermometer and therefore 
no baseline performance 
applies

Not applicable
The CQUIN incentivises 
correct use of the Safety 

Thermometer and 
therefore no baseline 
performance applies

5 
Specialised Services 
Quality Dashboards

Implementation of Quality Dashboards for 
Specialised Services.

TBC submitted for Q4

6 
Home Renal Dialysis

Increasing use of Home Renal Dialysis

7
Neonatal

Improved timely TPN Administration 
(Birmingham Heartlands Hospital site only).

Clinically adjusted 
performance  100%

8
Neonatal

Increase effectiveness of hypothermia 
treatment (Good Hope Hospital site only).

100%

9
HIV

To ensure HIV Therapy is optimised. place in Q3.

Specialised Services Contract

Renal 
dialysis 
CQUIN 
12/13

Home HD PD

No. pts 
on HHD 

at end of 
Q3

(new 
baseline)

No. 
pts 
on 

HHD 
at 

end 
Q4

No. pts 
on PD at 
end of 

Q3

(new 
baseline)

No. pts 
on PD 
at end 

Q4

Trust 
performance 16 15 47 47
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Community Services Contract

Goal Number Performance Indicator Agreed Target HEFT Achievements

1
Patient Experience

Improve responsiveness to personal needs of 
patients

Action Plans sub-
mitted to CQRG and 
Improvement Plans 
delivered to agreed 
timescales

2
NHS Safety Thermometer

Improve collection of data in relation to 
pressure ulcers, falls, UTI in those with a 
catheter and VTE

Compliance with 
monthly return 
requirement

Not applicable
The CQUIN incentiv-
ises correct use of 
the Safety Thermom-
eter and therefore no 
baseline performance 
applies

3
Net Promoter

Likeliness to recommend through patient 
experience survey. 

Net Recommender 
score of 66.

CQUIN Achieved

4
Making Every Contact 
Count -  Smoking and 

Alcohol

Health improvement through public health 
messages from front line staff. 

Various targets for 
individual services, 
set for smoking and 
alcohol

80% and 70% for 
status recorded and 
brief advice/referral 
respectively for the 
majority of services, 
and 50% for status 
recorded and brief ad-
vice/referral for physio 
and podiatry

5
Pressure Ulcer Reduction

Demonstrate reduction in number of Grade 2, 
3 and 4 pressure ulcers using NHS Midlands 
and East definition of avoidable pressure 
ulcers.

18

The CQUIN around the dementia ‘case finding’ 
question is part of a national CQUIN scheme, and 
was rated red for 2012/13 as the target was not 
achieved by the Trust. Following the roll out of the 
‘case finding’ question on the relevant electronic 
system in Autumn 2012, incremental improvements 
were made month on month, but these were not 
enough to meet the target. Local benchmarking 
shows that many other Trusts found this CQUIN 
challenging to implement in 2012/13, and nationally 
the Department of Health has chosen to carry over 
the target rather than extending it. 

There continues to be a strong focus on achievement 
in this area, led by the Trust Dementia Steering 
Group, with a focus on improved communication 
about how to record the case finding results 
electronically. The Steering Group has identified 
several barriers to progress which the Trust will focus 
on improving in 2013/14, including clinical training 
and engagement, electronic recording issues, site-
based communication and focusing on ensuring 
the case finding question takes place within the 
prescribed 72 hour admission window.

Rolling out the next stages of the CQUIN is well 
underway and it is believed that through the 
education programme we will achieve greater 

engagement of staff and thereby improvement 
in compliance with the case finding target. The 
Steering Group is working on the self assessment 
tool for Dementia Friendly Hospitals and it is 
believed that this too will assist us toward greater 
compliance.  

A new electronic solution is also due in June 2013 
which the Steering Group feels will help to improve 
the recording of the results even further. The 
dementia CQUIN has been carried over nationally 
for 2013/14, and as such, progress will be reported 
on in the 2013/14 Quality Account.

The CQUIN around End of Life Care is also rated as 
red. Commissioners have accepted that although 
performance in this CQUIN was good at the start 
of the 2012/13 year, performance dipped after 
national negative media attention around the 
Liverpool Care Pathway in October 2012, which 
directly led to the Trust failing this CQUIN. Action 
plans and improvement plans are in place to rectify 
the situation, and a further local CQUIN to support 
a more holistic End of Life Care and Bereavement 
package has been put in place for 2013/14, the 
achievement of which is worth £2million in CQUIN 
payments to the Trust.
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The Trust is required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and its current registration status 
is registered without any conditions. The CQC has 
not taken any enforcement action against the Trust 
during 2012/13.

June 2012 – Solihull 
Hospital and Good 
Hope Hospital:
This was a follow up visit to the August 2011 visit 
when the Trust was found to be non-compliant 
with outcome 9 (medicines management). A desk 
top review was completed for the Birmingham 
Heartland site. Following these visits the Trust was 
found to be compliant with outcome 9 and the 
compliance actions were removed.

November 2012 – 
Solihull Hospital:
The CQC assessed compliance with three outcomes 
– Outcome 1 (Respecting and involving people 
who use services); Outcome 4 (Care and Welfare of 
people using services) and Outcome 6 (Cooperating 
with other providers). The Trust was found to be 
compliant with outcome 4 and 6, but non-compliant 
with Outcome 1. 

January 2013 
– Birmingham 
Heartlands Hospital:
The CQC assessed compliance with four outcomes – 
Outcome 1 (Respecting and involving people who 
use services); Outcome 2 (Consent); Outcome 4 (Care 
and welfare of people using services) and Outcome 
13 (Staffing). The Trust was found to be compliant 
with all outcomes.

February 2013 – Good 
Hope Hospital: 
The CQC assessed compliance with three outcomes. 
The Trust was found to be compliant with outcome 
7 (Safeguarding) and non-compliant with outcome 
1(Respecting and involving service users) and 
outcome 17 (Complaints).

The Trust has taken immediate action to address any 
issues identified from the CQC visits outlined above 
and action plans are in place for any outstanding 
actions. All action plans are submitted to the CQC.  
Full copies of the above reports can be found on the 
CQC website.

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust has not 
participated in any special reviews or investigations 
by the Care Quality Commission during the reporting 
period.

Care Quality Commission
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Information Governance 
toolkit

Data Quality in Solihull Community Services 
is operationally monitored with a bi-monthly 
Data Quality Steering Group.  The group 
agrees on standard audit reporting for all 
community services on data quality issues, 
which takes into account key performance 
indicators, and consistency and accuracy 
of clinical and contact recording.  The 
standard agreed reports are run monthly 
and communicated to service heads via 
‘sharepoint’ portal, which the service heads 
then distribute to identified staff to either 
rectify or address the data quality issue.  
Support in addressing this is also provided by 
the Data Quality Officer and the Electronic 
Patient Record team within ICT. 

D
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ty The Trust submitted records during 2012/13 
to the Secondary Uses Service for inclusion 
in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are 
included in the latest published data. The 
percentage of records in the published 
data which included the patient’s valid 
NHS number was:

Valid NHS Number %

Admitted patient Care 99.84%

Outpatient Care 99.80%

A&E 97.45%

The percentage of records in the published 
data which included the patient’s valid 
General Medical Registration code was:

Valid GP Practice %

Admitted Patient Care 99.94%

Outpatient Care 99.98%

A&E 99.19%

The Connecting for Health Information Governance 
Toolkit sets out standards for information governance 
systems and processes in NHS organisations. The 
Trust Information Governance Assessment Report 
overall score for 2012/13 was 69% and was graded 
as Green.
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The Trust was subject to the Payment by Results 
clinical coding audit during the reporting period 
by the Audit Commission and the overall error 
rates reported in the latest published audit for that 
period for diagnoses and treatment coding (clinical 
coding) were:

Clinical Coding Error Rate

% procedures coded incorrectly % diagnoses coded incorrectly
% spells changing 
HRG

Primary Secondary Primary Secondary

Overall 19.3 18.6 13.9 18 8.8%

The specialties audited were 100 Finished Consultant 
Episodes (FCE) related to zero length of stay, 55 
FCEs in HB non trauma orthopaedic procedures, 
20 FCEs in HB61C Major Shoulder and Upper Arm 
procedures, 30 FCEs in EA36A Cardiac Catheters, 20 
FCEs in BZ23Z vitreous retinal procedures selected 
from our quarter 1 data submissions.

The results should not be extrapolated further than 
the actual sample audited.

1. This year the Trust’s average HRG error rate is 
8.8 per cent. This is a continuing improvement, 
from an episode HRG error rate of 19 per cent in 
2009/10, to 13.3 per cent in 2010/11, to 11% in 
2011/12.

2. The report made two recommendations relating 
to an internal audit programme and training of 
coders in extraction of information from systems. 

3. An action plan has been developed to address 
the recommendations. Quarterly updates will be 
provided to the Trust Finance and Performance 
Committee and to the Primary Care Cluster.

This year, as well as auditing inpatients, the Audit 
Commission also looked at coding in Accident & 
Emergency and Outpatient Attendances. Coding for 
these areas do not sit under Clinical Coding and are 
owned by each area

A&E results were:

Attendances tested
% attendances changing 

payment
% investigation codes 

incorrect
% treatment codes 

incorrect

150 18.0 11.2 21.8
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Outpatient results were:

Attend-
ances 
tested

% attend-
ances 

changing 
payment

Procedure coding Other data items

Attend-
ances 
with 

tariffed 
HRGs

% HRGs 
changing

% procedure 
codes 

incorrect

% 
attended 

flag 
incorrect

% first 
/ follow 
incorrect

% TFCs 
incorrect

% age 
incorrect

150 8.7 30 15.3 38.3 0.0 3.3 0.0 0.0

30 3.3 30 3.3 42.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

The Trust is taking the following actions to improve 
data quality:
 
➢A suite of measures known as the Data Quality 
Health Check which identifies areas of poor 
performance are reported on a weekly basis 
to a range of operational and managerial staff 
throughout the Trust. Data Quality also forms part 
of monthly Directorate reports and from April 2012 
has been a standing agenda item on performance 
meetings with action plans in place to improve on 
performance. 

Reports monitoring the timeliness against the new 
target of within 2 hours for Admissions, Discharges 
& Transfers (ADT) have been set up with links on 
the Data Quality sharepoint site for use by all 
operational inpatient areas. A monthly Data Quality  
ADT matrix report detailing the top three areas of 
concern across all divisions is reported monthly to 
Matrons and Lead Nurses and is monitored via the 
Nursing & Midwifery Performance Committee.

The terms of reference and membership of the Data 
Quality Project Board are currently being reviewed; 
this board focuses on areas of concern requiring 
improvement in data quality.

The Trust employs a team of Data Quality staff who 
raise the importance of good data quality and also 
participates in the training of staff as it relates to 
Data Quality for the use of the Trust’s main systems. 

The development of a new Data Quality training 
package is completed and is currently being 
delivered to all ward clerks. This will facilitate 
refresher training for key members of staff 
for whom attendance will be mandated. After 
successful completion of the course staff will be 
issued with a certificate. If the staff member is not 
successful, additional training will be provided 
and the opportunity to retake the course offered. 
Any further data quality development needs will 
be agreed with the staff member and their line 
manager. 
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National Quality Indicators
Set out in the tables below are the Department of Health mandatory quality indicators that trusts are required 
to report in their Quality Accounts.

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons:

The Trust has monitored compliance rates with the 
completion of the PROMs forms to ensure that it 
provides an appropriate sample size for reporting. 
An annual external assurance visit by Quality Health 
found that the Trust had good systems and processes 
in place for data collection and monitoring.

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust has 
taken the following actions to improve this score 
and so the quality of its services, by  Introducing a 

‘Joint School’ in Orthopaedics where patients are 
given dedicated time to complete the PROMs form 
as well as reporting compliance rates and reporting 
the PROMs outcome scores on our Clinical Quality 
Dashboards.  

Over the next 12 months the Trust will increase the 
scrutiny of performance through the Clinical Quality 
Performance Group with the Associate Medical 
Director for Surgery taking the lead for PROMs 
reporting and monitoring and improved feedback to 
clinicians through the provision of consultant level 
information as part of their revalidation process.

Patient Reported Outcome 
Measures Scores 

2010/11 2011/12
Trust performance 

Latest 
Apr-Dec 2012

National 
Average

Lowest 
reported 

Trust

Highest 
Reported 

Trust

(i) groin hernia surgery 0.066 0.090 0.088 0.090 0.017 0.153

(ii) varicose vein surgery 0.114 0.144 0.110 0.089 0.027 0.138

(iii) hip replacement surgery 0.354 0.374 0.381 0.429 0.328 0.5

(iv) knee replacement surgery 0.28 0.286 0.344 0.321 0.201 0.408



105

Percentage of patients readmitted 
to a hospital which forms part of 
the trust within 28 days of being 
discharged from a hospital which 
forms part of the trust during the 

reporting period. 

2008/09 2009/10

Trust 
performance 

Latest 
2010/11

National 
Average

Lowest 
reported 

Trust

Highest 
Reported 

Trust

(i) 0 to 14 9.66% 11.07% 11.58% 10.15% 0.00% 25.80%

(ii) 15 or over 13.94% 13.19% 14.09% 11.42% 0.00% 15.33%

• The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons; that this is provided and 
calculated by the Information Centre. The 
Trust notes the dip in palliative care coding 
performance in the latest data published in 
April 2013.

 
• The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 

has taken the following actions to improve this 
performance and so the quality of its services, 
by:

 
• Reviewing our HSMR and a more detailed 

mortality analysis, based on the Outcome 
Framework, at both our Clinical Quality 
Performance Group and Mortality and Morbidity 
Groups. 

• Where appropriate undertaking reviews to look 
for opportunities for improving care.

In 2013/14 the Trust will:

• Undertake an audit of the quality of palliative 
care coding to ensure that it complies with 
national guidance and will work closely with 
the palliative care team to implement any 
recommendations arising from the audit.

• Currently exploring other tools to provide a 
more rounded picture of care.

Indicator
Apr 2011- 
Mar 2012

July 2011 – 
June 2012

Trust 
performance 

Latest
Oct 2011-Sept 

2012

National 
Average

Lowest 
reported 

Trust

Highest 
Reported 

Trust

The value and banding of the summary 
hospital-level mortality indicator 

(“SHMI”) for the trust for the reporting 
period.

1.0267 
(Band 2)

1.0224 
(Band 2)

1.0274
 (Band 2)

1.00
0.6849 

(Band 3)
1.2107 

(Band 1)

The percentage of patient deaths with 
palliative care coded at either diagnosis 

or specialty level for the trust for the 
reporting period.

19.0% 18.5% 16.7% 19.2% 0.2% 43.3%

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons:

The Trust is showing as having a higher than average 
readmission rate, however it must be noted that the 
nationally reported figures are 2 years in arrears. 

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
the following actions to improve this percentage 
and so the quality of its services, by improving its 
communication and working relationships with 
primary care partners, and by improving its discharge 
planning processes.

The Trust recognises that further work needs to be 
undertaken in this area over the next 12 months and 
as such will increase its focus on discharge planning 
though the implementation of a Trust wide project 
that  provides Predicted Discharge Dates for patients 
and ensures that any  constraints to meeting that 
discharge date are removed.

The Trust will also undertake further detailed 
analysis of its readmissions data to identify specific 
areas of concern and undertake targeted work in 
those areas to improve performance.
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Indicator 2009/10 2010/11

Trust 
performance 

Latest 
2011/12

National 
Average

Lowest 
reported 

Trust

Highest 
Reported 

Trust

Trust’s responsiveness to the 
personal needs of its patients during 

the reporting period
65.9%

Figures not 
available

66.5% 67.4% 56.4% 85%

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons:

A total of 355 inpatients gave feedback during 
2012, a response rate of 42%. In terms of the overall 
care experience, patients gave the Trust a score of 
7.9 out of 10. The most improved measure was:

• 12% increase in patients who received adequate 
help to eat meals.

• 4% overall increase in satisfaction relating to the 
section ‘Doctors and Nurses’ with a 4% increase 
in patients who fully understood answers to 
questions and had confidence in the doctors.

Good satisfaction scores were also achieved for:

• high standards of cleanliness
• patient privacy
• timely admittance to hospital into appropriate 

accommodation
• Information about anaesthesia. 

Whilst the majority of patient comments were 
praise for the level of professionalism displayed 
by staff and their duty of care. The survey results 
are lower than average due to a fall in the number 
of patients who said they were always able to 
talk about their worries and concerns with fewer 
patients saying they fully understood explanations 
about operations and procedures compared to 
previous years.

Concerns raised by patients regarding their ability 
to talk about any worries or concerns has been 
picked up as part of a trust-wide drive to improve 
awareness of the Patient Services Department (a 
joint PALS / complaints service). In addition to the 
support already provided by ward staff, a new 
hospital-based information booklet and bed-
side folders are backed by posters and trained 
volunteers to help increase the visibility of support 
and assistance available. A regular audit of the 
Patient Information and Advice Database (PAID) 
is also being used to track the issue of patient 
information leaflets during consultations. Awarded  
the ‘Information Standard’  quality mark for the 
third successive year (indicating that the Trust has 
a reliable source of health information), the PAID 
material is being used to ensure patients have 
information to take home and share as appropriate 
that explains about any planned operations and 
procedures. These will continue to be monitored 
closely through the remainder of 2013/14. 

Additional efforts are being made to ensure patients 
are aware of their discharge date and informed 
about the side effects of medication. 

In support of discharge planning, the ‘Jonah 
Discharge Planning Tool’ database  is now widely 
used throughout the Trust. This predictive planning 
tool enables ward teams to proactively manage the 
patient’s discharge process by focusing on defining 
clear plans for the patient’s say on the ward. 
Supported by daily team meetings (comprising 
doctors, nurses and support workers), any potential 
discharge problems are identified earlier in the 
process. This gives clinical teams more time to resolve 
any issues and plan a smooth discharge for patients 
in a timely manner. Since its introduction in 2012, 
the score for this measure has increased significantly 
on the hospital metrics system; increasing from 51% 
satisfaction in May 2012 to 70% in April 2013.

To ensure patients have information about their 
medication; extra time is now being taken by staff 
dispensing medication to make patients aware of 
the information leaflet; outlining potential side 
effects as well as talking these through with patients 
and answering any questions. 

Work also continues around generally improving 
call buzzer reaction times and ensuring patients 
are involved in decisions about treatment. By 
triangulating monthly patient survey results with 
feedback taken from peer reviews and complaints 
data, site-based teams are able to track satisfaction 
levels and drill down to individual ward / clinic areas 
where additional focus is required. A combination 
of patient-led inspections, coupled with staff 
training and patient workshops are being used to 
address these issues. Monthly monitoring of results 
is also helping to track improvements and provide 
Board assurance as required.  

In light of these results and in response to a drive 
to continually improve patient satisfaction, the 
Trust has developed a real-time patient experience 
reporting tool. This uses a combination of volunteers 
and non-clinical managers to ask patients a series of 
questions based on the national inpatient survey. 
Patients are also invited to say whether they would 
recommend the service to Friends and Family at the 
end of their stay; providing the Trust with a Friends 
and Family score. 

Together with the patient experience metrics and 
the nursing metrics, the Friends and Family score 
has proven to be an accurate indicator of overall 
patient satisfaction levels. The results are used to 
initiate deeper reviews into services, monitor trends 
and, where appropriate, develop action plans. Most 
recently, actions have included running ‘goldfish 
bowl’ reflective learning workshops and delivering 
bespoke customer care programmes for front line 
staff. These initiatives will be further developed 
through 2013/14 in response to the views and 
opinions of patients, families and carers. 
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Indicator Q1 2012/13 Q2 2012/13

Trust 
performance 

Latest 
Q3 2012/13

National 
Average

Lowest 
reported 

Trust

Highest 
Reported 

Trust

Percentage of patients who were 
admitted to hospital and who 
were risk assessed for venous 
thromboembolism during the 

reporting period

93.10% 94.70% 93.80% 94.10% 84.60% 100.00%

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: VTE risk assessments are currently 
consistently performed on > 90% of patients during 
hospital inpatient / day case episode achieving the 
current national CQUIN target of > 90%. 

The Heart of England Foundation NHS Trust plans 
to introduce the following actions to improve this 
target to > 95% and so the quality of its services, 
by introducing more frequent feedback of risk 
assessment rates to individual consultants and 
thereby their clinical teams to maintain vigilance in 
this process.

Indicator 2010 2011

Trust 
performance 

Latest 
2012

National 
Average

Lowest 
reported 

Trust

Highest 
Reported 

Trust

Percentage of staff employed by, or 
under contract to, the trust during 
the reporting period who would 

recommend the trust as a provider 
of care to their family or friends

47.00% 55.00% 55.00% 63.00% 35.00% 94%

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons:

The Trust believes that the current climate within 
the NHS is having a significant impact on both staff 
morale, and their views and perceptions of the care 
delivered, not just at HEFT but across the whole 
of the NHS. It does recognise that the percentage 
is below the national average and wants to work 
with its staff to fully understand the reasons behind 
this.  HEFT is committed to the delivery of excellent 
patient care and in supporting its workforce. Whilst 
we have not seen any change in this figure in the 
last 12 months, we did see a significant increase 
from the 2010 figure and are currently working on a 
range of staff engagement and patient satisfaction 
improvements.

The Trust is undertaking a range of work to focus 
on the delivery of the best possible care to patients, 
whilst at the same time, focusing on improving staff 
morale and wellbeing.

• A project that examines the link between nursing 
metrics, patient experience and staff experience 
is being undertaken, with the underlying focus 
on harm free care. 

• We are reviewing our OD strategy and focusing 
on how we ensure that patient and staff safety 

is closely linked.  This is involving a multi-
professional, collaborative working model, with 
a focus on true culture change.

• The Trust is the first to fully support the 
implementation of supervisory ward leaders.  
This will have a significant impact on the quality 
of nursing care, the patient outcomes and 
experience, and ultimately, in the morale and 
wellbeing of staff.  

• The Trust undertakes regularly safety walkabouts 
that focus on patient and staff safety.

• The Trust has a dedicated patient safety team 
and have lead on innovative approaches to 
improve patient safety and support staff in the 
delivery of care.

• The Trust has developed a wide range of staff 
wellbeing and support processes over the past 
12 months, including a website and telephone 
support, this is aimed at keeping staff well, 
thereby enabling them to deliver the best 
quality care.

• The Trust will be fully exploring all outcomes 
from the staff survey and ensuring a robust 
response and action plan is developed.

This work will be ongoing over a period of time, and 
we believe will begin to see an improvement in this 
percentage over the next 2 years.
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Indicator 2009/10 2010/11

Trust 
performance 

Latest 
2011/12

National 
Average

Lowest 
reported 

Trust

Highest 
Reported 

Trust

Rate per 100,000 bed days of cases 
of C.difficile infection reported 

within the trust amongst patients 
aged 2 or over during the reporting 

period

37.9 32.6 23.2 21.8 0.00 51.60

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons, reflecting as it does, a drop from 
a rate of 32.6 in the 2010-2011 year, which was due 
to a comprehensive C difficile control programme 
which included:

• A deep cleaning programme across 2 of the 
hospital sites.

• RCA of all post-48 hour cases based on infection 
control criteria, and antibiotic audits, with feed-
back to clinical and ward teams.

• Detailed Period of Increased Incidence reviews, 
with feedback, for affected wards.

• Reduction in the number of C. difficile outbreaks 
across the Trust.

The Heart of England Foundation NHS Trust, in 
addition to the items listed above, has introduced 

the following actions to improve this rate, and so 
the quality of its services. These are:

• Introduction of the new agent fidaxomycin into 
the treatment algorithm for C. difficile.

• A project with Solihull Primary Care, mapping the 
medical and antibiotic history of the community 
and hospital C difficile patients for the period 
September-December 2012. This is being done 
to obtain a more detailed understanding of 
the overall “antibiotic pressures” that could 
influence development of disease. 

• The development of a service providing faecal 
transplants to patients with protracted/relapsing 
C. difficile infection. This is a new initiative in 
the West Midlands. 
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Indicator
Apr 11 - 
Sep 11

Oct 11 - 
Mar 12

Trust 
performance 

Latest 
Apr 12 - Sep 12

National 
Average

Lowest 
reported 

Trust

Highest 
Reported 

Trust

Number of patient safety 
incidents reported within the 

trust during the reporting period
6,668 5,660 6,440 4,060 859 6,485

 Rate of patient safety incidents 
reported within the trust during 

the reporting period
6.03 5.12 5.8 6.2 1.99 13.61

The number of such patient 
safety incidents that resulted in 

severe harm or death. 
89 67 98 29 2 98

Percentage of such patient 
safety incidents that resulted in 

severe harm or death. 
1.30% 1.20% 1.50% 0.72% 0.04% 2.50%

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons:

The Trust considers a high level of incident reporting 
as a sign of a good safety culture and actively 
encourages staff to report both clinical and non 
clinical incidents. We have had a relatively stable 
incident reporting profile for the last few years with 
just under 20,000 incidents reported from April 
2012 to March 2013. These incidents include both 
patient safety incidents (which are subsequently 
uploaded to the National Reporting and Learning 
System (NRLS)) and other categories of incidents (for 
example those that affect staff or property and have 
no actual or potential clinical impact on patients).
 
As part of our incident reporting process we 
identify patient clinical incidents which need to be 
uploaded to the NRLS and provide regular uploads 
to this system.  The NRLS publish some of this data 
as national statistics as well as providing bi-annual 
reports for individual organisations. 

During 2011/12 we revisited our incident reporting 
process and system to try and make it easier for staff 
to report incidents. One of the outcomes of this 
review was a change of incident grading from our 
local categories of Red, Amber, Yellow and Green to 
the nationally recognised categories of “Catastrophic 
Harm / Death”, “Severe Harm”, “Moderate Harm”, 
“Low Harm” and “No Harm”, which are based 
upon the reported level of harm associated with 
the incident. Whilst incident categorisation will 
always remain a subjective process, over 2012/13 we 
have worked with key groups of staff to develop 
reporting guidance for how certain incidents should 
be categorised. We will continue to build on this 
work in 2013/14.

This year, working in close collaboration with our 
commissioners, we have also had significant focus 
on the reporting and investigation of tissue viability, 
patient falls and healthcare acquired infection 
incidents. We have developed robust bespoke root 
cause analysis tools that are used to identify root 
causes and contributory factors and support the 
learning from these types of incidents.

The Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust intends 
to take the following actions to maintain/increase 
the total rate of patient safety incidents reported 
within the Trust and so the quality of its services, by:

• Continue to review the incident reporting 
process and liaise with key users to make this as 
streamlined as possible 

• Further develop our quarterly incident analysis 
reports and encourage directorates to improve 
reporting of incidents that are important to 
them locally as well as the ones that have a 
more trust wide focus

• Further develop our framework for investigating 
and learning from all catastrophic and severe 
harm incidents, sharing this learning with the 
Trust and our commissioners.
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Part 3: 

Further information
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A pocket safety manual for nurses working 
with adult patients was launched in July 
2011. This was the first in a series of safety 
manuals designed to help practitioners to 
deliver safe, reliable evidence based care 
at the bedside.  

The adult pocket safety manual has 
evaluated very positively and there have 

been a number of enquiries for similar 
safety manuals for other staff groups. This 
prompted the development of the next in 
the series: a Trust safety manual for nurses 
working with infants children and young 
people.

Trust Pocket Safety Manuals

The Paediatric Safety Manual was formally 
launched a year later in August 2012.  Since 
its launch a survey has been conducted to 
evaluate its impact.  The survey shows that:  

• 95% of nurses surveyed had received 
their manual

• 90% of nurses had their manual with 
them at work

• 100% agreed that the manual was a 
useful resource 

• 71% of nurses advised that they had used 
their manual

Also, during the last year the Patient 
Safety Team, a lead Emergency 
Department (ED) consultant and medical 
illustration team have been developing a 
doctors’ version of the safety manual. The 
doctors’ safety manual is taking the form 
of an Application for smart phones for 
two reasons:- firstly, a survey undertaken 
in ED revealed that 90% of junior doctors 
have a personal mobile phone which can 
accommodate APPs; and secondly, with 
advancing SMART phone technology the 

natural progression of the safety manual 
is in APP format. The APP has been piloted 
in ED with the aim of launch this in March 
2013. 

The Doctors’ APP will be able to download 
the APP from the ITunes store. It will also 
be made available in alternative formats 
(desk top version via the Intranet and 
android version) for those staff that do 
not have an Iphone. 

Doctors’ Safety Manual

During 2012-2013 the patient safety team 
has continued to work with clinical teams 
on several patient safety improvement 
programmes. These include:

As a Trust, the aim is that everyone in the organisation always puts the highest possible 
value on patient safety in every decision they make.  Several work streams have been 
initiated and refined over the last 12 months which demonstrates the Trust’s continuing 
commitment to improving patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience.

The data sources for the indicators included in this section are governed by standard 
national definitions. 
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In September 2012 the Patient Safety Team held a 
focused campaign on safety throughout the Trust. 
The initiative was called ‘SAFETY SEPTEMBER’ 
and activities and communications focussed on 
a different topic each week. They also linked to 
national initiatives which were happening during 
the month.  

Week 1: 3 - 7 Sept        
Medication Safety 

Week 2: 10 - 14 Sept   
Sepsis Awareness (World Sepsis Day 13 Sept) 

Week 3: 17 - 21 Sept    
Staff Safety 

Week 4: 24 - 28 Sept    
Safer Surgery (Patient Safety First Safer Surgery 
Week) 

The aim of the campaign was to raise the profile 
of specific safety issues through events and 
communications and for safety initiatives to be 
driven and owned by frontline staff.

Local engagement was exceptional with a total of 
72 local events held across the Trust relating to the 
four topics. The events took place in a range of areas 
including Emergency Department (ED), the Acute 
Medical Unit (AMU), wards, education centres and 
theatres. 

Events were organised by a range of clinical teams, 
including Hospital at Night team and the Hollier 
Simulation Team. The events took place in a range of 
areas including ED, AMU, wards, education centre, 
and theatres.

Safety September Campaign

A “surgical crime scene” and simulation sessions 
were set up whereby clinicians had to spot the 10 
deliberate mistakes in the preparation of a patient 
prior to surgery (safer surgery week)

An interactive simulation session demonstrated the 
importance of team work and collaboration for 
‘safer surgery’.

Staff on Ward 14 at Good Hope Hospital wore a red 
apron while conducting medication rounds.  The aim 
of the trial was to establish if wearing the red apron 
helped to minimise disturbances and interruptions 
whilst administering medication.

As well as local events, a range of communications 
messages and resources were distributed to areas. These 
included top tips cards, communication messages each 
day, pens, posters, lanyards post it notes and ski passes. 
All the resources contained simple safety messages to 
reinforce best practice. 

A random survey of 145 staff conducted after the Safety 
September Campaign revealed that 81% had heard 
about the Safety September campaign:   

• 77% of staff surveyed 
felt engaged by the 
campaign  

• 64% of staff surveyed 
learnt something new 
from the campaign  

• 82% of staff surveyed 
wanted to see a similar 
campaign in 2013
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Safety September Competition 

A competition for teams to win funding and 
support for a safety improvement project was also 
launched during the Safety September Campaign. 
The response to the competition was overwhelming. 
A total of 19 entries were received from which 
two winners were selected and both projects are 

underway.  The first project is to develop a Diabetes 
Application for mobile phones to support clinical 
practice. The second is an initiative to develop 
medicine safety champion model across the Trust. 
Both of these initiatives support the Trust’s priority 
to improve medicines safety across the Trust.

Medication Safety

Following an extensive review of a range of data 
sources, it has been decided that improving 
medication safety will be the Trust’s number one 
safety priority for the coming year.  An animated 
video was created to launch the project and to 
highlight the impact every staff member can have 
on medication safety.  Within the medication 
safety project, improvement workstreams will 

focus on two key areas; minimising the amount 
of avoidable missed medication doses; and 
promoting safe administration and management 
of anticoagulation therapy.  Initial work has begun 
to diagnose the current issues within these areas, 
before interventions to improve patient safety can 
be tested, refined and implemented. 

Patient Safety Walkabouts

Regular patient safety walkabouts continue to be 
conducted by the executive team.  The walkabouts 
give frontline staff the opportunity to discuss safety 
issues with the executive team.  Several safety 
improvements have been initiated as a consequence 
of the patient safety walkabouts conducted this 
year.  These include: 

• Removal of frosting on bay windows on two 
wards on the Birmingham Heartlands Hospital 
site to improve visibility of vulnerable patient 
groups.

• Approval and purchase of a medication for 
the following escalation of a safety issue 
at a Haematology/Oncology Directorate 
walkabout on the Good Hope Hospital site. 

• Triage systems reviewed and a triage room 
identified and trialled to facilitate more timely 
patient assessments in the AMU on the Solihull 
site.
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Safety Focused Newsletters

Several safety focused newsletters continue to be 
produced within the Trust.  The aim of these newsletters 
is to improve awareness of patient safety and ensure 
lessons are shared across the organisation.  A new 
edition to the newsletters this year is the ‘Mortality 
Digest’. This newsletter is produced three times a year.  
The aim is to share issues identified within mortality 
reviews.  Most areas within the organisation review the 
notes of patients who die under their care and look for 
any opportunities for improvement, good practice or 
short comings.  The digest shares the findings of any 

common themes within these reviews to assist learning 
across the Trust.

In order to ensure lessons are learned from incidents 
and that they are identified and widely disseminated 
throughout the organisation, a new safety, learning 
and engagement manager post has been established 
during 2012/13.  Several communication strategies to 
encourage and support organisational learning have 
been initiated with the creation of this post.  These 
include:

S
a
fe

ty
 C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti

o
n

s 
st

ra
te

g
y

Le
a
rn

in
g

 l
e
ss

o
n

s 
a
n

d
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

Lesson of the month 

Lesson of the month which was launched in 
September 2012, with an aim to help promote and 
cascade essential learning from incidents throughout 
the organisation.  Each month a different lesson and 
key learning is launched by the Chief Executive at his 

team brief.  The lesson of the month initiative is still 
in its early stages and the plans are to promote wide 
dissemination of the lessons via a variety of different 
communication methods. 

of staff surveyed wanted to 
see a

“82%
similar campaign

in 2013”
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A communication strategy to 
share learning from serious 
untoward incidents (SUI) has 
also been developed.  The aim 
is to share key learning from 
any SUI which occurs within the 
organisation.  A short report 
summarising the key learning 
points, is produced and widely 
cascaded to ensure that lessons 
from adverse events are shared.

Communication strategy to share learning 
from serious untoward incidents 

Innovative

115
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We have nine wards nominated as ‘Change 
Champions’ for Reducing Hospital Acquired Pressure 
Ulcers, trialling a number of tools progress of the 
programme includes:                             

• A daily harm alert e mail is now sent to all of our 
ward sisters/charge nurses updating them when 
any harms from pressure ulcers or injurious falls 
are reported, more recently we have added the 
numbers reported during the month which is 
very visible reminder of numbers reported.

• We have developed a toolkit comprising of 
practical tools to use to reduce harm as well as 
articles and information. 

• Each of the Trust’s inpatient sites run their 
own monthly forum for pressure ulcers 
reviewing Root Cause Analyses for decisions on 
‘Avoidability’ and ‘Unavoidability’ with ward 
managers discussing pressure ulcers with the 
Head Nurses as well as the Tissue Viability Nurse 
for the site.

• During October and early November ward 
managers were asked from three wards on each 
site to become Change Champions for reducing 
avoidable pressure ulcers at the Trust.

• The Tissue Viability team as part of the project 
has been visiting their wards promoting good 
practice and prevention.

• Four extra training days aimed at Ward Managers 
and senior nurses on prevention and the SSKIN  
principles as well on completing RCA’s and the 
decision on ‘avoidability’ have been initiated.

• With dedication and leadership each ward has 
piloted different ways to reduce the numbers of 
pressure ulcers.

• Although piloting differing tools and approaches 
have had varying success which suggests it is the 
tool used as well as leadership, commitment 
and knowledge from staff that contribute to 
eliminating pressure ulcers on our wards.

• Staff have used their Jonah  boards  to highlight 
at risk patients.

• Safety Crosses to locally visualise the progress of 
initiatives staff have put in place.                   

• The most successful visual tools to date are the 
Reposition Clock used by Ward 30 at Heartlands 
Hospital and the SSKIN bundle which its initial 
version has been used on Ward 12 at Good 
Hope Hospital (last reported Hospital Acquired 
Pressure Ulcer was mid December prior to 
the SSKIN bundle being launched) and more 

recently used on Ward 9 and Ward 11 at Good 
Hope Hospital, Rowan Ward (now over a month 
free of reported pressure ulcers) and Ward 3 at 
Heartlands Hospital.     

• Following feedback from Ward 12 and Ward 
9 at GoodHope Hospital the SSKIN bundle has 
been refined and the refined tool will be used 
on Ward 19 at Solihull Hospital from Friday the 
15th of February 2013.

• Ward 18 at Solihull Hospital with increased 
awareness on the SSKIN principles have also not 
reported a hospital acquired pressure ulcer since 
2012.

• The refined SSKIN tool will be discussed at the 
next Nursing and Midwifery Board and senior 
nurse away days for possible wider use.

• As part of the project the Tissue Viability team 
has been working in a preventative approach 
on these wards to support the existing training 
they have developed bite size training sessions 
which they hope to roll out and test on these 
our Pilot wards.

This combined approach, of allowing staff to 
take the lead on how they reduce the numbers of 
hospital acquired pressure ulcers on their ward areas 
and support from the Tissue Viability and Corporate 
Nursing, is changing practice which is focused on 
emulating this across the Trust.

‘Harm free care at HEFT’ is a programme of work focused on listening to our staff, 
patients and correlating this with harm from pressure ulcers and injurious falls. 

The aim is to use ward level information to enable staff to understand how their ward 
could reduce harm.  

Harm free care at the Trust

3SSKIN is a five step model for pressure ulcer prevention:

Surface: make sure your patients have the right support.

Skin inspection:  early inspection means early detection. Show 
patients & carers what to look for.

Keep your patients moving.

Incontinence/moisture:  your patients need to be clean and dry.

Nutrition/hydration: help patients have the right diet.

2The Jonah programme is a national initiative which has 
been developed using the several principles which support 
effective operational management.  A key feature has been 
visual management to ensure the planned patient journey is 
visible, along with their progress.  There is a heavy emphasis 
on coaching to develop leadership, improvement and problem 
solving skills at ward level.  

The aim of ‘Jonah’ is to provide safe and timely care as planned 
by the multidisciplinary team.  Experience has shown this will 
reduce length of stay and increase the number of patients who 
are discharged as planned each day.

3Jonah Boards: Patient status at a glance interactive boards
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In June 2012 the Trust implemented 
new syringe infusion pumps, Alaris 
GH, and included Guardrail (Dose 
Error Reduction (DER)) software in 
these pumps across Birmingham 
Heartlands and Solihull Hospitals to 
improve patient safety and replace 
ageing pumps.

All SUIs occurring in the Trust are logged into the 
Datix risk management system. Details of those 
incidents where a medical device was involved 
are identified and discussed at the Medical 
Devices Committee meetings. These incidents are 
investigated to determine the causes and identify 
control measures required to prevent reoccurrences. 

Out of the 118 medical device incidents reported 
in 2012 (January to December), 20 incidents (24%) 
were related to infusion pumps of which 85% (17 
incidents) were found to be user error. All infusion 
pump incidents were followed up with verification 

of user competency and targeted training by the 
Faculty of Education, Medical Device Trainers.  In a 
review of 2011 and 2010 the number of incidents of 
pump user error was stable (18 and 19 respectively), 
which is notable given the large increase in infusions 
administered by pumps over the past three years. 
It is anticipated that this work will help to further 
reduce this next year as a result of the Trust’s 
introduction of DER software, Guardrail.

Analysis of data gathered from this software for the 
period since its introduction Birmingham Heartlands 
and Solihull Hospitals has highlighted the major 
impact that this technology has had already on 
patient safety. In the timeframe July to December 
2012, 14,287 infusions were administered; 94 Hard 
Maximum Limit Breaches occurred. After detailed 
analysis 29 of these were considered likely to have 
caused over infusion of the drug involved. All 29 
errors detected and prevented involved only three 
drugs, in order of frequency, Heparin, Insulin and 
Furosemide. 

Introduction of Guardrail Software

Data gathered indicates what errors were made 
with which drugs, it also indicates peak time periods 
for errors (highlighted in this report as Mondays 
between 9am and 10am) and allows us to identify 
adjustments which may need to be made to the 
limits set in the software for certain drugs as clinical 
practice changes. Further interrogation reports for 
this software are planned for 2013 to monitor and 

track incidents in order to adjust profile templates 
and modify staff training in response to the data 
collected.  

Introduction of Alaris GH Syringe pumps will be 
introduced to Good Hope Hospital on 30th January 
2013 and to all volumetric pumps by year end.

Drug Total > 1 - 1.5 > 1.5 - 2 > 2 - 2.5 > 2.5 - 5 > 5 - 10 > 10 -50 > 50 - 100 > 100

Heparin 32 22 7 1 1 1

Insulin (Actrapid) 25 18 1 2 3 1

FUROSemide 20 3 7 8 1 1

Propofol 8 8

Magnesiun 2.5g 3 3

Metaraminol 2 2

Alfentanil 1 1

Ca Gluoonate 10% 1 1

Insulin 10 Dex 50% 1 1

Phenytoin 1 1

All Drugs 94 53 8 1 9 11 10 1 1
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Following on from the work that the Trust 
carried out with regard to Nursing Metrics, 
there has been further development of a 
community equivalent that uses standards 
relevant to community services and a 
process that is appropriate to teams working 
in the community setting. This was rolled 
out to the five Community Nursing (district 
nursing teams) in July 2013; Virtual Wards 
and Single Point of Access in February 
2013; and the team is currently working on 
metrics for Podiatric Surgery and Children’s 
Community Nursing team.  Going forward 
the Trust will be looking at other service 
areas and how community metrics can be 
developed that are appropriate within the 
context of services they provide.

The Trust has developed Adult Community 
VITAL for nurses.  This builds on the VITAL 
work already undertaken aiming to make 
it more relevant to nurses working in 
the community setting. The first phase 
(formative phase) was launched in 
December 2012 which will run for three 
months and is intend for the second phase 
and is intended to run for three months 

over the summer. The Trust will be looking 
at a community children’s phase to this 
project in the future.

The community services Dental service is 
working towards QIDS (Quality in Dental 
Services). This is an accreditation scheme 
run by the British Dental Association and 
requires submission of evidence against 
a number of standards and will involve 
an assessment process. The service is 
in the process of working towards the 
accreditation which will then last for three 
years.

The Trust was awarded Unicef Baby friendly 
Stage 3 scoring 100% on the majority of 
the 43 assessment criteria and standards. 
This has never been awarded by the senior 
assessor before and the Trust Community 
Services are one of the few communities to 
receive this award.  The themes that came 
through were extremely positive; excellent 
communication and listening skills, 
providing information in an effective way 
with high quality resources and facilities. 
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Safe & Caring

Although the Trust narrowly 
missed achieving the MRSA 
reduction trajectory, it has 
continued to demonstrate a 
reduction in post 48 hours 
MRSA bacteraemia during 
2012/13. 7 bacteraemias 
were recorded, against a 
target of 6 (compared to 8 
against a target of 7 in the 
previous year). 

Despite a very challenging target, the 
Trust were very successful in achieving 
the C.difficile trajectory. As at 31st 
March 2013, there have been 86 cases, 
this compares to the target of no more 
than 124 of post 72 hour toxin positive 
cases. The overall trend of performance 
across the year is illustrated in the 
graph following. During the year 
the infection prevention and control 
team have focused training on 
C.difficile management.  The full year 
“threshold” of 67 (orange dots on the 
graph following) for 2013-2014 shows 
the challenges for next year.
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Cumulative Number of MRSA Bacteraemias at HEFT (Post 48hrs):

C diff (toxin positive cases)-post-48 hours; 2012-13:

120
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The Infection Prevention and Control team has 
continued an active teaching and audit programme. 
There has been an ongoing overall improvement 
of audit scores particularly in the Saving Lives 
audit programme, hand hygiene and commode 
cleanliness. Infection control scores on the nursing 
metrics have also improved. The team continue to 
be involved in the considerable number of new 
build and refurbishment programmes during the 
year particularly on the Good Hope site. Compliance 
with MRSA screening continues with approximately 
90% now reported for emergency admissions on a 
matched patient basis (this is recognised to be the 
most accurate reporting system although technically 
difficult). Full compliance is reported for elective 
admissions.
 

As part of MRSA and E.coli bacteraemia surveillance 
the team continued to develop a health economy 
catheter passport to improve the management and 
reduce infection in catheterised patients. This will 
be rolled out fully to all acute and community units 
as a health economy project in 2013/14. Results 
from the surgical site infection study carried out 
in collaboration with the orthopaedic directorate, 
using a temporary research nurse (with commercial 
sponsorship) demonstrated a significant reduction in 
infection following the novel antiseptic preparation.

Results of the European point prevalence study of 
hospital acquired infection were published with 
Good Hope as the Trust’s study site. The Trust’s 
benchmark against other European hospitals, which 
took part for both healthcare acquired infections 
and antimicrobial prescribing, was excellent.    

Solihull Community Services: The dedicated Infection 
Control Operational Committee was incorporated 
into the  Trust’s infection Prevention and Control 
Committee improving infection control across 
Solihull Community Services. 

For the past three years Solihull Community Services 
has had no reported cases of MRSA or C. difficile. 
Solihull Community Services also continued to 
achieve 100% compliance in MRSA screening this 
year, as was the case in the previous three years. 

An online system was developed for staff to input 
infection control (Essential steps) audits successfully. 
Reporting of these audits will be developed 
in 2013/14 as for the Trust’s  Infection control 
dashboards and site reports.

Progress

 Innovation “compliance
with

MRSA
screening

continues”
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Incident Reporting

The Trust actively encourages the reporting of all types of incidents to ensure that lessons can be learnt from 
such occurrences. A high level of incident reporting is considered to be an indication of a good safety culture.  

The definition of an incident is very broad and can be considered as any event which causes or has the potential 
to cause any of the following:

• Harm to an individual;
• Financial loss to an individual or the Trust;
• Damage to the property of an individual or the Trust;
• Disruption to services provided by the Trust;
• Damage to the reputation of the Trust. 

Approximately 20,000 incidents are reported by 
Trust staff each year. As illustrated in the “Where are 
incidents reported from” chart these are reported 
from all locations where Trust services are provided, 
this includes primary care settings and patients’ own 
homes. 

As expected the majority of incidents are reported 
from Heartlands, Good Hope and Solihull Hospitals, 
reflecting where we provide most of our services.

Top 10 categories of incidents
The top 10 types of incidents 
reported are illustrated in the 
graph following. In line with 
national priorities, there has 
been much local work, described 
elsewhere in this document, 
to strengthen the reporting of 
patient falls and tissue viability 
incidents. These are now 
supported by a robust framework 
to report, investigate and learn 
from the most harmful of these 
incidents, which in turn is reflected 
by patient falls and tissue viability 
incidents being amongst the most 
frequently reported incidents.
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When staff report an incident they are asked to consider the level of harm to the person, property or services 
that has occurred, in summary the level can be: 

• Catastrophic/death: Death directly attributed to the incident / Multiple permanent injuries or irreversible health 
effects

• Severe: Causing permanent and significant harm
• Moderate: Causing significant but not permanent damage
• Low: Requiring extra observation or minor treatments
• No harm: Any incident that caused or resulted in no harm done

Whilst this can only be a very subjective assessment at the time of the incident, and may change as we learn 
more about the incident or outcome of the incident, we use this grading to identify the incidents that we want 
to investigate using root cause analysis (RCA) to identify learning. 

4Levels of harm as outlined in the National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS)

We also use this as one way to identify the most 
serious of our incidents which we investigate in line 
with our Trust’s SUI Policy)

In 2012/13 we identified and investigated eleven 
SUIs, three of which were ‘Never Events’. 

The breakdown by site on which the SUI occurred as 
well as previous years’ data for comparison is listed 
in the following table.

This year the Trust has focussed on strengthening 
the tools used for actively sharing and disseminating 
the learning from SUIs with ‘Safety Lessons of the 
Month’, doctors’ ‘Risky Business Forum’ and ‘SUI: 
At a glance’ reports and trust wide cascade process. 
This focus will continue in 2013/14.
 
‘Never Events’ are defined as “serious, largely 
preventable patient safety incidents that should 
not occur if the available preventative measures 
have been implemented by healthcare providers”. 
Each year the Department of Health updates the 
list of Never Events and the associated guidance to 
prevent or minimise the risk of such an event. 

Site
10 / 11 
Total

11 / 12 
Total

12 / 13 
YTD

Heartlands 
Hospital

8 11 7

Good Hope 
Hospital

5 1 3

Solihull
Hopsital

0 5 1

Total 14 17 10

Serious Incidents and Never Events
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To be a Never Event, an incident must fulfil the 
following criteria:

• The incident has clear potential for 
or has caused severe harm/death;

• There is evidence of occurrence in 
the past (i.e. it is a known source of 
risk);

• There is existing national 
guidance and/or national safety 
recommendations on how the event 
can be prevented and support for 
implementation;

• The event is largely preventable if 
the guidance is implemented;

• Occurrence can be easily defined, 
identified and continually measured. 

In 2012/13 there were 25 national Never Events 
listed, 23 of which are applicable to the acute and 
community services that the Trust provides.   

During 2012/13 the Trust reported three Never 
Events:

• Wrong site surgery (General 
Surgery) 

• Inappropriate administration of 
daily oral methotrexate (T&O)

• Retained foreign object post 
operation (O&G)

which were all investigated in line with the Trust’s 
SUI Policy and full action plans were developed to 
learn from these incidents and strive to prevent 
recurrence.

Communication

Vital and iskills learning resources
Simulation centre resources
Nursing safety manuals
Safety walk rounds and responsive safety review process
Risky business forums for junior doctors 

Documentation

Surgical Safety checklist / audit
Nursing Metrics
Trust – wide documentation audit
Safety Thermometer
Fluid balance monitoring documentation
NG tube policy and guideline

Medication

Safe Medication Practice Group
Medication Matters Newsletter
Improvement to Electronic Prescribing system
Refinement of anticoagulation chart
Oxygen prescribing working groups
Safety September: Focus on medicines safety 

Safer Surgery

Review of WHO safer surgery checklists
Sharing the learning from theatre related Never Events in 2011/12
Knowing the risk: Perioperative risk assessment / communication tool
Safer surgery summit and focus on safer surgery during Safety September

Learning from incidents

As well as learning from individual incidents the Trust looks at the trends of incident locations, types and 
outcomes of investigations to identify where focus is needed. This year we have continued to focus on the 
four themes of Communication, Documentation, Medication and Safer Surgery with a variety of work-streams, 
improvement projects, and forums linked to these themes. The following table lists a few of these initiatives 
with more information available in the patient safety section of this report. 



125

The Trust monitors its mortality rate monthly using 
the Hospital Standardised Mortality Rate (HSMR) 
available from Dr Foster and quarterly using the 
Summary Hospital Level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) 
produced and published by the Health and Social 
Care Information Centre. Both of these indicators 
are a ratio of the observed number of deaths over 
expected deaths given the characteristics of the 
patients treated by the Trust.

The main differences between these two indicators 
are that:

The SHMI monitors deaths from all diagnoses and 
includes both deaths in hospital and deaths 30 days 
after discharge.  It includes death from all diagnoses 
as opposed to the HSMR which covers only 80% of 
diagnoses and just in hospital deaths.

The SHMI covers a 12 month period and is published 
six months in arrears.  HSMR is available three months 
in arrears as monthly, year to date accumulative and 
annual HSMR.

The SHMI values are calculated using a ratio of 1 as 
the average and then categorised into one of the 
following three bandings for reporting:

1. where the Trust’s mortality rate is 
‘higher than expected’ 

2. where the trust’s mortality rate is 
‘as expected’ 

3. where the trust’s mortality rate is 
‘lower than expected’

HSMR is calculated by Dr Foster using 100 as the 
average and Dr Foster publically report the annual 
HSMR with similar commentaries groupings e.g. 
within expected range.

SHMI excludes palliative care codes and HSMR takes 
this into account.

This data is considered at the Trust’s Mortality 
and Morbidity group and also Clinical Quality 
Performance Group where mortality outcomes form 
part of a suite of indicators based on the outcomes 
framework. This data is also reported to Trust Board.
Both the SHMI and HSMR require careful 
interpretation, and should not be taken in isolation 
as a headline figure of a trust’s performance. It is best 
treated as a ‘smoke alarm’. They are an indication 
of whether individual trusts are conforming to the 
national baseline of hospital-related mortality. All 
trusts are encouraged to explore and understand 
the activity which underlies their SHMI and HSMR 
from their own data collection sources.

It should be noted that there continues to be a 
difference between the two indicators with our 
HSMR being within expected range but below the 
national average of 100 and the SHMI being within 
the expected range but above the national average. 
The Trust is undertaking further analysis to explore 
the possible reasons for this and this may help us to 
identify areas for focused continual improvement.

The trends in HSMR for the Trust and by site are 
shown following demonstrating natural monthly 
variation and following a progressive downward 
trend at Good Hope Hospital since 2008, all sites for 
this year remain within the expected.

Mortality Statistics
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Dr Foster Trust level HSMR 2006 - 12/13 ytd

Site 2006/7 2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 ytd

Trust Wide 111.4 104.3 98.1 99.5 97.8 98.2 98.1

BHH 111.5 104.8 98.0 94.0 96.0 100.9 98.8

GHH 124.0 114.6 109.6 111.8 103.7 98.4 100.1

SOL 90.7 87.4 86.5 85.3 92.2 92.6 93.7

Note : The red average line is calculated between March 2008 and October 2009.

Graph 2: Heartlands Monthly HSMR, April 2008 - January 2013:-

Note: The red average line is calculated between March 2008 and October 2009.

Graph 1: Trust Monthly HSMR, April 2008 - January 2013:-
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Graph 3 : Good Hope Monthly HSMR, April 2008 - January 2013:-

Note : The red average line is calculated between March 2008 and October 2009.

Note : The red average line is calculated between March 2008 and October 2009.

Graph 4 : Solihull Monthly HSMR, April 2008 - January 2013:-
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The July 2011 - June 2012 SHMI indicator shows the Trust at 102.2 (CI95%,0.89-1.12), which on the Information 
Centre approach shows the Trust to be in the “as expected” banding.
These figures are not available by site.

Note : Banding number using the 95% 
control limit derived from a random 
effects model applying a 10% trim for 
over dispersion. Source is IC.

The October 2011 - September 2012 SHMI indicator shows the Trust at 102.7 (CI95%,0.90-1.12), which on the 
Information Centre approach shows the Trust to be in the “as expected” banding.

 Trust SHMI Values, July 2011-June 2012

 Trust SHMI Values, October 2011-September 2012

Note : Banding number using the 95% 
control limit derived from a random 
effects model applying a 10% trim for 
over dispersion. Source is IC.
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Patient experience

Improving Patient Experience

Listening to patients so that we 
understand what matters to them, 
what works for them and what 
we need to do to improve remains 
a key priority. Improving patient 
experience is a journey and we use 
a combination of local and national 
measures to monitor and identify 
where there needs to be a special 
focus.

For a number of years we have collected real-
time patient feedback from over 800 patients 
each month to support the patient experience 
drive. Using in-house technology and a team of 
non-clinical patient advocates we regularly work 
with the wards to understand the environment to 
understand the key issues affecting patients. 

2012 saw a programme of ‘goldfish bowls’ 
run with Gynaecology and A&E that included 
multidisciplinary teams of staff and a selection of 
patients who had all used the service within the 
last three months.  The purpose was to help staff 
gain a greater understanding of how their actions 
influence the patient experience and how they, 
their teams and the Trust can learn from these.

The ‘goldfish bowl’ includes a selection of up to 
eight patients / relatives / carers. It’s important 
within this selection that there is a mix including 
those who have had a good, bad or average 
experience. 

Mutli-disciplinary teams are invited to listen to the 
patients telling their stories without commenting. 
Staff are then asked to share their thoughts on 

the stories and how they as individuals, their 
teams and the Trust can learn from them.  To 
date, significant improvements have been made 
to Gynaecology and A&E services for women 
suffering the trauma of a miscarriage. Here, a 
closer working relationship between A&E and 
Gynaecology has improved the comfort, privacy 
and dignity of these women with action plans 
also forming part of team personal development 
plans.

 
The introduction of the Friends and Family 
test in all inpatient wards had added a further 
dimension to the patient experience. This works 
by asking patients at the point they are being 
discharged whether they would recommend 
the service to their friends and family.  Anyone 
scoring a 9 or 10 is seen as a ‘promoter’, 7 or 8 is 
‘neutral’ and those scoring from 0 to 6 are viewed 
as ‘detractors’. The Friends and Family score is 
calculated by taking the number of detractors 
away from the number of promoters. This is then 
divided by the total number of responders to this 
question and multiplied by 100 to give a Friends 
and Family score. 

The inclusion of three further questions provides 
a wealth of feedback and data on the experiences 
of patients which, when related to the real-time 
patient feedback on the wards and the clinical 
metrics, provides a very clear picture of patient 
experience on each of the wards each month that 
is shared with staff, the Trust Board, Governors 
and patient groups. 
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Based on patient’s responses to the survey, this trust scored How this score compares with other trusts

8.6 / 10
The emergency / A&E department, answered by 
emergency patients only.

Worse
About the 

same
Better

9 / 10
Waiting lists and planned admissions, answered 
by those referred to hospital 

Worse
About the 

same
Better

7.3 / 10 Waiting to get a bed on the ward Worse
About the 

same
Better

7.9 / 10 The hospital and ward Worse
About the 

same
Better

8.3 / 10 Doctors Worse
About the 

same
Better

8.3 / 10 Nurses Worse
About the 

same
Better

7.4 / 10 Care and Treatment Worse
About the 

same
Better

8.2 / 10
Operations and procedures, answered by 
patients who had an operation or procedure

Worse
About the 

same
Better

7 / 10 Leaving Hospital Worse
About the 

same
Better

5.1 / 10 Overall views and experience Worse
About the 

same
Better

It was disappointing that no area stood out and we 
will continue to work on improving patient experience 
across the board. In particular, we will focus on the issue 
of patients finding someone to discuss their worries 
or fears with and being advised about the side effects 
to watch out for if given medicines to take home. A 
section under overall views and experiences asking 
whether patients were asked to give their views about 
the quality of the care they received during their stay in 
hospital will be covered through the Friends and Family 
Test. This ensures 100% of patients are provided with 
the opportunity to give feedback about their experience 
in hospital.
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The chart following shows the 2013 national inpatient survey as 
reported by the CQC. It shows that the Trust scores ‘about the same’ in 
all 10 categories. Whilst there are no obvious areas of concern as we 
were rated as ‘about the same’ there is much for us to do as we
would like our patients to have rated us better than expected.  We are 
continuing to strive to improve in all areas in 2013/14.
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Each year a specialty survey is carried out nationally in addition to the 
national inpatient survey. In 2012, the specialty survey was A&E which 
was last done in 2008.  

A questionnaire was sent to 850 people who had attended a Heart of 
England NHS Foundation Trust A&E department during January, February 
and March 2012. Responses were received from 268 people. The results 
are listed following:

Overall, the results of the 2012 study show 
approximately one in three measures increased 
satisfaction levels since the previous survey. The 
Trust received high scores for cleanliness, patient 
privacy and explanations about tests results. 
The majority (64%) of patient comments were 
about positive aspects of care, many compliment 
the professionalism and dedication of the staff. 
However, the findings also suggest longer waits 
for patients in A&E, with fewer patients triaged 
within the hour, examined and discharged within 
4 hours. This was also the most prevalent theme 
of improvement comments along with the 
perception there was a shortage of clinical staff 
in A&E. 

We will continue to monitor real-time 
performance through a new Friends and Family 
feedback system which will be introduced into 
A&E from April 2013. This will be monitored 
through the Governor Patient Experience Sub-
Board committee and reported through the 
Governance and Risk Committee with a summary 
of actions presented to the Trust Board, ensuring 
maximum transparency. In addition, customer 
care training will take place for all front-line 
A&E staff (starting in April 2013); using real-life 
complaints and concerns to help staff reflect on 
their approach to customer care and, ultimately, 
improve A&E customer service.

Based on patient’s responses to the survey, this trust scored
How this score compares with other 

trusts

8.7/10
Travel by ambulance (answered by those who 
travelled by ambulance only)

Worse
About the 

same
Better

5.7/10 Reception and waiting Worse
About the 

same
Better

7.9/10
Doctors and nurses (answered by all those who saw 
a doctor or nurse)

Worse
About the 

same
Better

7.9/10 Care and Treatment Worse
About the 

same
Better

8.3/10 Tests (answered only by those who had tests) Worse
About the 

same
Better

8.2/10 Hospital environment and facilities Worse
About the 

same
Better

5.7/10
Leaving the A&E Department (answered only by 
those who were not admitted to hospital or to a 
nursing home)

Worse
About the 

same
Better

6.5/10 Overall views on experiences Worse
About the 

same
Better
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The Survey Team also surveys on behalf of wards and departments across the Trust and the results are 
summarised as follows:
  

No Title Sample Response Compliments Improvement

1 National Inpatient Survey 850 355 123 72

2 National ED Survey 850 309 138 79

3 Bereavement Survey 1,000 503 176 149

4 Patient Experience Survey (OPD) 8,000 3,842 411 421

5 Inpatient Metrics Programme 21,160 11,908 0 0

6 Net Recommender Index 110,000 11,876 1643 938 

7 Anaesthesia Project 500 168 38 17

8 Community Services 5,192 1,452 414 115

9 Colorectal Cancer Survey 561 103 0 0

10 Dermatology Survey 370 54 12 4

20     Total 148,483 30,570 2,958 1,795

 

The Trust has significantly increased the number of patients given opportunities to share views on the quality 
of their care, most notably, through the Patient Metrics Programme and the Net Recommender Index. 

Comparison of patients surveyed and quality comments between 2012-2013

Year Patients sampled
Total responses Total compliments Total improvement

n % n % n %

2012-13 148,483 30,570 21% 2,958 62% 1,795 38%

2011-12 38,795 14,650 38% 1,598 52% 1,500 48%
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In April 2012, West Midlands Strategic 
Health Authority introduced a 
national mandate to improve the 
responsiveness to personal needs of 
patients within a community setting. 
The information in this report will be 
used by senior management teams 
as a tool to identify and demonstrate 
appropriate action to improve patient 
experience where necessary.  

Feedback was collected in January 2013 from patients 
who had used various services within a community 
setting at Solihull.  The questionnaire asked patients 
to rate survey themes on a five point scale from very 
satisfied to very dissatisfied.  The scores in the tables 
following represent the percentage of ‘satisfied’ 
patients.
 
In addition, the Friends and Family (Net 
Recommender – NRI) question which uses a 10 
point scale to rate the likelihood patient would 
recommend the service to family and friends. 

Respondents were also invited to comment on any 
aspects of care they felt were important.
Community Services Friends and Family score was 
the highest to date during January, with a score of 
80 points.  Planned Care achieved the highest score 
within the service groups with 83 points, Out of 
Hospital and Children’s received 79 and 78 points 
respectively. 

Patient satisfaction scores remain consistent with 
higher trends for Out of Hospital and Planned Care, 
when compared to Children’s services.  Again, this is 
due to a higher incidence of respondents choosing 
neutral answers in the (Children’s) five point 
response scale.

Community Services
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Efficient

Service Group Jul - 12 Aug - 12 Sep - 12 QTR2 Oct - 12 Nov - 12 Dec - 12 QTR3 Jan - 13

Out of Hospital Services Group 96% 96% 94% 95% 94% 96% 98% 96% 95%

Planned Care Services Group 94% 96% 93% 94% 95% 93% 92% 93% 94%

Children’s Services Group 92% 86% 82% 87% 91% 87% 91% 90% 90%

Community Services Jul - 12 Aug - 12 Sep - 12 QTR2 Oct - 12 Nov - 12 Dec - 12 QTR3 Jan - 13

Appointment waiting 97% 95% 91% 94% 92% 90% 91% 91% 89%

Appointment convenience 96% 98% 93% 96% 94% 94% 94% 94% 92%

Length of time spent with staff 100% 98% 97% 98% 99% 99% 98% 99% 99%

Hand Hygiene 75% 74% 64% 71% 79% 81% 80% 80% 83%

Privacy and dignity 96% 90% 88% 91% 91% 89% 95% 92% 89%

involvement in decisions 97% 99% 98% 98% 98% 97% 98% 98% 99%

information about care / treatment 97% 94% 95% 96% 97% 93% 98% 96% 96%

Overall care rating 94% 100% 97% 97% 94% 97% 98% 96% 93%

Impact on daily life 95% 92% 87% 92% 93% 88% 89% 90% 93%

Additional general health advice 90% 87% 89% 89% 96% 89% 95% 94% 97%

Total 94% 93% 90% 92% 93% 92% 94% 93% 93%

NRI Score 68 74 69 70 73 72 76 73 80

key: 0% - 84% 85% - 94% 95% - 100%

Solihull Community Services are looking at causes for 
the low score on hand hygiene within the questionnaires. 
This work will include an analysis of the information, 
by service, to establish whether there are issues in any 
particular teams. There is also consideration given to 
adding an additional question, for a period of time, 
to ask if the respondent is identifying a low score for 
hand hygiene, what particular concerns they had.

Solihull Community Services will continue to seek 
feedback from its patients and will be hosting a series 
of user group sessions as well as continuing to seek 
feedback from wide and varied groups of people who 
use these services. 
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Solihull Community Services continues 
to receive a variety of compliments and 
comments for feedback on its services.  
For ease, this has been categorised into 
a number of improvement areas as 
outlined in this chart:

Other Complaints
Formal complaints provide an important mechanism 
by which the Trust can assess the quality of services 
provide. Irrespective of the information we derive 
from the national and local surveys, a complaint 
indicates the high quality care we aim to deliver has 
not been provided to an individual.

During the year considerable effort has been 
made to improve how we manage complaints by 
responding to complainants on a more personal 
level within just a few days. Complainants are now 
contacted by telephone to see how they would like 
their concerns handled and to agree a timescale for 
resolution. 

Historically a complainant would have been sent a 
simple acknowledgement letter listing the issue to 
be investigated. We believe this has dramatically 
improved the outcome for our patients and their 
relatives and from this year onwards active feedback 
will continue to be sought to see how satisfied 
complainants are with the way their concerns have 
been addressed. 

Complaints and Compliments
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Although the number of complaints overall remains 
fairly static, 1/3 fewer complaints are now being 
managed through the formal 25 day process when 
compared to the 2011 – 2012. All complainants are 
offered the option of local resolution meetings and, 
where appropriate, home visits from the Patient 
Services team. As a result of this approach, twice as 
many complaints are managed informally through 
an early resolution approach.

Themes around staff attitude and clinical care are 
monitored closely with improvement work targeted 

at areas where reoccurring themes have occurred. 
One recent example is a concern relating to staff 
attitude on A&E reception. The result is an intensive 
programme of customer care training with front 
line staff including practical role-play and customer 
care theory. Since this training there have been no 
further complaints relating to staff attitude on A&E 
reception and this will continue to be monitored 
closely.

Only half as many cases were investigated by the 
Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) 
in 2011/12 compared to 2010/11. This reflects the 
more rigorous and persistent approach taken by the 
Patient Services team supported by the operational 
leads to achieve local resolution wherever possible. 
This has decreased further with only 20 cases with 
the Ombudsman in the 2012/13 period compared 
to 56 in 2011/12 and 35 in 2010/11. Through 

2012/13 there were no cases upheld by the PHSO 
office which continues the downward trend from 
2010/11.  It is anticipated that following the Francis 
report and the well-publicised recent commitment 
by the Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman 
to undertake more inspections based on referrals 
made. Work will therefore continue to work with 
complainants to ensure this is kept in check.  

Parliamentary Health Service 
Ombudsman

PHSO profile by management team (as at  09/04/13)

Site/Division 10/11 Total 11/12 Total 12/13 YTD

BHH 12 27 6

GHH 10 16 11

SHH 6 5 1

W&C 6 3 1

CSSD 1 4 0

Community 0 0 1

Corporate 0 1 0

Total 35 56 20

PHSO profile by outcomes (as at  09/04/13)

Site/Division 10/11 Total 11/12 Total 12/13 YTD

Upheld 6 3 0

Partially Upheld 5 1 0

Not Upheld 1 2 1

Not Investigated 23 48 14

Ongoing 0 2 5

Total 35 56 20
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PHSO profile by outcomes (as at  09/04/13)

Site/Division 10/11 Total 11/12 Total 12/13 YTD

Upheld 6 3 0

Partially Upheld 5 1 0

Not Upheld 1 2 1

Not Investigated 23 48 14

Ongoing 0 2 5

Total 35 56 20

Building on a very successful mosque engagement 
programme in 2012-2012, the membership 
department is focusing on a youth engagement 
agenda into 2013/14. This includes partnering with 
Solihull Sixth Form College to set up a joint project 
on member recruitment and health awareness and 
some mentoring workshops as well. The Trust is 
also linking with Solihull Council to establish a joint 
youth engagement forum and working alongside 
several schools around Good Hope.

For the diverse community around Heartlands a 
different approach is being developed with local 

businesses working with the Trust to develop a 
legacy project spanning health and wellbeing with 
a local TV station base. Although in early stages this 
has taken some negotiation with local businesses 
and it is hoped it will develop further into 2013/14.

Regular membership health seminars continue to be 
delivered free of charge in community settings with 
the monthly members magazine continuing to be a 
primary method of communicating with members.

Currently standing at 112,305 a new process is in 
place to carry out monthly opt outs on new patients 
and ensure all patients have the opportunity to 
become members. The breakdown of members 
includes: - 

• 102,058 public and patient members 
• Staff Headcount is 10,156 
• There is a marked increase in members from the 

younger age ranges, 16-25 and 26- 35 and 36-45

Membership

Community Engagement

PHSO profile by findings (as at  09/04/13)

Findings 10/11 Total 11/12 Total 12/13 YTD

Service Failure 10 3 0

Maladministration 4 1 0

PHSO profile by compensation paid (as at  09/04/13)

10/11 Total 11/12 Total 12/13 YTD

£24,799 £3,000 £0
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The Trust, in collaboration with the 
National Council for Palliative care 
and Dying Matters Coalition, is 
undertaking a three year project on 
compassionate care. This innovative 
project has three main work streams:

Compassionate Carers

The aim of this work stream is to provide focussed 
training with measurable outcomes on behavioural 
and attitudinal change on aspects of compassionate 
care. This will be cascaded to all of the Trust’s 
nursing workforce via a blended approach of 
study days co facilitated by members of the Trust 
Faculty (Education) and Dying Matters trainers. It 
will be woven into modules on the Trust’s in house 
mandatory training for nurses ‘Vital’  and via other  
e- learning programmes including the national 
end of life care training for all ‘e-elca’ (e-elca is an 
e-learning project  commissioned by the Department 
of Health to support the implementation of the 
Department of Health End of Life Care Strategy).

A pilot workshop with senior nursing staff was held 
on the 5th March and feedback was overwhelmingly 
positive. A robust roll out programme of training 
is now being developed. The first compassionate 
carers awards for those undergoing the training, 
and community staff who have demonstrated high 
quality end of life care, will be awarded by the Chief 
nurse Jane Cummings at the Trust’s National End of 
Life and Bereavement Conference on 17th May at St 
Andrews football ground.

Caring for Carers

This work stream aims to engage with carers to gain 
valuable feedback about their end of life experiences 
of family members in hospital. Gathering first-hand 
accounts of good compassionate care and where 
improvements can be made will enable us to target 
where training may be required and where good 
practice exists. The project also aims to understand 
more about how involved carers may wish to be 
in their relatives care in hospital and explore the 
traditional roles and responsibilities of staff and 
carers to see where a more holistic and individualised 
care approach can be introduced.

We will be inviting carers to be our ‘experts’ and 
assist us in developing new ways of  delivering 
compassionate care in our hospitals for patients and 
their carers.

A workshop with carers will be taking place in 
March 2013, a further one is planned for April 2013 
with female members of the South Asian community 
and a similar workshop will be held for nurses to 
ascertain their thoughts on carer involvement and 
benefits and blocks associated with this concept. 

A leaflet for carers will be created following these 
workshops that can act as a ‘carer charter’ for 
compassionate care.

Compassionate Employers

The Compassionate Employers work stream will 
focus on the Trust as a caring organisation and how 
it supports its staff to provide compassionate care. A 
base line survey will be undertaken to see how many 
of the Trust’s staff are carers and what the pressures 
of their daily workload may place on them. Mini 
projects including a review of shift patterns, a review 
of policies including carer leave and bereavement 
leave and support and other areas that demonstrate 
the hidden cost of caring. Proposals will then be 
identified to put systems in place to support staff to 
provide compassionate care for all.

Compassionate Carers
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Local and National Priorities

Description of Target Target 10/11 11/12 12/13

Reduction of incidence of Clostridium (post 48 hours)* 131 171 123 86

Reduction of incidence of MRSA bacteraemia (post 48 
hours) 

7 9 8 7

Patients first seen by a specialist within 2 weeks when 
urgently referred by their GP or dentist with suspected 
cancer. 

>=93% 94.04% 94.50% 93.66%

Patients first seen by a specialist within 2 weeks when 
urgently referred by their GP with any breast symptom 
except suspected cancer. 

>=93% 94.81% 94.79% 94.64%

Patients receiving their first definitive treatment within 
1 month (31 days) of a decision to treat (as a proxy for 
diagnosis) for cancer. 

>=96% 98.62% 97.42% 96.92%

Patients receiving subsequent treatment (surgery and drug 
treatment only) within 1 month (31 days) of a decision to 
treat – Anti cancer drug modality. 

>=98% 100% 100% 99.72%

Patients receiving subsequent treatment (surgery and drug 
treatment only) within 1 month (31 days) of a decision to 
treat – Surgery modality. 

>=94% 98.43% 97.10% 97.42%

Patients receiving their first definitive treatment for cancer 
within 2 months (62 days) of GP or dentist urgent referral 
for suspected cancer. **

>=85% 85.62% 85.44% 86.35%

Patients receiving their first definitive treatment for cancer 
within 2 months (62 days) of urgent referral from the 
National Screening Service. 

>=90% 99.44% 98.16% 99.13%

Admitted Patients Treated within 18 Weeks of Referral >=90% NA 90.00% 92.03%

Non-Admitted Patients Treated within 18 Weeks of 
Referral

>=95% NA 97.82% 96.85%

18 week incomplete pathways >=92% target NA NA 95.57%

Maximum waiting time of 4 hours in A&E from arrival, to 
admission, transfer or discharge

>=95% target 95.41% 95.97% 93.13%

Self certification against compliance with requirements 
regarding access to healthcare for people with a learning 
disability 

Meeting 6 out 
of 6 criteria

6	 out of 6 6 out of 6 6 out of 6

The National Priorities reflect the requirements for Monitor’s Compliance Framework.  This is one of the 
tools used by Monitor to assess the compliance of foundation trusts with their Terms of Authorisation and to 
determine where intervention may be necessary. 

The Local Priorities are the main performance indicators, which are a combination of national and local 
measures, set out in the Trust’s contract with the local Primary Care Trusts.  These are used to routinely review 
the Trust’s performance and to hold the Trust accountable where performance is not meeting the required 
standard.   



140

• * C.difficile:

A positive case for the indicator is as follows: 

• Patients aged 2 or more. 
• A positive laboratory test result for CDI 

recognised as a case according to the Trust’s 
diagnostic algorithm. 

• Positive results on the same patient more than 
28 days apart should be reported as separate 
episodes, irrespective of the number of 
specimens taken in the intervening period, or 
where they were taken. 

• The Trust is deemed responsible. This is defined 
as a case where the sample was taken on the 
fourth day or later of an admission to that trust 
(where the day of admission is day one). 

• **  62 day cancer wait: 

• The indicator is expressed as a percentage of 
patients receiving first definitive treatment for 
cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP referral 
for suspected cancer.

• An urgent GP referral is one which has a two 
week wait from date that the referral is received 
to first being seen by a consultant. 

• The indicator only includes GP referrals for 
suspected cancer (i.e. excludes consultant 
upgrades and screening referrals and where the 
priority type of the referral is National Code 3 – 
Two week wait). 

• The clock start date is defined as the date that 
the referral is received by the Trust. 

• The clock stop date is the date of first definitive 
cancer treatment. 

As part of the external assurance of the Trust quality 
report, the Trusts external auditors are required by 
Monitor to undertake a detailed audit on the data 
collection processes of three mandated indicators. 
In March 2013, the Trust executive team were asked 
to select which indicators should be chosen and they 
selected 28 day emergency readmissions.

During the pre-audit pre meetings, it emerged 
that there is no single definition as to how 28 day 
readmission rates are calculated. The Trust has been 
reporting to its commissioners monthly, using the 
methodology based on the national payment by 
results. This methodology has been acceptable to 
our Commissioners throughout the year. 

However, the Monitor guidance (on which the 
external assurance is based) is based on a different 
methodology. This is a problem being experienced 
by a number of other Foundation Trusts nationally. 

Following discussion with the Trusts external 
auditors, some options were discussed to resolve 
this issue, including:

1. Requesting that the external auditors continue 
with the audit of 28 day readmissions based on 
the current Monitor definition. However, the 
Trust cannot provide the information in the 
format required. 

2. Request the external auditors to undertake 
their audit against the Trusts current reporting 
system. They are unable to do this – as they are 
required to comply with the Monitor definition;

3. Change the indicator that the auditors review – 
to 62 days cancer. 

The Trust executive management team were asked 
to consider these options and it as agreed that the 
mandated indicator would be changed to review 
62 day cancer targets. However, it was agreed that 
the methodology for calculating 28 day emergency 
readmissions would be changed for the financial 
year 2013/14 and that an audit could be completed 
on this indicator at a later date. 
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Part 4: 

Statements from Stakeholders

This statement from Solihull CCG is made as the lead 
commissioner for Heart of England NHS Foundation 
Trust, recognising that 2012/13 has been a year of 
transition in regards to commissioning organisations 
with much of the year’s activity undertaken under 
the previous contractual arrangement Birmingham 
East and North PCT (through Birmingham and 
Solihull NHS Cluster). The statement has been 
developed in consultation with key leads across the 
Health Economy (including NHS England Area Team 
and other CCGs). The Quality Account for 2012/13 
has been reviewed in line with Department of 
Health guidance and Monitor’s requirements. 

There has been an on-going quality assurance 
process with the Trust which includes monthly 
contract meetings and quality reviews. Solihull CCG 
has actively participated in these. These monitoring 
mechanisms have provided the commissioners with 
a good understanding of the issues facing the Trust 
and the internal systems and processes that are in 
place to provide assurance. 

During 2012/13 it was necessary to issue a contract 
query in regards to the Trusts processes for 
investigation, reporting and implementation of 
lessons learnt. This resulted in the Trust working in 
an open and collaborative manner with the shadow 
CCG during the transition, in particular to improve 
processes for reporting and reducing Healthcare 
Associated Infections, pressure ulcers and falls 

resulting in harm. As the new Commissioning body 
Solihull CCG looks forward to continue in working 
in this way.

HEFT places significant emphasis on its safety 
agenda. There are some very good initiatives in 
place including safety handbooks for nurses and 
APPs being devised for doctors, safer checklist 
assimilation training. It was pleasing to note the 
Trust undertook Safety September as a major 
campaign. During 2012/13 there have been 3 
never events which is a significant reduction from 
the previous year but highlights the need for 
ongoing focus.  The incidents together with the 
subsequent investigation findings were reported to 
commissioners. 

It is positive that the Trust is striving to sound out the 
views of more patients, the participating numbers 
of patients in 2012/13 has more than quadrupled 
compared to 2011/12. The Trust has participated 
in the roll out of the national Friends and Family 
Test ahead of the national timelines. We recognise 
the “gold fish bowl” initiative is an excellent 
example of learning from patient experience, and 
the commissioners look forward to receiving future 
reports

Sue Nicholls
Chief Nurse Solihull CCG

Solihull CCG

Local Healthwatch Solihull is the new consumer 
champion that came into existence on the 1st 
of April 2013.  It is an independent organisation 
created to gather and represent the views of the 
public. It will give people a powerful voice locally 
and nationally on all aspects of Health.

Local Healthwatch Solihull appreciates the 
opportunity to provide comment on the quality 
of the services provided by Heart of England 
Foundation Trust.  Local Healthwatch Solihull came 
into existence after the draft Quality Account was 
published.  The LINk received the document on the 
26th of March but no response was given.

Healthwatch Solihull appreciates the hard work 
that Heart of England NHS trust has delivered over 
the past year.

Healthwatch Solihull will work with Heart of 
England NHS Trust to provide robust challenge to its 
stated priorities and will monitor progress against 
its agreed outcomes.  In particular the scorecard that 
measures all of the patient experience information in 
relation to the Patients Association Care Campaign.

Healthwatch Solihull will be looking at the 7 priority 
areas and ensure there is an outward demonstration 
that real improvements have been achieved in these 
area’s in order to build confidence from the patients 
who receive care in these priority areas.

Healthwatch Solihull
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The Board received the draft Trust Quality Account 
and report on 25th March 2013 and considered this 
document out of a formal meeting setting. However, 
as part of the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee with Birmingham City Council the Board 
has engaged with the Chief Executive of the Trust 
to discuss the Trust’s plans/policies in light of the 
Francis inquiry as well as progress being made on 
Trust’s Strategic Plan. 

We have read the Quality Accounts which we 
considered to be comprehensive overall. However, it 
was disappointing that a number of commentaries 
relating to information tables were not provided. 
This makes information incomplete which impacts 
upon our response. Efforts should be made to 
provide full information in future Quality Accounts.
 
Overall we recognise that much good work has been 
done by the Trust in 2012/13 particularly with regard 
to surgical procedures, research and initiatives to 
improve patient care and safety. 

This said, certain areas are clearly in need of 
improvement or further work. A primary example 
is that of dementia screening which is well below 
agreed targets. Although recognised by the Trust, 
more information would have been helpful on 
how goal 3a should be met in the future. It could 
be considered best practise for screening to be 
automatically provided for all admissions over 
the age of 75 and this should be part of any care 
pathway for such admissions. 

Following the Francis Inquiry, all Trusts should 
ensure that patient care and safety are paramount. 
Therefore it was disappointing to read that the 
indicators around patient safety show that the 
Trusts’ hospitals are performing below the national 
average. This needs to be explored and explained 

more fully than in the current draft form, which does 
not provide the reasons or actions to be taken to 
improve the situation. Hopefully once the year-end 
figures are available this will have been addressed.
 
In addition, we would welcome information about 
how Solihull Hospital addressed the Care Quality 
Commission inspection outcomes – outcome 1 
(respecting and involving people who use services), 
outcome 4 (care and welfare of people using 
services) and outcome 6 (co-operating with other 
providers). It would also be helpful to understand 
the reason for non-compliance in first place and 
how compliance will be maintained in the future. 

With regards to patient experience, we note the 
survey scored the Trust ‘about the same’ in all 10 
categories indicating that there may be no obvious 
areas of concerns. However, there is clearly a need 
to strive to improve patient experience in 2013/14. 
Whilst the Trust has accepted this, it must ensure 
that complacency does not creep in. 

It is heartening to read that there will be a focus 
on patients being offered the opportunity to discuss 
concerns, in particular around medication. It can 
be hoped that this will reduce non-concordance 
with medication and improve patient outcomes, in 
addition to providing cost savings as patients do not 
suffer ill effects resulting in costly readmission. 

We have welcomed the opportunity to input into 
Trust Quality Account and report 2012/13 and look 
forward to engaging with the Trust in the future.

Solihull Healthier Communities Scrutiny Board 
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Directors Statement of 
Responsibilities

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 
and the National Health Service Quality Accounts 
Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year.
 
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation 
trust boards on the form and content of annual 
quality reports (which incorporate the above legal 
requirements) and on the arrangements that 
foundation trust boards should put in place to 
support the data quality for the preparation of the 
quality report. 

In preparing the Quality Report, directors are 
required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 

• the content of the Quality Report meets the 
requirements set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2012/13; 

• the content of the Quality Report is not 
inconsistent with internal and external sources 
of information including: 

• Board minutes and papers for the period 
April 2012 to June 2013. 

• Papers relating to Quality reported to the 
Board over the period April 2012 to June 
2013.

• Feedback from the commissioners dated 
24/04/2013. 

• Feedback from governors via the Governors 
Quality and Safety Group in April, 2012, June 
2012, October 2012, December 2012 and 
February 2013.  

• Feedback from Local Healthwatch 
organisations dated 30/04/2013. 

• The trust’s complaints report published under 
regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social 

Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 
2009, dated 20/05/2013; 

• The [latest] national patient survey April 
2013. 

• The [latest] national staff survey May 2013. 
• The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion 

over the trust’s control environment dated 
30/04/2013. 

• CQC quality and risk profiles dated April 
2012, June 2012, November 2012 and March 
2013. 

• the Quality Report presents a balanced picture 
of the NHS foundation trust’s performance over 
the period covered; 

• the performance information reported in the 
Quality Report is reliable and accurate; 

• there are proper internal controls over the 
collection and reporting of the measures of 
performance included in the Quality Report, and 
these controls are subject to review to confirm 
that they are working effectively in practice; 

• the data underpinning the measures of 
performance reported in the Quality Report is 
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data 
quality standards and prescribed definitions, 
is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; 
and the Quality Report has been prepared in 
accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting 
guidance (which incorporates the Quality 
Accounts regulations) (published at www.
monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) 
as well as the standards to support data quality 
for the preparation of the Quality Report 
(available at www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual)). 

..............................Date.............................................................Chairman 

..............................Date............................................................Chief Executive

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above requirements 
in preparing the Quality Report. 

By order of the Board 

28th May 2013

28th May 2013
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Auditors Limited Assurance Report

We have been engaged by the Board of Governors of 
Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust to perform 
an independent assurance engagement in respect 
of the Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2013 
(the “Quality Report”) and specified performances 
indications contained therein.

Scope and subject matter
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2013 in 
the Quality Report that have been subject to limited 
assurance consist of the following national priority 
indicators as mandated by Monitor:

1.Number of Clostridium difficile infections; and

2.Maximum cancer waiting time of 62 days 
from urgent GP referral to first treatment for all 
cancers (‘62 day cancer treatment’).

We refer to these national priority indicators 
collectively as the “specified indicators”.

Respective responsibilities 
of the Directors and 
auditors
The Directors are responsible for the content and 
the preparation of the Quality Report in accordance 
with the assessment criteria referred to in on page 
140 of the Quality Report (“the Criteria”). The 
Directors are also responsible for the conformity of 
their Criteria with the assessment criteria set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trusts  Annual Reporting 
Manual (“FT ARM”) issued by the Independent 
Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”). 
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on 
limited assurance procedures, on whether anything 
has come to our attention that causes us to believe 
that:

• The Quality Report does not incorporate the 
matters required to be reported on as specified 
in Annex 2 to Chapter 7 of the FT ARM;

• The Quality Report is not consistent in all 
material respects with the sources specified 
below; and

• The specified indicators have not been prepared 
in all material respects in accordance with the 
Criteria.

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it 
addresses the content requirements of the FT ARM, 
and consider the implications for our report if we 
become aware of any material omissions.

We read the other information contained in the 
Quality Report and consider whether it is materially 
inconsistent with the following documents:

• Board minutes and papers for the period April 
2012 to June 2013.

• Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board 
over the period April 2012 to June 2013.

• Feedback from the commissioners dated 
24/04/2013.

• Feedback from governors via the Governors 
Quality and Safety Group in April 2012, June 
2012, October 2012, December 2012 and 
February 2013.

• Feedback from Local Healthwatch organisations 
dated 30/04/2013.

• The Trust’s complaints report published under 
regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social 
Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, 
dated 20/05/2013.

• The latest national patient survey April 2013.
• The latest national staff survey May 2013.
• The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion 

over the trust’s control environment dated 
30/04/2013.

• CQC quality and risk profiles dated April 2012, 
June 2012, November 2012 and March 2013.

We consider the implications for our report if we 
become aware of any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with those documents 
(collectively, the “documents”). Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other information.

Independent Auditor’s Limited Assurance Report 
to the Board of Governors of Heart of England NHS 
Foundation Trust on the Annual Quality Report.
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We are in compliance with the applicable 
independence and competency requirements of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 
Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our team comprised 
assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter 
experts.  

This report, including the conclusion, has been 
prepared solely for the Board of Governors of 
Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust as a body, 
to assist the Board of Governors in reporting Heart 
of England NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, 
performance and activities. We permit the disclosure 
of this report within the Annual Report for the 
year ended 31 March 2013, to enable the Board of 
Governors to demonstrate they have discharged 
their governance responsibilities by commissioning 
an independent assurance report in connection 
with the indicators. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Board of Governors as a body 
and Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust for our 
work or this report save where terms are expressly 
agreed and with our prior consent in writing.

Assurance work performed
We conducted this limited asssurance engagement in 
accordance  with International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance Engagements other 
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information’ issued by the International Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our 
limited assurances procedures included:

• Evaluating the design and implementation of 
the key processes and controls for managing 
and reporting the indicators

• Making enquires of management
• Limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data 

used to calculate the specified indicators back to 
supporting documentation.

• Comparing the content requirements of the FT 
ARM to the categories reported in the Quality 
Report.

• Reading the documents.

A limited assurance engagement is less in scope than 
a reasonable assurance engagement. The nature, 
timing and extent of procedures for gathering 
sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately 
limited relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement.

Limitations
Non-financial performance information is subject 
to more inherent limitations than financial 

information, given the characteristics of the subject 
matter and the methods used for determining such 
information.

The absence of a significant body of established 
practice on which to draw allows for the selection 
of different but acceptable measurement 
techniques which can result in materially different 
measurements and can impact comparability. The 
precision of different measurement techniques may 
also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods 
used to determine such information, as well as the 
measurement criteria and the precision thereof, may 
change over time. It is important to read the Quality 
Report in the context of the assessment criteria set 
out in the FT ARM and the Directors interpretation 
of the Criteria on page 104 of the Quality Report.  

The nature, form and content required of Quality 
Reports are determined by Monitor. This may result 
in the omission of information relevant to other 
users, for example for the purpose of comparing the 
results of different NHS Foundation Trusts.

In addition, the scope of our assurance work has 
not included governance over quality or non-
mandated indicators in the Quality Report, which 
have been determined locally by Heart of England 
NHS Foundation Trust;

Conclusion 
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that 
for the year end 31 March 2013,
• The Quality Report does not incorporate the 

matters required to be reported on as specified 
in annex 2 to Chapter 7 of the FT ARM;

• The Quality Report is not consistent in all 
material respects with the documents specified 
above; and

• The specified indicators have not been prepared 
in all material respects in accordance with the 
Criteria.

PricewaterHouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants
Birmingham
29 May 2013

The maintenance and integrity of the Heart of England NHS Foundation 
Trust’s website is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried 
out by the assurance providers does not involve consideration of 
these matters and, accordingly, the assurance providers accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the reported 
performance indicators or criteria since they were initially presented on 
the website.
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4. Governance

Potentially many pages – first few provided 
with this document
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The table below shows the attendance of 
directors at key meetings during the year.

Trust Board Audit Committee
Remuneration 
Committee

Nominations 
Committee

Meetings per year 8 6 2 1

Director Attended
Relevant 
number

Attended
Relevant 
number

Attended
Relevant 
number

Attended
Relevant 
Number

Aresh Anwar 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mandy Coalter* 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0
Anna East 8 8 5 6 2 2 1 1
Najma Hafeez 6 8 0 0 0 2 0 0
Simon Hackwell 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 0
Richard Harris 8 8 6 6 2 2 0 0
Paul Hensel 7 8 5 6 1 2 0 0
Philip Hunt 7 8 0 0 2 2 1 1
Les Lawrence 8 8 0 0 2 2 0 0
Mark Newbold 8 8 0 0 0 0 1 1
Edward Peck 6 8 0 0 1 2 0 0
Richard Samuda 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0
Laura Serrant-Green 7 8 0 1 2 2 0 0
Adrian Stokes 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mandie Sunderland 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lisa Thomson 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sarah Woolley 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 0

Performance of the Board 
and its Committees

The Board now meets in formal public session six 
times each year and, additionally, ad hoc as necessary. 

A perpetual review of directors’ material interests in 
organisations where those organisations or related 
parties are likely to do business, or are possibly 
seeking to do business, with the Trust is carried out 
and there are no material interests to declare.  To 
communicate with the directors or to obtain a copy 
of the register of directors’ Interests, please contact:

The Company Secretary 
Devon House 
Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust 
Bordesley Green East 
Birmingham, B9 5SS

 *Ms Coalter left the board in September 2012
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Code of Governance Report

Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust 
Code of Governance (“the Code”) 
produced in 2010 is issued as best 
practice advice and is not mandatory; 
however, the Code does impose 
certain disclosure requirements.

The Board considers that, throughout the year, it 
was fully compliant with the principles of the Code. 
The Board appointed Mrs Anna East as the senior 
independent director (Clause A3.3 of the Code). 

The Code (Clause C1.7) requires the disclosure of 
the other significant commitments of the Chairman, 
which are: 

• Member and Deputy Leader of the Opposition, 
House of Lords

• Trainer and policy analyst, Cumberlege 
Connections Ltd.

• Philip Hunt Consultancy, consultant and trainer
• President, British Fluoridation Society
• President, Royal Society of Public Health
• President, Health Care Supply Association
• Member of the National Advisory Council of 

the Easy Care Foundation
• Patron/ambassador of Saving Lives

The Board has responsibility for the overall 
management and performance of the Trust and the 
approval of its long-term objectives and strategy. 
While the Board delegates day-to-day management 
to the Chief Executive, there is a formal schedule of 
matters reserved for the Board that was adopted 
by the Board on 10 March 2012. This schedule 
is available on the Trust’s website and provides 
a framework for the Board to oversee the Trust’s 
affairs. 

The Board of directors is given accurate, timely 
and clear information so that it can maintain full 
and effective control over strategic, financial, 
operational, compliance and governance issues. 
The directors have a range of skills and experience 
and each brings independent judgement and 
considerable knowledge to the Board’s discussions 
and determinations.  This range of skills and 
experience ensures balance, completeness and 
appropriateness to the requirements of the Trust.  
The attendance record of directors at Board and 
committee meetings is set out on page 147.

The Trust is required to assess the performance 
of the Board of directors, its committees and its 
directors (Clause D2 of the code). In September 
2011, the Board undertook a detailed review of 
its committee structure and implemented various 
structural changes. This structure was reviewed 
again in 2012 and considered to be functioning 
appropriately to meet the needs of the Board and 
the Trust. The Board’s committee structure is kept 
under review. In 2012 the Board also undertook a 
review of the way it operates and made changes 
to its agenda and reporting functions to ensure it 
continues to operate as effectively as possible. In 
2013/14 an internal audit is reviewing how some of 
the committees interact and there will be a further 
evaluation of Board committees in due course.

All executive directors are appraised annually by 
the Chief Executive as part of the Trust’s appraisal 
policy. Three of the six non-executive directors who 
have been in post throughout the 2012/13 year 
are currently going through an appraisal process 
conducted by the Chairman. In due course, the 
Chairman will also undergo appraisal in accordance 
with the process agreed by the Council of Governors. 
The outcome will be reported to the Council of 
Governors at the Annual General Meeting. Mrs East 
and Mr Hensel are both standing down from their 
non-executive positions in the summer and will 
accordingly not undergo formal appraisal.

Board committees include the Finance & 
Performance Committee, Stakeholder and 
Community Engagement Committee, Nominations 
Committee, Audit Committee, Governance and 
Risk Committee, Donated Funds Committee and 
Remuneration Committee. Their terms of reference 
are also on the Trust’s website and are available for 
inspection at the Trust’s offices.
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Nominations Committee Report

The work of the Nominations Committee is to:

• Review the size, structure and composition of 
the Board and make recommendations with 
regard to any changes

• Give full consideration to succession planning
• Evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and 

experience in relation to the appointment of 
both executive and non-executive directors

• Identify and nominate suitable candidates to fill 
executive director vacancies.

The Nominations Committee is chaired by Lord 
Hunt and has met once during the year. The full 
list of members is set out on page 147 ➢along with 
respective attendance levels.

In the case of non-executive director vacancies, 
including the Chairman, the relevant information is 
passed to the Council of Governors Appointments 

Committee so that it can incorporate the information 
into its deliberations. The Council of Governors 
Appointments Committee is then responsible for 
the identification and recommendation of non-
executive directors, including the Chairman, and 
for making recommendations to the Council of 
Governors as to their terms and conditions of 
employment. 

In the case of executive director vacancies, the 
Nominations Committee draws up the job description 
and person specification, undertakes the recruitment 
process and then makes a recommendation to the 
Appointments Committee of the Board. It is for the 
non-executive directors to appoint and remove the 
Chief Executive although the appointment of the 
Chief Executive also requires the approval of the 
Council of Governors. 

The Audit Committee is currently chaired by Anna 
East. It was previously chaired by Richard Harris. its 
role is to:

• Review the establishment and maintenance 
of an effective overall system of integrated 
governance, risk management and internal 
control across the whole of the Trust’s activities 
(both clinical and non-clinical), that supports 
the achievement of the Trust’s objectives.

• Ensure that there is an effective internal audit 
function that provides appropriate independent 
assurance to the Audit Committee, Governance 
and Risk Committee, Chief Executive and Board.

• Consider and make recommendations to the 
Audit Appointments Committee of the Council 
of Governors in relation to the appointment, 
re-appointment and removal of the external 
auditor and to oversee the relationship with the 
external auditor.

• Monitor the integrity of the financial statements, 
reviewing significant financial reporting issues 
and judgements which they contain.

• Review significant annual returns to regulators 
and any financial information contained in 
certain other documents. 

• Review the activities of the counter-fraud team.

All non-audit work proposed to be undertaken by 
the external auditors is recommended to the Audit 
Committee by the Finance Director, considered and - 
where appropriate - approved by the committee. The 
Trust places reliance on the external auditor’s own 
internal processes and procedures to ensure auditor 
objectivity and independence are safeguarded.  

As a matter of best practice, the external auditors 
have held discussions with the Audit Committee 
on the subject of auditor independence and have 
confirmed their independence in writing.

In 2012/13 the Audit Committee met six times and 
discharged its responsibilities as set out in its terms 
of reference. It operates to a clearly defined annual 
business programme that the committee sets for 
itself annually, in advance. It receives comprehensive 
reports from the Director of Finance and the Director 
of Safety and Organisational Development together 
with reports from both the internal and external 
auditors. The committee commissioned further 
reports in response to developing issues, requiring 
clear objectives, timetables and achievement 
milestones against which performance could be 
measured.  The committee reviewed in detail the 
compilation and progress of the Quality Report.

The main strategic areas that internal audits have 
focused on in the year, on top of the regulatory 
requirements for financial systems audit, were 
clinical governance and clinical audit and 
effectiveness reviews in key operational areas.  In 
those operational areas where concerns were 
raised, an appropriate remedial action plan was 
developed and implemented. The committee 
conducted a review of the overall effectiveness of 
the internal audit process and concluded that it 
provided a strong resource. Following last year’s 
work on the Bribery Act, an action plan had been 
implemented. This culminated in a new Trust-wide 
Code of Conduct being issued in March 2013.

Audit Committee Report

149
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Throughout the year there were 44 governor 
positions available. Governors are elected or 
appointed for a three year period and are eligible 
for re-election or re-appointment for a further 
three years. The governors are elected or appointed 
as follows: 

• 26 public governors, by ballot of members. 
• 5 staff governors, by ballot of staff. 
• 11 stakeholder governors, by appointment. 
• 2 patient governors, by ballot of members. 

The Council of Governors is responsible for 
representing the interests of members and 
stakeholder organisations and exercises certain 
statutory powers such as the appointment of non-
executive directors and the external auditor. 

Council of Governors Report

The Council met six times in 
2012/13 and the table below shows 
attendance levels:

Meeting date
Number in 
attendance

Number of 
governors

Attendance 
percentage

23 May 2012 21 33 64

16 July 2012 20 33 61

18 September 2012 23 33 70

21 November 2012 17 33 52

21 January 2013 23 33 70

21 March 2013 16 32 50
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At the start of the year the committee managed the 
process for the provision of external audit services 
for the years 2012/13 to 2014/15. PwC were re-
appointed following a competitive tender process.

The committee reviewed the activities of the 
counter-fraud team to ensure that the key risks have 
been addressed. A gap analysis against the new NHS 
Protect Standards was performed at the beginning 
of the project and the plan of work adjusted to 
ensure all expected standards were covered. The 
Self Review Tool will be completed in May 2013 and 
submitted for central assessment in July 2013. An 
updated fraud and corruption policy was reviewed 
by the committee.

The committee consists solely of independent 
non-executive directors and at least one member 
has recent and relevant financial experience. All 
committee members held office throughout the 
year, except Richard Samuda who resigned in April 
2012 and Richard Harris who resigned in March 
2013, both taking up respective chairmanships of 
two local NHS trusts. As required by its terms of 
reference, the committee undertook a review of its 
own effectiveness during the year.

The attendance of committee members is shown in 
the table on page147.
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The Constitution requires a report to the governors in the event that any individual governor does not attend 
two consecutive Council of Governors meetings without good reason.   During the year no governors were 
removed from office for persistent failure to attend meetings.  The current governors of the Trust are:

Constituency 
Type

Full Name of Constituency Name of Governor Origin
Date appointed/
elected

Public Birmingham at Large Mr. Michael Kelly Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Public Birmingham Central Mr. David Treadwell Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Public Birmingham Central Ms. Arshad Begum Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Public Birmingham Central Ms. Patricia Hathway Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Public Birmingham East Mr. Marck Kibilski Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Public Birmingham East Dr. Syed Hussain Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Public Birmingham North Dr. Olivia Craig Elected (Contested) 31/07/2010

Public Birmingham North Mr. Albert Fletcher Elected (Contested) 01/08/2010

Public Birmingham North Mr. Thomas Webster Elected (Contested) 31/07/2010

Public Solihull Central Mr. James Cox Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Public Solihull North Mr. Stuart Stanton Elected (Uncontested) 01/04/2011

Public Solihull Central Ms. Liz Steventon Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Public Solihull South Ms. Bridget Sproston Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Public Sutton Coldfield Ms. Elaine Coulthard Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Public Sutton Coldfield Mr. John Roberts Elected (Contested) 01/08/2010

Public Staffordshire South Mr. Barry Orriss Elected (Contested) 01/08/2010

Public Tamworth Mr. Richard Hughes Elected (Contested) 01/08/2010

Public Patient Mrs. Kath Bell Elected (Uncontested) 01/04/2011

Public Patient Mr. Phillip Johnson Elected (Uncontested) 01/04/2011

Staff Ancillary, Admin, Management Mr. Neil Shuker-Harris Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Staff Medical & Dental Dr. Neil Smith Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Staff Nursing & Midwifery Ms. Heidi Lane Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Staff Nursing & Midwifery Ms. Veronica Morgan Elected (Contested) 01/04/2011

Staff Clinical Support Mr. David Roy Elected (Uncontested) 01/04/2011

University University of Birmingham Dr. Tim Freeman Appointed 31/12/2010

Stakeholder Birmingham City Council Cllr. Tahir Ali Appointed 01/12/2012

Stakeholder Birmingham City University Prof. Carol Doyle Appointed 01/12/2012

Stakeholder Solihull MBC Cllr. Jim Ryan Appointed

No elections have taken place during the year.
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Birmingham City Council and Birmingham City 
University appointed new representatives during the 
year. Dr Sunil Kotecha stood down on 31 March 2013 
consequent upon the dissolution of Solihull PCT. A 
number of governors resigned during the year and 
the vacancies thereby created have not been filled 
due to the impending change in constituencies (see 
later in this report).

Public constituencies are representative areas 
around each of the main hospital sites. Stakeholders 
are organisations that the Trust works alongside in 
running its estate and training its workforce etc. 
Staff constituencies are groups of the workforce 
divided into classes, dependent on the type of work 
performed. The patient constituency is made up of 
patients of the Trust. 

The Constitution describes the processes 
intended to ensure a successful and constructive 
relationship between the Council of Governors 
and the Board of Directors. It confirms the formal 
arrangements for communication, an approach to 
informal communications and sets out the formal 
arrangements for resolving conflicts between the 
Council of Governors and the Board of Directors. The 
Constitution is available on the Trust’s website and is 
also available from the Trust’s offices. In accordance 
with Clause B1.4 of the Code, the statement of rules 
and responsibilities of governors is set out at the 
front of the Governors’ Handbook.

A perpetual review of governors’ material interests 
in organisations where those organisations or 
related parties are likely to do business, or are 
possibly seeking to do business, with the Trust is 
carried out and there are no material interests to 
declare. A Register of Governors’ Interests can be 
accessed by writing to:

The Company Secretary
Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust
Devon House
Bordesley Green East
Birmingham B9 5SS

Richard Hughes was elected Lead Governor and 
Albert Fletcher was elected Deputy Lead Governor in 
2011 and both have held respective roles throughout 
the year under review. The role of the Lead 
Governor is to provide a communication channel 
for Monitor in the exceptional circumstances that 
they find it inappropriate to contact governors via 
the Chairman or Company Secretary. Additionally, 
together with the Chairman, the Lead Governor 
facilitates communications between the governors 
and the Board and also contributes to the appraisal 
of the Chairman by the Council of Governors.

Governors have been actively involved with the 

Other Council of Governors committees such as 
the Remuneration Committee (chaired by Richard 
Hughes), the Constitution Review Committee and 
the Appointments Committee (both chaired by Lord 
Hunt) meet as necessary.

Towards the end of 2012, and following a 
recommendation from the Board’s Nominations 
Committee, the Appointments Committee met in 
order to consider the appointment of new non-
executive directors consequent upon the departure 
in 2013 of two non-executive directors who would 
by then have completed their final term of office. 
The committee undertook a detailed review of 
the roles, skills and strengths of the incumbent 
non-executive directors, initiated and approved 
an open advertising campaign, shortlisted from 
100 applicants, interviewed 10 candidates and 
subsequently recommended to the full Council 
of Governors the appointment of four new non-
executive directors. These new appointments will 
further strengthen the Board and provide extra 
non-executive resources with which to face the 
forthcoming challenges.

The Appointments Committee was also instrumental 
in the establishment of a new and more robust 
appraisal process for the non-executive directors. 
This was initiated in early 2012 when incumbent 
non-executive directors underwent a 360º appraisal. 
Firstly, the director completed a self-assessment 
questionnaire being asked for their own views of 
their performance based upon 12 specific questions. 
The same questions were then asked of a cohort of 
colleagues and the results compared. This enabled 
the Chairman to discuss with the director concerned 
the areas where their skills may be sharpened. The 
Chairman underwent a similar appraisal process 
involving Board colleagues, the Lead Governor, the 
Deputy Lead Governor and all the chairs of Council 
of Governor committees.

The Chairman then reported to the Annual General 
Meeting on the outcome of the appraisals of non-
executive directors and the Lead Governor reported 
on the appraisal of the Chairman. A similar process 
for 2013 is currently underway.

The Council of Governors’ Constitution Review 
Committee met several times during the year 
to undertake a root and branch review of the 
Constitution. On 21 March 2013, following this 
detailed review and a formal recommendation from 
the committee, the Council of Governors approved 
a new Constitution, most of the provisions of 
which become effective from 1 April 2013. The new 
Constitution made a number of significant changes, 
in particular:
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1. A restructuring of public constituencies and 
stakeholders that reduces the overall number 
of governors from 44 to 34. This brings the 
Trust more into line with foundation trusts of 
a similar size. It is believed that this will make 
the Council of Governors more cohesive and 
effective.  

2. Constituency boundaries align to local 
authority voting boundaries. 

3. An increase in the maximum period that a 
governor can serve from six years to nine years. 

4. Merger of the patient constituency into a new, 
wider rest of England & Wales constituency.

The changes to the constituency structure and 
consequent reduction in the number of public 
governors will require elections to be held in all 
public and staff constituencies in the May/July 2013 
period.

Quality Report and the Annual Plan that will be 
submitted to Monitor in June 2013. Throughout 
the year, five operational committees of the Council 
of Governors have continued with a small group 
of governors sitting on each committee. The five 
committees are:

• Patient Experience – chaired by Michael Kelly
• Finance and Strategic Planning – chaired by 

Barry Orriss
• Membership and Community Engagement – 

chaired by Najma Hafeez
• Clinical Quality and Safety – chaired by Liz 

Steventon
• Hospital Environment – chaired by John Roberts

The committees meet regularly with the respective 
executive director and other relevant managers.
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Remuneration Report

The Board’s Remuneration Committee 
is mandated to review the appraisal 
of the executive directors and decide 
their remuneration, allowances and 
other terms and conditions of office. 
The committee meets without the 
Chief Executive present to perform 
the same role in respect of that post. 

The committee is chaired by Philip Hunt and 
met twice during the year. Neither the executive 
directors nor non-executive directors were awarded 
a general cost of living increase during the year.

Remuneration Policy 
The Remuneration Committee determines the 
remuneration policies and practices with the aim 
of attracting, motivating and retaining high calibre 
directors who will deliver success for the Trust and 
high levels of patient care and customer service.  

Executive Directors’ 
Remuneration and 
Appointment
Remuneration packages for executive directors who 
are voting members of the board consist of a salary 
and pension contributions. Salaries are reviewed 
annually with reference to the NHS Boardroom Pay 
Report published by Income Data Services (IDS). 
There are no performance-related elements to 
remuneration. 

The Remuneration Committee has access to the 
advice and views of the Chief Executive, the Director 
of Workforce and the Company Secretary. No 
director or employee is involved in the determination 
of, or votes on, any matter relating to their own 
remuneration. 

Performance is judged and reviewed as part of the 
annual appraisal and personal development review 
process in line with Trust policies. The appraisal 
of all executive directors is carried out by the 
Chief Executive and a report is then made to the 
Remuneration Committee. Details of remuneration, 
including the salaries and pension entitlements of 
the executive directors, are published in the annual 
accounts on page 191.➢

All of the executive directors have a six month 
termination notice period included in their contracts 
and there is no provision for compensation for early 
termination. There are no amounts payable to third 
parties for the services of the executive directors and 
they received no benefits in kind (2011/12).  The only 
non-cash element of the remuneration of executive 
directors is a pension-related benefit accrued under 
the NHS Pension Scheme. Contributions are made 
by both the employer and employee in accordance 
with the rules of the national scheme, which applies 
to all NHS staff in the scheme. 

The service contract details of 
the executive directors who 
are voting board directors are 
shown in the table below;

Director
Date of 
contract

Notice period

Aresh Anwar 01.03.2011 6 months

Simon Hackwell 01.08.2008 6 months

Mark Newbold 01.08.2010 6 months

Adrian Stokes 16.10.2008 6 months

Mandie 
Sunderland

01.12.2008 6 months

Lisa Thomson 01.01.2013 6 months

Sarah Woolley 07.05.2007 6 months

Dr Mark Newbold is a governor of both Aston
University and Waverley School, both of which roles
are unpaid. Adrian Stokes is the non executive 
director of Heartlands Education Centre Limited 
(HECL).

Other than that, no executive director
also serves as a non-executive director of any other
organisation.
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Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration and 
Appointment

Non-executive directors, including the Chairman, 
do not hold service contracts and are appointed for 
between three and four years. Their appointment is 
terminable with one month’s notice on either side. 
Non-executive directors are appointed following 
interview by the Appointments Committee of the 

Council of Governors. Non-executive directors’ fees 
are determined by the Council of Governors having 
received recommendations from the Council of 
Governors Remuneration Committee, which is now 
chaired by Mr Richard Hughes.

Terms of Office
Name First Appointment date Notice period

Unexpired term of contract
as at 31 March 2013

Lord Philip Hunt (Chairman) 1 October 2010 1 month 1 year

Anna East (Deputy Chairman) 01 July 2005 1 month  3 months

Najma Hafeez 01 April 2007 1 month 2 years

Paul Hensel 01 August 2005 1 month 4 months

Les Lawrence 01 April 2012 1 month 2 years

Edward Peck 01 April 2012 1 month 2 years

Laura Serrant-Green 1 April 2012 1 month 2 years

Alison Lord 01 May 2013 1 Month
3 years 2 months from date 
of appointment

The table above shows those non-executive directors 
in service at the end of the year and the date of 
their first appointment.

Mrs East and Mr Hensel will be standing down when 
their current period of office comes to an end.

As an exception to the Monitor Code of Governance 
(Clause C.2.2), the Council of Governors has 
appointed one of the non-executive directors on a 
four year term of office and one on a term of three 
years and two months.  
  
Details of the remuneration of the non-executive 
directors are published in the Annual Accounts 
on page➢191. The non-executive directors do not 
receive pensionable remuneration. There were no 
amounts payable to third parties for the services of 
the non-executive directors and they received no 
benefits in kind (2012/13 nil). 

The accounting policies for pensions and other 
retirement benefits are set out on page 193 of the 
accounts. 

In August 2012 HM Treasury and Monitor issued 
guidance relating to off-payroll engagements and 
advised that any future engagements of this type for 
over £220 per day and over six months should have 
contractual clauses that enable the Trust to obtain 
assurance in relation to income tax and national 
insurance obligations.  In response to this the Trust 
conducted a six-month inter-departmental review 
including Finance, HR, Procurement and Legal 
to identify any such cases.  The majority of cases 
found were for educational training and medical 
locum engagements and these suppliers have been 
contacted to put new contractual arrangements 
in place.  In addition new controls have been 
established to ensure that any new suppliers of this 
nature are subjected to additional checks so that 

Mark Newbold
Chief Executive
28 May 2013

the Trust remains compliant with the expectations 
of HM Treasury.
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Membership Strategy

The three main constituencies are: 

1. Public constituency: members who live in one of the Trust’s ten governor zones. Residents of these zones 
become eligible for public membership when they are over the age of 16. 

2. Staff constituency: members of the Trust staff. All contracted staff are eligible to become members. 
3. Patient constituency: members who are patients of the Trust. Patients who live outside the ten governor 

zones are eligible for membership if they have had treatment in the previous three years. 

A full listing of all the constituencies is available upon request from the Company Secretary. This listing also 
shows the minimum number of members, as well the number of governors required for each constituency. 

Breakdown of total members 

Public members:   94,464 
Patient members:  7,609 
Staff members:   10,156
Total membership:  112, 821

Public Membership is broken down as follows: 

Age (years)   Ethnicity      Gender 
0-16:   298  White:    61,416 Male:  41,032
17-21:  1,886  Mixed:    560   Female:  53,062
22+:   91,585 Asian/British Asian:  11,304 NK:   370
NK:  695  Black/British Black:  2,564 
    Other:    673
    NK:     17,947

Staff Membership is broken down as follows: 

Heartlands
Clinical Staff:   3716 
Non-Clinical:    2239                        

Good Hope                       
Clinical Staff: 1643          
Non-Clinical:   793                       

Solihull                    
Clinical Staff:  726       
Non-Clinical:   388                 

SCT                   
Clinical Staff:  535       
Non-Clinical:   159                 

Patient Membership is broken down as follows: 

Age (years)
0-16:   38 
17-21:  234
22+:   7337

156
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The last 12 months has seen an 
increase in membership numbers 
across all three constituencies. Any 
losses when analysed, were as a result 
of members either dying or moving 
out of the catchment area. To ensure 
our data was up to date and accurate, 
the Trust undertook a data cleanse 
of its members’ database in January 
2013. This did affect membership 
numbers; as a result we initiated an 
opt-out recruitment drive in February 
2013 enabling the Trust to maintain 
its target of 100,000 members. 

The Trust offers three 
levels of membership:

 
• Members Level 1, a high level of 

engagement 
• Members at Level 2, provided 

with regular communications 
and invitations to some health 
seminars 

• Members Level 3, receive quarterly 
communications 

This categorisation has enabled members to select 
the level of involvement they require to meet their 
individual and specific needs. 

The Membership now stands at 112,272 members 
(including public, staff, patient, governor and 
volunteer members). Our plan for 2013 is to continue 
to grow the membership numbers above 100,000 
members giving all new patients to the Trust the 
opportunity to become a member.

Patient members generally live outside the 
geographical catchment area and are either patients 
or patient carers. This constituency continues to 
grow as patient choice becomes more readily 
available and we have seen an increase of 7.9% on 
the previous year. 

The number of staff members has decreased by 3.4% 
this year due to Trust staff reductions. The goal for 
2013/14 is to ensure staffs remain engaged.  We will 
continue to encourage staff members to become 
member ambassadors to actively raise the profile of 
the Trust and its services. 

The Trust has updated the ACORN profiling and 
socio-economic grouping of its membership 
database monitor to ensure the demographics 
remain representative of the local community. 

Compared to the rest of the United Kingdom, the 
Heart of England community:
• Has a larger proportion of Moderate Means 

and Comfortably Off, and of the lowest 
affluence groups Hard Pressed.

• Has a smaller proportion of Wealthy Achievers 
and Urban Prosperity.

• Over-indexes on social grades D and E; 
proportions of the other grades are just below 
national levels.

• Has 6-7 times the proportion of Asian 
Community individuals.

This is very similar to last year’s profile – the region has 
not significantly changed in terms of demographics, 
although Asian Community individuals have fallen 
slightly.

Looking at the Trust’s membership:
• Wealthy Achievers are over-represented 

while Comfortably Off and Hard-Pressed are 
representative of the demographics of the 
Heart of England Region. Urban Prosperity are 
significantly under-represented and Moderate 
Means are slightly under-represented.

• In terms of socio-economic grade, the Trust 
is fairly representative in all grades except 
one. 5.9% of the region is classed as grade 
E; however they make up just 1.0% of the 
member profile.

• The most common ACORN groups amongst 
members are Secure Families, Struggling 
Families, Wealthy Executives and Asian 
Communities. This matches the Heart of 
England community.

Similarly, there are few changes to report at this 
level.

Considering new members recruited since February 
2012:
• There has been a highly significant recruitment 

of members from the Urban Prosperity 
demographic – this is the most under-
represented group.

• Urban Prosperity constituted 3.5% of all 
members in 2012 and 4.6% of new members.

• There have also been changes at ACORN 
type level: under-represented types such 
as “Prosperous Young Professionals, Flats”, 
“Student Terraces” and “Suburban Privately 
Renting Professionals” have seen proportionally 
increased membership numbers.

• There is a small increase in the numbers of 
members of social grade E, relative to the rest 
of the member base, though this was from a 
low base (new members of social grade E only 
constituted 1.1% of all memberships)
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In member representation

“ significant 

of young people”
By understanding our catchment areas in more 
detail we are able to use the ACORN profiling 
to effectively carry on the targeted recruitment 
campaigns. Plans are in place to address any 
membership demographic shortfalls in the coming 
year. Analysis of the membership data is undertaken 
monthly and action taken in any area where change 
is needed. Our own database is managed internally 
at present and is linked to the Trust’s patient system. 
This enables it to be automatically updated with any 
changes to members’ details. Security processes are 
in place to ensure that there is no breach of patient 
confidentiality.

In summary, the membership is more or less reflective 
of the community, with Urban Prosperity being the 
least representative category. However, the new 
members are clearly addressing this imbalance.

Overall there has been little change in the 
demographic characteristics of the region and the 
UK as a whole. On the other hand, new memberships 
are moving in a direction that, over time, will be 
more reflective of the region.

increase

158
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Membership growth and engagement 
is reported to the Council of 
Governors meeting which is also 
attended by executive and non-
executive directors. A sub group of 
governors is working with the Trust 
to continue to engage and develop 
the membership. 

Further development of the Trust’s website includes 
a new communications facility for constituents to 
contact their own governor. All governors each 
have their own web pages and can be emailed by 
constituents or members of the public. This facility 
will be further developed to include more governor 
information and activities to keep their constituents 
updated and engaged during the coming year.

The Trust’s held its Annual Community Health Fair at 
Millennium Point in Birmingham again this year. In 
partnership with the Midlands Co-operative Society 
and the membership office, the Trust hosted this 
unique event which was a joint collaboration as part 
of our community engagement programme. The 
fair was again another great success and the focus 
was getting the health prevention messages out 
into the community with health talks, interactive 
stands promoting health and wellbeing, community 
music and children’s activities. It was a day out for 
all of the family that was both fun and educational. 

The Trust’s partnership with the Midlands Co-
operative Society continues to flourish with joint 
community events organised throughout the year. 
This, combined with a community-based seminar 
programme and the Annual Community Health 
Fair, is switching the traditional focus of providing 
condition-specific information to a more public 
health-type agenda; working with community 

partners and encouraging people to stay well and 
stay out of hospital. Trust governors also have 
the opportunity to meet and engage with the 
members and for local people to learn more about 
health topics. The events provide an opportunity 
to promote the good work the Trust is doing in 
the region. Member engagement plays a key role 
in all events. This joint approach has also provided 
greater opportunities to engage with the whole 
community and encourage membership and higher 
levels of involvement. 

The Trust has also formed some unique partnerships 
this year with some local housing associations and 
local schools and colleges. The Trust is working with 
our partners to engage with residents and students 
to provide health and social care information where 
needed.

The community engagement programme this year 
has included:

• Monthly health seminars both on site and out in 
the community 

• Collaboration with the Midlands Co-operative 
Society and joint membership events

• Hindu Council of Birmingham, joint health 
awareness programme 

• Health  awareness days with the Sikh and 
Muslim communities

• Membership in the community at Diwali 
celebrations

• Mini community health fairs in association with 
health partners

• Partnership with the Health Exchange to 
promote health and wellbeing across our 
catchment area

• Membership attendance at local neighbourhood 
community events and carnivals

Membership Engagement



160

New links with young people 
have been our focus for member 
recruitment. This year has seen 
a significant increase in member 
representation of young people 
particularly in the age range 16-21. 
This was achieved following a series 
of targeted recruitment campaigns 
alongside the Trust’s own schools 
programme, established with 
the specific aim of enhancing the 
Trust’s profile in the community and 
encouraging young people to take an 
interest in the sciences and the health 
service. 

The programme is ongoing and several projects 
are already underway to involve and engage 
young people and include a leadership programme 
run in collaboration with local schools. The Trust 
runs membership and schools engagement open 
weekends, student mentoring and we are now 
working with a local college which is introducing 
both a Medical Academy and Careers Academy 
with advice and participation from the Trust. These 
projects will continue into next year.

2013/2014 Youth Engagement Programme:
• Solihull Sixth Form College  - Working with 

Student Council SFCS to publicise membership 
of the Trust and promote the health seminars 
and community events.

• Discussions with the Student Council Executive 
on their views regarding the possibility of a 
health-themed student conference in 2013 

• Facilitate work with college’s catering managers 
to explore food/nutrition/life skills possibilities 
and the setting up of a student health awareness 
programme.  

• Involve young members in the health 
ambassador work and recruit possible Youth 
Council  members.

• Schools and Colleges Youth Engagement project  
- pilot scheme.

• Simulation Project support for students 
undertaking healthcare qualifications.

• Students and volunteers help to promote the 
community health fairs  and events.

• Visits to schools/colleges to support and promote 
health.

• Work in partnership with schools to recreate a 
business/marketing ventures.

• Placements and work experience organised for 
students.

• One day visits for students, various topics 
covered.

• Diabetes project for schools.

In 2013/14 the new focus will be around community 
engagement taking the health agenda out into the 
community. Assisted by the Trust’s governors and 
active members, we will continue to have greater 
membership involvement. 

Engaging with existing community groups and 
forums where strong relationships have been 
formed will continue as well as building new 
community partnerships. Member volunteers sit on 
the Consultative Healthcare Council – the Trust’s 
primary forum for engaging users.  We are also 
continuing to encourage our member volunteers to 
widen their involvement in membership and Trust 
activities. 

The active e-members (reachable by e-mail) continue 
to increase in numbers. These members play a big 
role in membership and patient surveys where their 
feedback has been invaluable to the Trust.  

Our young people and schools projects will continue 
to play a key role in engagement with the younger 
members. The main focus for 2013 will include 
setting up a Youth Engagement Forum being 
piloted in partnership with Solihull Youth Council 
and Solihull schools and colleges, bringing in the 
health agenda. This will be rolled out to the rest 
of the Trust’s catchment on completion of the trial. 
A Youth Engagement Conference is also being 
organised and will take place later this year.

Attendance at Trust events, the youth engagement 
programme and our members and community 
engagement programme for 2013/2014 will 
continue to be our focus. Engagement of existing 
and new members remains a priority. The newly 
improved Trust website includes interactive facilities 
for instant feedback from members and the public 
on the services the Trust provides. Links to social 
networking sites allows members to use the blog 
and leave their comments. Our aim is to continue to 
encourage our members to become more e-active. 

In addition, the Board can confirm that all elections 
to the Governors’ Consultative Council were held 
in accordance with the election rules stated in the 
constitution.

Youth Engagement
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Annual Governance 
Statement 2012/13

Scope of responsibility:

As accounting officer, I have responsibility for 
maintaining a sound system of internal control that 
supports the achievement of the NHS Foundation 
Trusts policies aims and objectives, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds and departmental 
assets for which I am personally responsible, in 
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to 

me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the 
NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently 
and economically and that resources are applied 
efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my 
responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of internal control:

The system of internal control is designed to manage 
risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all 
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; 
it can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of 
internal control is based on an ongoing process 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of 

Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate 
the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact, should they be realised, and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically. The 
system of internal control has been in place in Heart 
of England NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 
31st March 2013 and up to the date of approval of 
the annual report and accounts.

Capacity to handle risk:

Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust has a Trust 
Board approved risk management strategy that 
provides explicit guidance for all staff concerning:

• Leadership and accountability;
• Roles and responsibilities for managing risk:
• Processes for risk management;
• Risk management education and training

The risk management strategy sets out the Trusts 
approach to risk, defining the structures for the 
reporting, ownership, management and escalation 
of risk at all levels within the organisation. It includes 
everybody’s responsibility of handling risk.
The risk management strategy clearly details that it 
is the Chief Executive who has overall responsibility 
for the Trusts risk management programme. 
Operational responsibility is delegated to the 
Director of Corporate affairs who is supported by 
other executive director colleagues for overseeing 
risk management activities in their individual areas 
of responsibility.

The Trust Board is responsible for overseeing the 
delivery of the risk management strategy and 
is supported by the work of its sub-committees. 
The Board has delegated its operational risk 
management responsibilities to the Governance and 
Risk Committee and gains independent assurance on 
the effectiveness of its risk management processes 
through the work of internal audit and the external 
audit programme.

The risk management policy and risk register 
guide provide further detailed guidance for staff 
regarding their role in the whole risk management 
lifecycle. Staff training for the identification and 
management of risk is available from the safety 
and governance directorate and corporate affairs 
directorate. This training is also supported by a 
comprehensive corporate induction and mandatory 
training programme (managed by the HEFT 
faculty) for all staff which provides training in the 
management of specific clinical and non-clinical 
risks.
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Chief Executive
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The Trust has a risk management 
strategy and policy. The strategy 
includes details of the key 
frameworks that the Trust uses 
to assess overall risk within 
the organisation. This includes: 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
compliance; NHSLA assessment; the 
Board Assurance Framework (BAF); 
external reviews and assessments; 
incidents, complaints, claims and 
lessons learned. The strategy aims to 
triangulate information from each of 
these sources to provide a detailed 
picture of its key risks and how they 
should be managed.

The risk management policy focuses on the risk 
management lifecycle and how risks are identified 
through risk assessments, are recorded via risk 
registers and how they are controlled and managed 
– via relevant Trust Board and sub-committees. 
There is a standard risk matrix used across the Trust 
to ensure a standard scoring system is applied to all 
risks. This policy forms the key control for defining 
the Trusts appetite for risk and it is used to manage 
and escalate risks. The policy contains clear processes 
for risk escalation.

The escalation of risks is from Directorate through 
the site and division quality and safety committees 
structure and ultimately to the Governance and 
risk committee and Clinical Quality Performance 
Group. Non clinical risks are escalated through 
similar structures, though this is through corporate 
departmental meetings – rather than site and 
division meetings.

The Trust has robust arrangements in place for 
recording and managing risks associated with data 
security. There is a specific risk register in place for the 
Chief Information Officer. Information governance 
issues are managed by the information governance 
committee which is a sub-committee of the 
Governance and Risk Committee. The annual review 
of information flow mapping identified one issue 
in relation to how the medical records department 
send patient information overseas. Secure measures 
for the transporting of this information have now 
been put in place.

The Trust has an established internal compliance 
framework in respect of the Health and Social care 
act regulations – which are monitored by the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC). Each regulation has an 

Executive lead, operational lead and compliance 
lead. The prompts for each regulation are reviewed 
quarterly by the executive lead and a report is 
presented to the Clinical Quality Performance Group 
by the head of corporate risk and compliance. These 
quarterly self assessments include consideration of 
the contents of the CQC quality and risk profile.

The Head of Internal Audit opinion concluded stated 
that ‘As internal auditors of the Heart of England 
Foundation Trust (“the Trust”), we are required to 
provide a statement of assurance on the systems of 
internal control. In giving our opinion it should be 
acknowledged, however, that our work is designed 
to enable us to form an opinion on the quality of the 
systems examined based upon the work undertaken 
during our current review. It should not be relied 
upon to disclose all weaknesses that may exist and, 
therefore, the opinion is not a guarantee that all 
aspects of the systems reviewed are adequate and 
effective. On the basis of this review, an assessment 
of significant assurance has been made’.

The Trust Board has identified the strategic risks 
facing the Trust. These risks are formally reviewed 
on a quarterly basis by the Trust Board and Trust 
Executive Management Board. There are currently 
five strategic risks identified on the strategic risk 
register and appropriate risk management and 
mitigation place are in place for each. Further detail 
is included in Table 1 below.

The strategic risk register for 2013/14 will be 
presented:

• Quarterly to Executive Management Board and 
Trust Board;

• Six monthly to Audit Committee.

The Trust uses an online incident reporting system 
(Datix) for all clinical and non-clinical incidents. 
There is a supporting policy and procedure in place 
for incident reporting and the Trusts commitment to 
having an open culture ensures that the reporting 
of incidents is actively encouraged by all staff. This 
policy also supports a range of ongoing initiatives 
to encourage learning and feedback from incidents. 
The Trust provides regular uploads of incident data 
to the National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA). There 
is a separate Trust policy for the management and 
investigation of serious incidents (SUIs).

Performance data is regularly reported to the Trust 
finance and performance committee and Trust 
Board. For quality governance purposes this is 
triangulated with patient experience information, 
nursing metrics and the quality dashboard and is 
regularly review at the Clinical Quality Performance 
Group and Governance and Risk Committee.

The risk and control framework:
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The Trust will ensure that all relevant stakeholders, 
including staff are kept informed of, and where 
appropriate, consulted on the management of risks 
faced by the organisation. The Trust engages its 
stakeholders through the following forum:

• Governors consultative Council
• Consultative Health Council
• Patient and public involvement forums
• Overview and scrutiny committees
• Patient surveys
• Patient focus groups

• Staff survey
• Foundation Trust membership
• Commissioners

The Trust is currently Level 2 NHSLA for the acute 
risk management standards and level 1 for the 
maternity standards. 

The Trust is not fully compliant with the registration 
requirements of the Care Quality Commission. 
During 2012/13, the Trust has had four unannounced 
inspections from the Care Quality Commission:

The Trust has taken immediate action to address any 
issues identified from the CQC visits and full action 
plans are in place for any outstanding actions. All 
action plans have been submitted to the CQC.

As an employer with staff entitled to membership 
of the NHS pension scheme, control measures are 
in place to ensure that all employer obligations 
contained within the scheme regulations are 
complied with. This includes ensuring that 
deductions from salary, employers contributions and 
payments into the scheme are in accordance with 
the scheme rules and that member pension scheme 
records are accurately updated in accordance with 

the timescales detailed in the regulations.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the 
organisations obligations under equality, diversity 
and human rights legislation are complied with.

The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments 
and carbon reduction delivery plans are in place in 
accordance with emergency preparedness and civil 
contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 
weather projects, to ensure that this organisations 
obligations under the climate change act and the 
adaptation reporting requirements are complied 
with.

June 2012 – Solihull Hospital and Good Hope Hospital:

This was a follow up visit to the August 2011 visit when the Trust was found to be non compliant with 
outcome 9 (medicines management). A desk top review was completed for the Birmingham Heartlands 
site. Following these visits the Trust was found to be compliant with outcome 9 and the compliance 
actions were removed.

February 2013 – Good Hope Hospital: 

The CQC assessed compliance with three outcomes. The Trust was found to be compliant with Outcome 7 
(Safeguarding) and non compliant with Outcome 1(Respecting and involving service users) and Outcome 
17 (Complaints).

January 2013 – Birmingham Heartlands Hospital:

The CQC assessed compliance with four outcomes – Outcome 1 (Respecting and involving people who use 
services); Outcome 2 (Consent); Outcome 4 (Care and Welfare of people using services) and Outcome 13 
(Staffing). The Trust was found to be compliant with all outcomes.

November 2012 – Solihull Hospital:

The CQC assessed compliance with three outcomes – Outcome 1 (Respecting and involving people who use 
services); Outcome 4 (Care and Welfare of people using services) and Outcome 6 (Cooperating with other 
providers). The Trust was found to be compliant with outcome 4 and 6, but non compliant with outcome 1.
(A subsequent follow up visit took place in March 2013 and the site was found to be compliant with 
outcome 1).
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The Trust Board has completed several away days in 
year to review its strategic priorities and assess the 
impact on its efficient use of resources. 

Financial and performance targets were agreed 
by the Trust Board. The Trust board then required 
the finance and performance committee (F&PC) 
to meet monthly to review how the Trust had 
performed against its financial and performance 
targets. The F&PC’s primary function is to ensure 
that any risks to the financial performance or 
performance measurement of the Trust were 
managed appropriately. The committee discusses 
the identified risks in detail and assigns actions to 
relevant the senior managers within the Trust. Each 
month the finance director provides an update on 
finance and performance at each Trust Board.
 
The commissioning contracts also provide a 
framework for commissioners to regularly review 
and report of the Trust’s progress against national 
and local performance targets. Regular formal 
meetings are held where senior members of the 
Trust and commissioning organisations attend to 
discuss and agree actions in relation to meeting 
performance targets.

The audit committee, which includes representatives 
from the Trust’s internal and external auditors, meets 
bi-monthly. It ensures that the recommendations 
contained in the reports from the annual internal and 
external audit programmes are being implemented. 
This committee provides additional scrutiny on 
behalf of the Trust Board regarding the governance 
processes within the Trust. It is also responsible for 
reviewing the Board Assurance Framework.

The Trust provides quarterly reports to Monitor 
regarding its financial and governance targets 
which it is required to do as a foundation trust. 
The Trust has an HR committee which reports to 
Trust Board. This committee is responsible for 
ensuring that effective processes are in place for 
the management of the human resources within 
the Trust. It is responsible for workforce planning 
at a strategic and operational level as well as for 
providing a robust framework of staff training and 
education.

Review of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the use of resources:

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 
and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare quality 
accounts for each financial year. Monitor has issued 
guidance to NHS Foundation Trust boards on the 
form and content of annual quality reports which 
incorporate the above legal requirements in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

Operational responsibility for the development 
of the quality account and report lies with the 
Director of Corporate Affairs. The Trust has a quality 
account project group that meets monthly to review 
progress with current priorities and also plan for the 
collation of the next report. 

Future priorities are determined by our stakeholder 
groups who suggest new priorities for the coming 
year. The list is presented to the Executive directors 
who ratify the final list of priorities for the coming 
year.

The quality account and report is subject to audit 
by the Trust external auditors. This includes data 
testing on specific indicators as well as an audit of 
the content of the report itself – in line with the 
requirements of Monitors Annual Reporting Manual. 
The Quality Report and Quality Account is subject to 
extensive external scrutiny to ensure that is provides 
a balanced view of the organisations progress 
during the year. The scrutiny process includes the 
Trust members and governors, commissioners, 
Health watch and the relevant overview and 
scrutiny committees who are all invited to provide 
comments on the report. These commentaries are 
included in the final document. Further detail on 
the data quality processes are outlined in the quality 
account.

Annual quality report:
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Review of effectiveness:

As accounting officer, I have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the 
executive managers and clinical leads within the 
NHS Foundation Trust who have the responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework. I have drawn on the 
content of the quality report in the annual report 
and other performance information available to 
me. My review is also informed by comments made 
by the external auditors in their management 
letter and other reports. I have been advised on 
the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the 
Trust Board, the audit committee, Governance and 
Risk committee and a plan to address weaknesses 
and ensure continuous improvement of the system 
is in place.

My review is informed in a number of ways. The 
head of internal audit provides an overall opinion 
of the arrangements for gaining assurance through 
the Board Assurance Framework and on the controls 
reviewed as part of the internal audit work. My 
review is also informed by:

• Monitor quarterly reporting;
• CQC essential standards of quality and safety;
• Health and Safety Executive;
• NHSLA;
• Patient experience metrics;
• Nursing metrics;
• Dr Foster information;
• Staff surveys;
• Internal audit;
• External audit;
• Peer reviews.

Each level of management, including Trust Board, 
reviews the risks and controls for which it is 
responsible. This is monitored through a robust 
reporting structure, defined by the risk management 
strategy and Board Assurance Framework.

MRSA and CDiff - Our performance against 
the MRSA and CDifficile targets were a 
challenge during the early part of the financial 
year. The final year end position was that the 
CDifficile target was achieved with 88 cases 
against a target of 124. However, the MRSA 
target of 6 was not achieved as the year end 
total was 7.

A&E 4 hour target - In Quarter 2 the Trust was 
rated as Amber/green by Monitor as it had not 
achieved ¬the A&E 4 hour target. By quarter 4, 
the Trust had breached the A&E target again 
as well as missing the MRSA target. The Trust 
was therefore rated as red for breaching the 
A&E target for three consecutive quarters. A 
full action plan on the A&E target has been 
presented to Monitor. 

18 weeks – In February, the Trust did not 
meet the target, however, the quarter 4 
target was achieved.  The February failure 
was expected as part of a recovery plan on the 
A&E 4 hour target and Monitor were advised 
that this would happen. Technically this would 
be classed as a breach in the Compliance 
Framework.

With the exception of the internal control issues 
that have been outlined above, no significant 
internal control issues have been identified.

Conclusions:
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Description of risk
Current Risk score 

(Consequence x 
Likelihood)

Controls Assurances

SR1 Future tariff efficiency across the 
NHS - There is a risk that this will be too big to 
respond appropriately without an impact upon 
existing services. This is compounded by a potential 
reduction in activity from other sectors as they 
seek to deliver their own CIPs. Without careful 
management, this could impact upon the quality 
and safety of the services provided.

20 – 4x5

* Finance Committee 
* Audit Committee 
* Trust Board Away day to discuss 3 year savings plan 
* Relationship building with external partners - 
including Birmingham City Council 
* CIP Board 
* Executive lead vacancy panel 
* Tighter controls on bank and agency staff 
* Job plan review 
* New escalation policy 
* Finance sub-committee of Executive Management 
Board 
* Pay bill challenge 
* MARS scheme

Internal: 
* Regular CIP reports to 
Finance Committee (Monthly) 
* Annual Timetable approved 
at Trust Board (August 2012) 
* Detailed CIP plans discussed 
at CIP Board (Fortnightly) 
* Trust Board finance reports 
(Monthly) 
* Jointly managed risk 
agreement agreed by Trust 
Board (April 2012)

SR2 Patient Flow and Capacity - Failure 
to successfully address discharge planning 
arrangements resulting in poor patient flow and 
unnecessary delays to admissions, transfers and 
discharges. Leading to increased risk in urgent 
care pathway, including significant impact upon 
the capacity of A&E department and the use of 
additional flex capacity. There is a risk to the 
corporate strategic priority of 'Safe and Caring' if 
performance does not improve. 

20 – 4x5

* Work with commissioners to develop single point of 
access 
* 18/7 working (Good Hope) 
* Project group established to address 'expected date of 
discharge' as part of SOP 
* Monthly meetings with commissioners 
* Site based structures and strategies to meet local 
challenges 
* Discharge Lounges operational at each site 
* Transformation Board 
* Funding (£2m) set aside for winter plan provision 
* Site and division leadership teams 
* Agreed as a whole healthcare system priority 
* Urgent care pathway agreed as a priority for the Trust 
* ECIST support

Internal: 
* Reports to Finance & 
Performance committee, EMB 
and TB (Monthly) 
* Site specific winter plans 
(October 2012)

SR9 18 Week wait - Failure to successfully 
address waiting list arrangements resulting in excess 
waiting times for patients requiring routine surgical 
intervention. Whilst the Trust has achieved the 90% 
admitted target for 18 weeks aggregated across 
all specialties, from April 2012 the new operating 
framework requires each specialty to achieve the 
90% admitted target. 

12 – 3x4

* Theatre productivity group 
* Operations Committee monitoring 
* Site and division leadership teams 
* Increase in site based operational management to 
support the waiting list coordinators with a daily focus 
on the current PTL lists

Internal: 
* Regular review of forward 
look to ensure correct clock 
start times (Daily) 
* Lockdown of day case list to 
ensure optimum patients per 
list (weekly) 
* Extra theatre lists allocated 
in poorer performing 
specialities to target extra 
patients (February 2012) 
* Specialist lists now 
commenced (October 2012)

SR8 - Ability of organisation to undertake 
strategic reconfiguration and development 
of new business models in response to 
longer term economic environment and 
reduction in health economy spending - The 
economic environment means that there will be 
reduced income for the Trust in the future. The 
impact of the QIPP agenda will require the Trust 
to embark on a transformation programme to 
ensure that it provides safe, quality services to 
patients in the most appropriate setting. Such an 
ambitious programme is not without risk - including 
reputational and financial. 

12 - 3x4

* Trust Board agreed (December 2012) transformation 
programme 
* Clinical transformation Programme Board (Re-shaping 
HEFT) 
* Business transformation board 
* Workforce productivity group

Internal:  
* Presentation to Trust Board 
away day (December 
2012) regarding plans for 
transformation programme 
* Annual Business plan (April 
2012) 
* Monthly reporting to EMB 
of reshaping HEFT progress 
and business transformation 
agenda

SR10 Workforce Transformation - the 
proposed service changes, including 
reshaping HEFT, will require a redesign of 
the current workforce - in terms of numbers 
of staff and appropriate skill mix. There is a 
risk that there is currently no strategic approach 
to evaluating what workforce requirements are 
necessary both in order to reduce costs and deliver 
the necessary service redesign. 

12 – 3x4

* Workforce plans 
* Nursing workforce redesign 
* Strategic workforce plan project groups (December 
2012) 
* Strategic plan for workforce changes (December 
2012)

Internal:  
* Presentation to EMB 
(December 2012) of 
strategic workforce plan 
including timeframes, project 
leads and governance 
structures for each project
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Financial Accounts5.
Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The directors can confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the auditors are unaware and that we, the directors, have taken all of the steps that we ought 
to have taken as directors in order to make ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

By order of the Board

Lord Philip Hunt 

28 May 2013 

Dr Mark Newbold

28 May 2013

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that 
the Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. For this reason, we continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Going Concern
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We have audited the financial statements of Heart 
of England NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 
31 March 2013 which comprise the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of 
Financial Position, the Statement of Cash Flows, the 
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity and the 
related notes.  The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
2012/13 issued by the Independent Regulator of 
NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).

Respective 
responsibilities of 
directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ 
Responsibilities Statement set out on page 167 
the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2012/13.  Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with the National Health Service Act 
2006, the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 
issued by Monitor and International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs) (UK and Ireland).  Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been 
prepared for and only for the Board of Governors 
of Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust in 
accordance with paragraph 24, of Schedule 7 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept 
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to 
any other person to whom this report is shown or 
into whose hands it may come save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the 
financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  
This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the NHS 

Foundation Trust’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by the NHS Foundation Trust; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.   In 
addition, we read all the financial and non financial 
information in the Annual Report and Accounts to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements.  If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies 
we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial 
statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view, of the state of the NHS 
Foundation Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2013 
and its income and expenditure and cash flows 
for the year then ended 31 March 2013; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
2012/13.

Opinion on other matters 
prescribed by the Audit 
Code for NHS Foundation 
Trusts
In our opinion

• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
to be audited has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the NHS Foundation Trusts 
Annual Reporting Manual 2012/13; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report 
for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements.

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Board of 
Governors of Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust
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Matters on which we are 
required to report by 
exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts requires us to report to you if:

• in our opinion the Annual Governance 
Statement does not meet the disclosure 
requirements set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2012/13 or is 
misleading or inconsistent with information of 
which we are aware from our audit.  We are not 
required to consider, nor have we considered, 
whether the Annual Governance Statement 
addresses all risks and controls or that risks are 
satisfactorily addressed by internal controls;

• we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that 
the NHS Foundation  Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources: or 

• we have qualified, on any aspect, our opinion 
on the Quality Report.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of 
the financial statements in accordance with the 
requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 to the National 
Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor.

Richard Bacon
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cornwall Court, 19 Cornwall Street, Birmingham, 
B3  2DT
29 May 2013

The maintenance and integrity of the Heart of England NHS Foundation 
Trust website is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried 
out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters 
and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes 
that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were 
initially presented on the website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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These Accounts for the year ending 31 March 2013 
have been prepared by the Heart of England NHS 
Foundation Trust (the Trust) in accordance with 
paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National 
Health Service Act 2006.

Foreword To The Accounts

Mark Newbold
Chief Executive
28 May 2013
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Primary Statements
Statement of Comprehensive Income

2012/13 2011/12
Note £000 £000 

Operating Income 2.2 628,962 607,030
Operating Expenses 3.1 (653,379) (592,863)
OPERATING (DEFICIT) /SURPLUS (24,417) 14,167

FINANCE COSTS
Finance income 6 1,872 1,365
Finance cost - financial liabilities 7.1 (310) (327)
Finance cost - unwinding of discount on provisions (4) (5)
PDC Dividends payable (7,636) (8,525)
NET FINANCE COSTS (6,078) (7,492)

(DEFICIT) /SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR (30,495) 6,675

Other comprehensive income
Impairments (32,592) 0
Revaluations 0 0
  Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets 0 0
  Other reserve movements 0 0

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE) /INCOME FOR 
THE YEAR (63,087) 6,675
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Primary Statements
Statement of Financial Position as at :-

31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2012
Note £000 £000 

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 8 5,647 4,809
Property, plant and equipment 9 235,799 292,774
Trade and other receivables 12 1,495 1,493
Other financial assets 28 0 0
Total non-current assets 242,941 299,076

Current assets
Inventories 11 7,738 7,874
Trade and other receivables 12 21,890 22,264
Other financial assets 28 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents 21 93,665 97,165
Total current assets 123,293 127,303

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 (52,039) (48,063)
Borrowings 15 (334) (480)
Other financial liabilities 29 0 0
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 (10,678) (6,433)
Other liabilities 14 (10,292) (15,372)
Total current liabilities (73,343) (70,348)
Total assets less current liabilities 292,891 356,031

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 0 0
Borrowings 15 (4,781) (4,941)
Other financial liabilities 29 0 0
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 (2,580) (2,473)
Other liabilities 14 0 0
Total non-current liabilities (7,361) (7,414)
Total assets employed 285,530 348,617
 
Financed by (taxpayers' and others' equity)
Public Dividend Capital 211,114 211,114
Revaluation reserve 20 50,621 85,340
Other reserves (169) (169)
Income and expenditure reserve 23,964 52,332
Total taxpayers' and others' equity 285,530 348,617

The annual accounts on page 171 to page 223 were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 28th May and signed on its behalf by:

Mark Newbold
Chief Executive
28 May 2013
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Primary Statements
Statement Of Cash Flows

2012/13 2011/12
Note £000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating (deficit)/surplus (24,417) 14,167
Depreciation and amortisation 17,640 21,891
Impairments 50,031 0
Reversals of impairments (6,613) 0
Loss on disposal 514 0
Interest accrued and not paid 25 0
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables 12.1 1,758 (5,855)
(Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets 0 0
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories 11.1 136 (164)
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables 13 526 (7,624)
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities 14 (5,080) 7,372
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 19 3,766 (3,628)
Tax (paid)/received 0 0
Other movements in operating cash flows (247) (204)
Net cash generated from operating activities 38,039 25,955

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 1,874 1,368
Purchase of financial assets (120,000) (105,000)
Sales of financial assets 120,000 105,000
Purchase of intangible assets (3,050) (2,580)
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (31,006) (17,069)
Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment 0 0
Net cash used in investing activities (32,182) (18,281)

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received 0 0
Public dividend capital repaid 0 0
Loans received 0 0
Loans repaid 0 0
Capital element of finance lease rental payments 17 (108) (258)
Capital element of Private Finance Initiative Obligations 18.1 (199) (359)
Interest paid 0 0
Interest element of finance lease 7.1 (148) (165)
Interest element of Private Finance Initiative obligations 7.1 (162) (162)
PDC Dividend paid (9,048) (8,048)
Cash flows from other financing activities 308 143
Net cash used in financing activities (9,357) (8,849)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,500) (1,175)

Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April 97,165 98,340
Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March 21.1 93,665 97,165
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Notes To The Accounts 
Accounting Policies

1.1 Basis of Preparation of Accounts

Monitor has directed that the financial statements of 
NHS Foundation Trusts should meet the accounting 
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual (ARM) which shall be agreed with 
HM Treasury.  Consequently, the following financial 
statements for Heart of England NHS Foundation 
Trust (the Trust) have been prepared in accordance 
with the 2012/13 NHS Foundation Trust ARM issued 
by Monitor. The accounting policies contained 
in that manual follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) to the extent 
that they are meaningful and appropriate to the 
Trust. The accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts. The accounts 
are prepared on a going concern basis.

1.2 Income

Income in respect of services provided is recognised 
when, and to the extent that, performance occurs 
and is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
receivable.  The main source of income for the 
Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of 
healthcare services.  Where income is received for 
a specific activity which is to be delivered in the 
following financial year, that income is deferred. 
The Trust makes an accrual in the statement of 
financial position at the year end to account for 
the value of partially completed patient spells.  The 
year on year movement in the value of this accrual 
is recorded within income from activities.

Income from the sale of non-current assets is 
recognised only when all material conditions of sale 
have been met, and is measured as the sums due 
under the sale contract. 

1.3 Expenditure on goods and services 

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised 
when, and to the extent that they have been 
received, and is measured at the fair value of those 
goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in 
operating expenses except where it results in the 
creation of a non-current asset such as property, 
plant and equipment.

1.4 Intangible assets 
Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without 
physical substance which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or 
which arise from contractual or other legal rights 
where expenditure of at least £5,000 is incurred. 
They are recognised only where it is probable that 

future economic benefits will flow to, or service 
potential be provided to, the Trust and where the 
cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Internally generated intangible assets  

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, 
publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are 
not capitalised as intangible assets. Expenditure on 
research is not capitalised.  

Expenditure on development is capitalised only 
where all of the following can be demonstrated:

• the project is technically feasibly to the point of 
completion and will result in an intangible asset 
for sale or use;  

• the Trust intends to complete the asset and sell 
or use it;  

• the Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset;  
• how the intangible asset will generate probable 

future economic or service delivery benefits e.g. 
the presence of a market for it or its output 
or where it is to be used for internal use, the 
usefulness of the asset; 

• adequate financial, technical and other 
resources are available to the Trust to complete 
the development and sell or use the asset; and  

• the Trust can measure reliably the expenses 
attributable to the asset during development.

Software

Software which is integral to the operation of 
hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised 
as part of the relevant item of property, plant and 
equipment. Software which is not integral to the 
operation of hardware e.g. application software, is 
capitalised as an intangible asset.

Measurement 

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, 
comprising all directly attributable costs needed 
to create, produce and prepare the asset to the 
point that it is capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. Subsequently intangible 
assets are measured at fair value. Increases in asset 
values arising from revaluations are recognised in 
the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the 
extent that, they reverse an impairment previously 
recognised in operating expenses, in which case 
they are recognised in operating income. Decreases 
in asset values and impairments are charged to 
the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is 
an available balance for the asset concerned, and 
thereafter are charged to operating expenses. Gains 
and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve 
are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’. 
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the 
lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less 
costs to sell’. 
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Amortisation 

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected 
useful economic lives in a manner consistent with 
the consumption of economic or service delivery 
benefits.  The amortisation periods for intangible 
assets are, in general,  5-10 years for software 
licences.

1.5 Property, Plant and Equipment

Recognition

Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:  
• it is held for use in delivering services or for 

administrative purposes;  
• it is probable that future economic benefits will 

flow to, or service potential be provided to, the 
Trust;  

• it is expected to be used for more than one 
financial year; and  

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
The cost must be where;
• individually items have a cost of at least 

£5,000;  or
• collectively they have a cost of at least 

£5,000 and individually have a cost of 
more than £250, where the assets are 
functionally interdependent, they had 
broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal 
dates and are under single managerial 
control; or 

• form part of the initial equipping and 
setting-up cost of a new building, ward 
or unit irrespective of their individual or 
collective cost.  

Where a large asset, for example a building, 
includes a number of components with significantly 
different asset lives e.g. plant and equipment, then 
these components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

Measurement 

Valuation  

All property and plant assets are measured initially 
at cost, representing the costs directly attributable 
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing 
it to the location and condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. All assets are measured subsequently 
at fair value.  
   
For freehold and leasehold properties fair value is 
based on periodic, but at least quinquennial, rolling 
valuations performed by external independent 
valuers less subsequent depreciation and impairment 
losses.   The valuations are performed with sufficient 
regularity to ensure  that the carrying value does not 
differ significantly from fair value at the reporting 
date. 

Short life equipment is valued at Depreciated Historic 
Cost due to the individually short life and low value 
of each asset.  Non Short life equipment is assessed 
for fair value using depreciated replacement cost 
as a proxy.  The Trust has concluded that there 
is no material difference between depreciated 
replacement cost and fair value for this class of 
assets.

Revaluation and impairment  

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations 
are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except 
where, and to the extent that, they reverse an 
impairment previously recognised in operating 
expenses, in which case they are recognised in 
operating income. Decreases in asset values and 
impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve 
to the extent that there is an available balance for 
the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to 
operating expenses. Gains and losses recognised 
in the revaluation reserve are reported in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item 
of ‘other comprehensive income’.   Impairments 
relating to a loss of economic benefits or a loss 
of service potential are recognised in operating 
expenses.

On an annual basis the Trust will transfer an amount 
from the revaluation reserve to the Income and 
Expenditure reserve to transfer the excess of current 
cost depreciation over historical cost depreciation to 
the Income and Expenditure Reserve.

Depreciation  

Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are 
depreciated on a straight line basis over their 
remaining useful economic lives in a manner 
consistent with the consumption of economic or 
service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered 
to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. 
Property, Plant and Equipment which has been 
reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to be depreciated 
upon the reclassification.  Depreciation is applied in 
the quarter after  the asset is brought into use.

Assets in the course of construction and residual 
interests in off-statement of financial position sheet 
Private Finance Initiative contract assets are not 
depreciated until the asset is brought into use or 
reverts to the Trust, respectively. Assets held under 
finance leases are depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives or, where shorter, the lease term. 

Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated 
on their current value over the estimated remaining 
life of the asset as advised by the Trust’s valuer, 
currently GVA.  Leaseholds are depreciated over the 
primary lease term. 
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Equipment is depreciated evenly over the estimated 
life of the asset. 

In assessing estimated useful economic lives, 
consideration is given to any contractual 
arrangements and operational requirements 
relating to particular assets.  Unless otherwise 
determined by operational requirements, the 
depreciation periods for the principal categories of 
property, plant and equipment are, in general, as 
follows:

plant & machinery                           5-15 years 
transport equipment                       7 years 
information technology                  5-8 years 
furniture & fittings                          5 years 
dwellings                                          up to 60 years   
other buildings                                up to 60 years  

De-recognition of Property, Plant & Equipment

Assets planned to be scrapped or demolished are 
held as operational assets with revised lives to reflect 
the period over which the assets economic life has 
been shortened.  Once the asset has been disposed 
of it ceases to be recognised and is removed from 
the Trust’s Fixed Asset Register.

Assets planned for sale on disposal are reclassified 
as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria 
are met: 

• the asset is available for immediate sale in its 
present condition subject only to terms which 
are usual and customary for such sales; 

• there is documented management intent 
and approval in line with the Trust’s Standing 
Financial Instructions to sell the asset;

• an active programme has begun to find a buyer 
and complete the sale; 

• the asset is being actively marketed at a 
reasonable price; 

• the sale is expected to be completed within 12 
months of the date of classification as ‘Held for 
Sale’; and 

• it is highly unlikely that the plan to sell the asset 
will be cancelled or materially changed so as to 
delay or impair the process such that the sale will 
take longer than 12 months or cease completely.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured 
at the lower of their existing carrying amount and 
their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases 
to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except 
where the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below the 
carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all 
material sale contract conditions have been met.

Donated assets 

Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their 
fair value on receipt. The donation is credited to 
income at the same time, unless the donor has 
imposed a condition that the future economic 
benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed 
in a manner specified by the donor, in which case 
the donation is deferred within liabilities and is 
carried forward to future financial years to the 
extent that the condition has not yet been met. The 
donated assets are subsequently accounted for in 
the same manner as other items of property, plant 
and equipment.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions 

PFI transactions which meet the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
12 (IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements) 
definition of a service concession, as interpreted 
in HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual, 
are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial 
Position’ by the Trust. The underlying assets are 
recognised as Property, Plant and Equipment at 
their fair value which is periodically assessed in 
line with the Trust’s valuation policy. An equivalent 
financial liability is recognised in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard 17 (IAS 17 - 
Leases). The annual contract payments are split into 
the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the 
charges for services. The finance cost is calculated 
using the effective interest rate for the scheme. The 
service charge is recognised in operating expenses 
and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

For PFI transactions which do not meet the IFRIC12 
definition of a service concession, as interpreted in 
HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual, the PFI 
payments are recorded as an operating expense. 
Where the Trust has contributed to land and buildings, 
a prepayment for their fair value is recognised and 
amortised over the life of the PFI contract by charge 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where, 
at the end of the PFI contract, a property reverts to 
the Trust, the difference between the expected fair 
value of the residual on reversion and any agreed 
payment on reversion  is built up over the life of the 
contract by capitalising part of the unitary charge 
each year, as property, plant and equipment. 

The annual unitary payment is separated into the 
following component parts, using appropriate 
estimation techniques where necessary:
a. Payment for the fair value of services received;
b. Payment for the PFI asset, including finance 

costs; and
c. Payment for the replacement of components 

of the asset during the contract ‘lifecycle 
replacement’.
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Services received

The fair value of services received in the year is 
recorded under the relevant expenditure headings 
within operating expenses.

PFI Asset

The PFI assets are recognised as property, plant and 
equipment, when they come into use. The assets are 
measured initially at fair value in accordance with 
the principles of IAS 17 (Leases). Subsequently, the 
assets are measured at fair value, which is kept up 
to date in accordance with the Trust’s approach for 
each relevant class of asset in accordance with the 
principles of IAS 16 (Property, Plant and Equipment).

PFI liability

The PFI liability is measured initially at the same 
amount as the fair value of the PFI asset and is 
subsequently measured as a finance lease liability in 
accordance with IAS 17 (Leases). 

An annual finance cost is calculated by applying the 
implicit interest rate in the lease to the opening lease 
liability for the period, and is charged to ‘Finance 
Costs’ within the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

The element of the annual unitary payment that 
is allocated as a finance lease rental is applied to 
meet the annual finance cost and to repay the lease 
liability over the contract term. 

Lifecycle replacement

Components of the asset replaced by the operator 
during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are 
capitalised where they meet the Trust’s criteria for 
capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the 
time they are provided by the operator and are 
measured initially at their cost and depreciated over 
the shorter of either remaining life of the contract 
or the life of the individual asset.

Assets contributed by the Trust to the operator for 
use in the scheme
Assets contributed for use in the scheme continue 
to be recognised as items of property, plant and 
equipment in the Trust’s Statement of Financial 
Position.

1.6 Inventories  

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value, on a first in first out basis.  Each 
year end stock is assessed for slow moving, obsolete 
and defective stock and a provision made for this.
  

1.7 Research and Development

Expenditure on research is not capitalised, it is 
charged as an expense through the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. Expenditure on 
development is capitalised only where all of the 
following can be demonstrated:

• the project is technically feasible to the point of 
completion and will result in an intangible asset 
for sale or use;

• the Trust intends to complete the asset and sell 
or use it;

• the Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset;
• how the intangible asset will generate probable 

future economic or service delivery benefits e.g. 
the presence of a market for it or its output, 
or where it is to be used for internal use, the 
usefulness of the asset;

• adequate financial, technical and other 
resources are available to the Trust to complete 
the development and sell or use the asset; and

• the Trust can measure reliably the expenses 
attributable to the asset during development.

1.8 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial 
institution repayable without penalty on notice 
of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are 
investments that are short-term (3 months or less 
from date of acquisition) and are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of 
change in value.  

1.9 Provisions  

The Trust recognises a provision where it has a 
present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain 
timing or amount; for which it is probable that 
there will be a future outflow of cash or other 
resources; and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount. The amount recognised in the 
Statement of Financial position is the best estimate 
of the resources required to settle the obligation. 
Where the effect of the time value of money is 
significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows 
are discounted using the discount rates published 
and mandated by HM Treasury. 

Clinical negligence costs 

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a 
risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an 
annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, 
settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the 
NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical 
negligence cases, the legal liability remains with 
the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence 
provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the 
Trust is disclosed at note 19 but is not recognised in 
the Trust’s accounts.
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Non-clinical risk pooling 

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses 
Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. 
Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust 
pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation 
Authority and in return receives assistance with 
the costs of claims arising. The annual membership 
contributions, and any ‘excesses’ payable in respect 
of particular claims are charged to operating 
expenses when the liability arises.  

1.10 Contingencies
  
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past 
events whose existence will only be confirmed by 
one or more future events not wholly within the 
entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are 
disclosed in note 24 where an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable. Contingent liabilities are not 
recognised, but are instead disclosed in note 24. 
Contingent liabilities are defined as:  
• possible obligations arising from past events 

whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the entity’s control; or   

• present obligations arising from past events but 
for which it is not probable that a transfer of 
economic benefits will arise or for which the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
with sufficient reliability.  

1.11 Expenditure on Employee Benefits  
Short-term Employee Benefits  

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments 
are recognised in the period in which the service is 
received from employees. The cost of annual leave 
entitlement earned but not taken by employees at 
the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are 
permitted to carry-forward leave into the following 
period.  

Pension costs  

NHS Pension Scheme  

Past and present employees are covered by the 
provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme 
is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers 
NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of Secretary of State, 
in England and Wales. It is not possible for the 
Trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme 
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as 
a defined contribution scheme.   

Employer’s pension cost contributions are charged 
to operating expenses as and when they become 
due.   

Additional pension liabilities arising from early 
retirements are not funded by the scheme except 
where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full 
amount of the liability for the additional costs is 
charged to the operating expenses at the time the 
Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of 
the method of payment.

1.12 Critical accounting judgements and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, 
management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.  The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from 
those estimates and the estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods.

1.13 Critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies

The Trust is required under IAS1 (Presentation 
of Financial Statements) to disclose the critical 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations 
(see note 1.14) that management has made in the 
process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies 
and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
The following areas are where the application of 
the Trust’s accounting polices involved significant 
judgements;

(a) The assumption within the Research and 
Development business unit is that it breaks even in 
any financial year.  The head of the business unit 
regularly reviews the income and costs and flexes 
resource and obtains sources of income depending 
on the activity of the department.

(b) The Trust’s policy on stock valuation is based on 
a first in first out basis.  Some of the stock is valued 
manually and in some cases it has been necessary 
to value this stock on an average cost basis of stock 
purchased during the year.  This has no material 
impact on the year end stock valuation.

(c) The Trust commissioned a valuation if its land, 
building and dwellings as at 31 March 2013.   The 
valuation has followed the principles below;

(i) The fair value of operational assets is 
determined as the market value with the 
explicit assumption that property is sold as a 
continuing business.  This has been done on the 
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basis of depreciated replacement cost (DRC) for 
specialised property and existing use valuation 
for non-specialised operational property.  DRC 
valuations were prepared using the modern 
equivalent asset valuation (MEAV) method 
in accordance with the requirements of the 
Department of Health and the Royal Institute of 
Surveyors Valuation Information Paper 10.

(ii) For assets with finance lease contracts;
• The land element is separated out from 

the buildings as under IAS 17 (leases) to 
allow for separate assessment of the lease 
classification,

• The assets are measured as the value in 
the underlying asset rather than the value 
of the lease and

• The fair value of the asset will be the 
market value of the building subject to 
the assumption of the continuance of the 
existing use.

(iii) For each specialised operational property an 
assessment has been made of the size and type 
of building required to perform the exiting use 
and adjustments have been made for the current 
condition of the buildings.

1.14 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The  Trust is required under IAS1 (Presentation of 
Financial Statements), to disclose key assumptions 
concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.  
The Trust has reviewed the areas where there 
are sources of estimation uncertainty, including 
provision balances, PFI transactions, NHS injury 
scheme income and balances, income and debtor 
balances relating to contracted NHS income, debtor 
balances and asset valuations.

Within Provisions is an estimate of redundancy 
costs. This value is based on the Trust’s judgement of 
the anticipated costs of current workforce changes, 
which uses an average cost of a group of staff. The 
actual cost could be different to the estimated 
values.

With the exception of the point above, the Trust has 
not made any further estimations or judgements 
that could have a significant risk of materially 
adjusting the carrying values of any other assets or 
liabilities within the next financial year.

1.15 Value Added Tax  

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the 
scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not 
apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.  

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 
expenditure category or included in the capitalised 
purchase cost of non-current assets. Where output 
tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the 
amounts are stated net of VAT.  
  
1.16 Foreign exchange  

The functional and presentational currencies 
of the Trust are sterling. A transaction which is 
denominated in a foreign currency is translated into 
the functional currency at the spot exchange rate 
on the date of the transaction. There are minimal 
foreign currency transactions.

1.17 Third party assets  

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money 
held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the 
accounts since the Trust has no beneficial interest in 
them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note 
to the accounts (Note 21.2) in accordance with the 
requirements of HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting 
Manual.  

1.18 Leases  
Finance leases 

Where substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership of a leased asset are borne by the 
Trust, the asset is recorded as Property, Plant and 
Equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. 
The value at which both are recognised is the lower 
of the fair value of the asset or the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, discounted using 
the interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit 
interest rate is that which produces a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the outstanding 
liability. The asset and liability are recognised at the 
inception of the lease, and are de-recognised when 
the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. The 
annual rental is split between the repayment of the 
liability and a finance cost. The annual finance cost 
is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate to 
the outstanding liability and is charged to Finance 
Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Operating leases  

Other leases are regarded as operating leases and 
the rentals are charged to operating expenses on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
Operating lease incentives received (e.g. reduced 
rentals or rent free periods) are added to the actual 
lease rentals invoiced and charged to operating 
expenses over the life of the lease to give a similar 
rental charge per year across each year of the lease.

Leases of land and buildings  

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the 
land component is separated from the building 



181

component and the classification for each is assessed 
separately.  

Lessor

Where the Trust acts as the lessor, the income due to 
the Trust is accounted for on an accruals basis.

1.19 Public dividend capital  

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public 
sector equity finance based on the excess of 
assets over liabilities at the time of establishment 
of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM Treasury has 
determined that PDC is not a financial instrument 
within the meaning of IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: 
Presentation).  A charge, reflecting the forecast cost 
of capital utilised by the Trust, is paid over as public 
dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated 
at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on 
the actual average relevant net assets of the Trust as 
recorded in the unaudited year end accounts.  The 
calculated dividend is not revised if any adjustments 
to net relevant assets are identified during the final 
audit process.  Relevant net assets are calculated as 
the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, 
except for donated assets and cash held with the 
Government Banking Services. Average relevant 
net assets are calculated as the arithmetic mean of 
opening and closing relevant net assets.  

1.20 Other reserves  

Other reserves were created to account for any 
differences between the value of fixed assets taken 
over by the Trust at inception and the corresponding 
figure in the opening capital debt.

1.22 Losses and Special Payments  

Losses and special payments are incurred when there 
is an excess to pay on claims made through the NHS 
Litigation Authority for non-clinical claims or where 
the amount is below the excess in which case it is 
paid directly to the individual or organisation. This 
would be the case for small monetary value items 
such as spectacles, cash and clothing.
Losses and special payments are reported on an 
accruals basis, but exclude provisions for future 
losses.

Corporation Tax  

NHS Foundation Trusts are potentially liable to 
corporation tax in certain circumstances.  A review 
of other operating income is performed annually 
to assess any potential liability in conjunction with 
guidance on the HMRC website.  As a result of this 
review it is concluded that the Trust did not have a 
corporation tax liability in 2011/12 or 2012/13.  

1.23 Financial instruments and financial liabilities  

Recognition
  
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise 
from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-
financial items (such as goods or services), which are 
entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal 
purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised 
when, and to the extent which, performance occurs 
i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services 
is made. Financial assets or financial liabilities in 
respect of assets acquired or disposed of through 
finance leases are recognised and measured in 
accordance with the accounting policy for leases 
described above. All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.  

De-recognition 
 
All financial assets are de-recognised when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the assets have 
expired or the Trust has transferred substantially 
all of the risks and rewards of ownership. Financial 
liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.   

Classification and Measurement  

Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value 
through Income and Expenditure’, ‘Loans and 
receivables’, ‘Available-for-sale’ assets or assets 
‘Held to maturity’. Financial liabilities are classified 
as ‘Fair value through Income and Expenditure’ or 
as ‘Other Financial liabilities’.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘Fair Value 
through Income and Expenditure’
  
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value 
through income and expenditure’ are financial assets 
or financial liabilities held for trading. A financial 
asset or financial liability is classified in this category 
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
in the short-term. Derivatives are also categorised 
as held for trading unless they are designated 
as hedges. Derivatives which are embedded in 
other contracts but which are not ‘closely-related’ 
to those contracts are separated-out from those 
contracts and measured in this category. Assets and 
liabilities in this category are classified as current 
assets and current liabilities. These financial assets 
and financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair 
value, with transaction costs expensed in the income 
and expenditure account. Subsequent movements 
in the fair value are recognised as gains or losses in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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Loans and receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments which 
are not quoted in an active market. They are 
included in current assets. The Trust’s loans and 
receivables comprise: current investments, cash and 
cash equivalents, NHS debtors, accrued income and 
‘other debtors’. Loans and receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and 
are measured subsequently at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset. Interest on loans and receivables is calculated 
using the effective interest method and credited to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Held to maturity investments

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturity, and there is a positive intention 
and ability to hold to maturity.  After initial 
recognition, they are held at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any impairment.  
Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative 
financial assets which are either designated in 
this category or not classified in any of the other 
categories. They are included in long-term assets 
unless the Trust intends to dispose of them within 
12 months of the Statement of Financial Position 
date.

Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised 
initially at fair value, including transaction costs, 
and measured subsequently at fair value, with 
gains or losses recognised in reserves and reported 
in the Statement of Comprehensive income as an 
item of ‘Other comprehensive income’. When items 
classified as ‘available-for-sale’ are sold or impaired, 
the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised 
are transferred from reserves and recognised in 
Finance Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.  

Other financial liabilities  

All other financial liabilities are recognised initially 
at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
measured subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future 
cash payments through the expected life of the 
financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial 

liability. They are included in current liabilities 
except for amounts payable more than 12 months 
after the Statement of Financial Position date, 
which are classified as long-term liabilities. Interest 
on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 
is calculated using the effective interest method 
and charged to Finance Costs. Interest on financial 
liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and 
equipment or intangible assets is not capitalised as 
part of the cost of those assets.  

Impairment of financial assets

At the Statement of Financial Position date, the 
Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other 
than those held at ‘fair value through income and 
expenditure’ are impaired. Financial assets are 
impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, 
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events which occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset and which 
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the asset. For financial assets carried at amortised 
cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of the revised future 
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced directly.  

1.24 NHS Charitable Funds

The Trust is the Corporate Trustee for Heart 
of England NHS Foundation Trust General 
Charitable Fund (Charity Number 1052330). IAS 27 
(Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements) 
indicates that the Charity represents a subsidiary 
of the Trust. However, because HM Treasury has 
granted a dispensation to the application of IAS 27 
in relation to the consolidation of NHS Charitable 
Funds until 31 March 2014, consolidated accounts 
have not been prepared.
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Notes To The Accounts    

Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted  
   
IASB standard and IFRIC interpretations
  
The accounting standards listed below have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) but have not yet been adopted in the NHS in 2012/13. NHS bodies cannot adopt new standards unless 
they have been adopted in the HM Treasury FReM. The HM Treasury FReM generally does not adopt an 
international standard until it has been endorsed by the European Union for use by listed companies.  
 
   
In some cases, the standards may be interpreted in the HM Treasury FReM and therefore may not be adopted 
in their original form. The following table lists changes issued by the IASB which have not yet been adopted:

 
 

Change published Published by 
IASB

Financial year in which the change first 
applies

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Uncertain. Not likely to be adopted by the 
EU until the IASB has finished the rest of its 
financial instruments project.

Financial Assets: November 2009

Financial Liabilities: October 2010

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements

May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities

May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU.

IAS 12 Income Taxes amendment December 2010 Effective date of 2012/13 but not yet adopted 
by the EU.

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, 
on other comprehensive income (OCI)

June 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU.

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU.

IAS 28 Associates and joint ventures. May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU.

IAS 19 (Revised 2001) Employee Benefits June 2011 Effective date of 2013/14.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
- amendment
Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

December 2011 Effective date of 2014/15 but not yet adopted 
by the EU.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - 
amendment

December 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted 
by the EU.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
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2012/13

Operational 
Healthcare

Research and 
Development

Total 
Segments

£'000 £'000 £'000
Income 609,038 3,954 612,992
Costs (523,610) (3,954) (527,564)
Net surplus 85,428 0 85,428

Notes To The Accounts  
Note 2.1 Operating Segments 
 
Trust wide summary of segments 

2011/12

Operational 
Healthcare

Research and 
Development

Total 
Segments

£'000 £'000 £'000
587,259 3,578 590,837

(506,567) (3,578) (510,145)
80,692 0 80,692

Operational Healthcare refers to the core activities of the Trust that fall under the remit of the Clinical Sites 
and Divisions (‘Divisions’). This activity is primarily the provision of NHS healthcare, either to patients and 
charged to the Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) via the local delivery plan (LDP), or where healthcare related services 
are provided to other Trusts, Foundations Trusts, Strategic Health Authorities (SHAs), PCTs and Local Councils 
and charged at service level agreement (SLA) prices. 
      
The Operational Healthcare segment comprises the five clinical Divisions (Good Hope, Solihull, Heartlands, 
Clinical Support Services and Women’s and Children’s Services). These Divisions have been aggregated into a 
single operating segment because they have similar economic characteristics, the nature of the services they 
offer are the same (free NHS care), they have similar customers (the general public from the surrounding 
geographical areas) and have the same regulators (Monitor, Care Quality Commission and the Department of 
Health).  The overlapping activities and interrelation between the Divisions also suggests that aggregation is 
applicable. It is the Medical Director that ultimately makes decisions alongside the Finance Director and Chief 
Executive about the allocations of budgets, capital funding and other financial decisions. The income the Trust 
earns for the Operational Healthcare activity is not allocated out to the Divisions on a monthly basis.  
     
The costs associated with the activities of the Divisions are the costs of providing these healthcare services, 
including running the wards, theatres and clinics where these services are provided and mostly comprise 
staffing costs, drugs and medical consumables and supplies.  In addition, the capital costs of the Trust are 
included in this segment as the majority of the value of the estate and equipment relates to the assets required 
to provide healthcare services. 

The PCTs account for more than 90% of the income of Operational Healthcare and the majority of the income 
is from the West Midlands.
        
The Research and Development segment refers to the activities of the Trust that focus specifically on pioneering 
developments and researching innovations and advancements in healthcare provision.  The R&D directorate 
is funded by grants and income from commercial bodies, such as pharmaceutical companies, research 
organisations, medical charities and the Department of Health.  The activities it conducts include medical 
trials, data analysis and writing medical journals and papers.  The costs of the segment are mostly staffing costs 
and medical supplies costs and are distinctly identifiable from other Trust costs. Indirect overheads of Trust 
corporate departments are not included within these numbers.       
 
Because the Trust’s assets are only reported at a consolidated level to Finance and Performance Committee 
and Trust Board it is not possible to separate them by segment.       
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Income 2012/13 2011/12
£'000 £'000

Segmental income  612,992  590,837 
Corporate and facilities income  15,970  16,193 

Trust wide income  628,962  607,030 
 

Surplus 2012/13 2011/12
£'000  £'000 

Segmental surplus 85,428 80,692
Corporate and facilities deficits (74,899) (74,017)
Net Impairments (41,023) 0
Trust wide (deficit)/surplus (30,494) 6,675

The corporate and facilities departments are those that provide support services to the Operational Healthcare 
segment. 
         
The facilities departments include catering (provisions to patients, staff and visitors), car parking (patients, staff 
and visitors), portering, cleaning services, post, and estates management.  The corporate departments include 
the Board of Directors, Corporate Nursing, Finance, Human Resources and Organisational Development, 
Information Communications and Technology (ICT), Corporate Affairs, and Governance.  The costs of the 
corporate departments are primarily staffing costs, insurance costs and legal and consultancy costs.  
      
Although the corporate and facilities departments earn some income, this is ancillary to the main purpose of 
the department and is small relative to the size of the Trust, so is not deemed to be a segment of its own.  
      
All of the Trust’s activities are based in the UK and its principal activity is healthcare.  The Trust’s registered 
address is Devon House, Heartlands Hospital, Bordesley Green East, Birmingham, B9 5SS    
    
        

Reconciliation between segments and Trust wide results 
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Notes To The Accounts 
Note 2.2 Operating Income

2012/13 2011/12
Total Total 
£000 £000 

Income from activities (See Note 2.2.1 below) 551,344 538,058
Other operating income (See Note 2.6) 77,618 68,972
TOTAL 628,962 607,030

Note 2.2.1 Income from activities
2012/13 2011/12

Total Total 
£000 £000 

NHS Foundation Trusts 0 0
NHS Trusts 0 0
Strategic Health Authorities 0 0
Primary Care Trusts 547,696 533,432
Local Authorities 0 0
Department of Health - grants 0 0
Department of Health - other 0 0
NHS Other 0 236
Non NHS: Private patients 532 579
Non-NHS: Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 311 200
NHS injury scheme (was RTA) 2,805 3,611
TOTAL 551,344 538,058

NHS Injury Scheme income is subject to a provision for doubtful debts of 12.6% (10.5% in 2011/12) to reflect 
expected rates of collection.     
     
Note 2.3 Mandatory and non-mandatory split of income from activities    
 
     
Of the total income from activities, £547,696k (2011/12 £533,668k)  is mandatory and £3,648k (2011/12 
£4,390k) is non-mandatory income.  Mandatory income is defined as NHS clinical income from PCTs and 
other NHS organisations.     
     
Note 2.4 Private Patient Income     
     
The statutory limitation on private patient income in Section 44 of the 2006 Act was repealed with effect 
from 1 October 2012 by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. As such, the financial statements that were 
provided here previously are no longer required.
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Notes To The Accounts 
Note 2.5 Operating Lease Income 2012/13 2011/12

Total Total 
£000 £000 

Operating Lease Income
Rents recognised as income in the period 59 56
Contingent rents recognised as income in the period 0 0
TOTAL 59 56

Future minimum lease receipts due 
not later than one year; 59 56
later than one year and not later than five years; 0 0
later than five years. 0 0
TOTAL   59 56

Note 2.6 Other Operating Income
2012/13 2011/12

Total Total 
£000 £000 

Research and development 3,960 3,599
Education and training 20,566 20,056
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 308 204
Non-patient care services to other bodies 31,598 27,605
Car parking income 4,178 4,039
Staff accommodation rentals 226 254
Clinical excellence awards 1,064 1,282
Catering income 661 638
Property rentals 980 1,180
Reversal of impairments of property, plant and equipment 6,613 0
Other 7,464 10,115
TOTAL 77,618 68,972

The Trust leases the Clinical Waste Facility based at the Yardley Green Road site to Tradebe Healthcare Limited 
(formerly Britcare Limited).  The previous lease was for a 10 year term, ending October 2011 which was for 
a rental payment per annum of £40k which was subject to an annual review. In 2011/12 a new annual lease 
was signed, ending 31st March 2013. A further annual contract has been signed in year due to end 31st March 
2014.

Car Parking includes £1,377k (2011/12 £1,250k) of income from charging staff who park on Trust Premises. Car 
parking income covers the cost of the car park and security staff, ground maintenance, services and utility and 
capital charges. The Trust does not make a surplus on this income. 
    
Other income for 2012/13 of £11.6m (2011/12 £10.1m) includes £0.5m (2011/12 £1.4m) in respect of charges 
levied on local authorities for delayed discharges from care and £0.9m (2011/12 £1.0m) in respect of income 
for the Trust’s medical illustration department.  It also includes £3.1m (2011/12 £2.4m) of Community Services 
income which has been transferred into the Trust from other NHS organisations during the last financial year. 
The Trust also received £2.0m of winter presssure income (2011/12 £Nil) to fund an exceptionally busy winter 
period. 
     
The reversal of impairments arose due to a revaluation of the Trust’s land, buildings and dwellings. Further 
information can be found in note 9.7. 
    
Property rentals of £980k (2011/12 £1,142k) comprises a number of agreements with third party organisations 
of both a formal and informal nature for the rental of Trust space.  This is broken down as follows:   
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2012/13 2011/12
£000 £000 

Sterilisation Services 105 117
Clinical waste services (Tradebe Healthcare see note 2.5) 59 56
PCT - community service wards 364 364
Badger Clinics 145 0
WH Smith 59 42
BHE Heartlands (Assura) 31 364
Other commercial organisations 217 199

980 1,142
Notes To The Accounts 
Note 3.1 Operating Expenses

2012/13 2011/12
Total Total
£000 £000 

Employee Expenses (1) 384,903 383,497
Drug costs 45,836 43,769
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 64,025 61,051
Supplies and services - general 16,982 15,936
Establishment 6,938 7,616
Research and development (2) 2,507 2,217
Transport 1,169 1,033
Premises 30,882 27,394
Increase in bad debt provision 879 2,365
Other impairment of financial assets 0 0
Rentals under operating leases 1,046 855
Inventories written down (net, including inventory drugs) 143 194
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 17,292 19,256
Amortisation on intangible assets 348 600
Impairments of property, plant and equipment (3) 47,931 0
Impairments of intangible assets (3) 2,100 0
Audit fees (4)
audit services - statutory audit 92 92
audit services - regulatory reporting 18 18
Other auditors remuneration 0 0
Clinical negligence 12,967 12,401
Loss on disposal of investments 0 0
Loss on disposal of intangible fixed assets 0 0
Loss on disposal of land and buildings 0 1,967
Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment (5) 514 68
Legal fees 1,777 1,386
Consultancy costs (6) 1,081 1,530
04/06/2013 2,073 1,996
Patient travel 2,802 2,711
Car parking and Security 1,207 1,002
Restructuring 1,386 (1,680)
Early retirements 45 24
Hospitality 86 86
Publishing 288 174
Insurance 1,034 514
Other services 4,360 2,286
Losses, ex gratia and special payments 71 230
Other 597 2,275
TOTAL 653,379 592,863
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(1) Employee Expenses is broken down as follows:
£000 £000 

Executive Directors 1,418 1,301
Non Executive Directors 168 151
Staff 383,317 382,045

384,903 383,497

(2)  All of the research and development expenditure is current year expenditure

(3) Relates to the revaluation of assets. Further details can be found in note 9.7. 
    
(4) The audit fee of £92k (2011/12 £92k) relates to statutory audit work, including the fees for additional work on 
revaluation. Regulatory reporting fees are for Quality Accounts. The Trust’s contract with its auditors provides for a 
limitation on the auditor’s liability of £5m (2011/2012 £5m).
     
(5) In December 2011 Trust Board decided to cancel a large building project. All capitalised costs incurred on the 
project were written off in the year. As part of a detailed review of the Fixed Asset Register in 2012/13 a number of 
assets were disposed of, resulting in individually small losses on disposal.
     
(6) Included in consultancy is £Nil (2011/2012 £64k)  spent on National Leadership Council board development and 
clinical leadership programmes on behalf of the Department of Health.  These programmes are fully funded by the 
Department of Health and the income is shown in other operating income.     

2012/13 2011/12
Total Total
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Notes To The Accounts 
Note 3.2 Operating lease expenditure

2012/13 2011/12
Total Total
£000 £000 

Hire of plant and machinery 481 531
Expenditure on other operating leases 565 324
TOTAL 1,046 855

Note 3.3 Analysis of Operating leases 
2012/13 2011/12

Total Total
£000 £000 

Minimum lease payments 1,046 855
Contingent rents 0 0
Less sublease payments received 0 0
TOTAL 1,046 855

31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12
£000 £000 

Future minimum lease payments due: 
not later than one year; 908 937
later than one year and not later than five years; 1,640 1,680
later than five years. 1,069 816
TOTAL 3,617 3,433

The Trust holds various non-cancellable operating lease agreements within a lease portfolio which covers assets 
including medical equipment, vehicles, photocopying equipment and several short term leasehold buildings. 
       
At the beginning of the 2012/13 year there were 17 lease agreements in place for various items of medical 
equipment ranging from electric profiling beds to CT scanners. The length of these leases ranges between five 
to ten years.  In addition, there are four operating contracts in place for the lease of buildings which includes 
three Renal dialysis units, and an Outpatient clinic facility in Solihull Mell Square. The lease agreements range 
from five to twenty years in duration.    
    
The Trust utilises Leaseguard to support the renewal of the majority of the lease portfolio.  The Trust does not 
have pre-determined purchase options written into the current lease agreements, but the right to purchase 
the leased assets is assessed at the decision point within each lease.    
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Under IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures) there are additional disclosure requirements for all key management 
personnel.  This additional disclosure is made in note 25.3.        
 
The median remuneration of the Trust’s staff is £26k (£26k 2011/12) compared to the mid point of the banded 
remuneration of the highest paid director above £197.5k (£192.5k 2011/12). The ratio of the median to highest 
paid director is 0.13 (0.14 2011/12). The highest paid director in 2012/13 is the Medical Director, not the Chief 
Executive.
        
The directors are paid expenses via the payroll department in line with the Trust’s expenses policy. The governors 
are paid expenses that would reimburse them for costs wholly and exclusively for their work at the Trust and 
in line with the Trust’s expenses policy.        

Name and Title

2012/13 2011/12

Salary Bonus 
payments

Other 
Remuneration

Benefits in 
Kind Salary Bonus 

payments
Other 

Remuneration
Benefits 
in Kind

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

(bands of £5000)
£000

Rounded 
to the 

nearest 
£100

(bands 
of 

£5000)
£000

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

Rounded 
to the 

nearest 
£100

Mark Newbold 
(Chief Executive) 185-190 0 0 0 185-190 0 0 0

Mandy Moreton 
(HR Director up to 30 
Sep 2012)

90-95 0 90-95 0 100-105 0 0 0

Aresh Anwar (Medical 
Director) 195-200 0 0 0 190-195 0 0 0

Sarah Woolley 
(Director of Safety and 
Governance)

140-145 0 0 0 140-145 0 0 0

Adrian Stokes 
(Director of Finance & 
Performance & Deputy 
Chief Executive)

155-160 0 0 0 155-160 0 0 0

Mandie Sunderland 
(Chief Nurse) 120-125 0 0 0 120-125 0 0 0

Simon Hackwell 
(Commercial Director) 130-135 0 0 0 125-130 0 0 0

Lisa Thomson
(Director of Corporate 
Affairs w.e.f. 6 Nov 
2012)

120-125 0 0 0 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Phillip Hunt  
(Chairman) 50-55 0 0 0 50-55 0 0 0

Anna East 
(Non Executive 
Director)

15-20 0 0 0 15-20 0 0 0

Richard Samuda
(Non Executive Director 
up to 4 Apr 2012)

0 0 0 0 15-20 0 0 0

Richard Harris 
(Non Executive Director 
up to 6 Mar 2013)

15-20 0 0 0 10-15 0 0 0

Paul Hensel 
(Non Executive 
Director)

10-15 0 0 0 10-15 0 0 0

Najma Hafeez 
(Non Executive 
Director)

10-15 0 0 0 10-15 0 0 0

David Bucknall 
(Non Executive Director 
up to 7 Jan 2012)

0 0 0 0 10-15 0 0 0

Les Lawrence 
(Non Executive Director 
w.e.f. 1 Apr 2012)

10-15 0 0 0 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Edward Peck 
(Non Executive Director 
w.e.f 1 Apr 2012)

10-15 0 0 0 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Laura Serrant-Green 
(Non Executive Director 
w.e.f. 1 Apr 2012)

10-15 0 0 0 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Note 3.4 Salary And Pension Entitlements Of Senior Managers
A)  Remuneration
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Name and title

Real 
increase in 
pension at 

age 60

Real 
increase 
in lump 
sum at 
age 60

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
age 60 at 
31 March 

2013

Lump sum 
at age 60 
related to 
accrued 

pension at 
31 March 

2013

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2013

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2012

Real 
Increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value

Employers 
Contribution 

to 
Stakeholder 

Pension

(bands of 
£2500)
£000

(bands of 
£2500)
£000

(bands of 
£5,000)

£000

(bands of 
£5000)
£000 £000 £000 £000

To nearest 
£100

Mark Newbold 
(Chief Executive) 0-2.5 5-7.5 65-70 205-210 1,362 1,277 13 0

Mandy Moreton 
(HR Director up to 
30 Sep 2012)

0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 65-70 307 289 1 0

Aresh Anwar 
(Medical Director) 5-7.5 15-17.5 35-40 115-120 620 522 49 0

Sarah Woolley 
(Director of Safety 
and Governance)

2.5-5 7.5-10 25-30 85-90 410 360 22 0

Adrian Stokes 
(Director of 
Finance & 
Performance & 
Deputy Chief 
Executive)

2.5-5 7.5-10 30-35 90-95 452 395 26 0

Mandie 
Sunderland 
(Chief Nurse)

0-2.5 5-7.5 40-45 125-130 741 683 16 0

Lisa Thomson 
(Director of 
Corporate Affairs 
w.e.f. 6 Nov 2012)

0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 40-45 236 n/a n/a 0

Simon Hackwell 
(Commercial 
Director)

0-2.5 2.5-5 15-20 50-55 296 262 14 0

B) Pension Benefits
Note 3.4 Salary And Pension Entitlements Of Senior Managers (cont’d)
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Name and title

Real 
increase in 
pension at 

age 60

Real 
increase 
in lump 
sum at 
age 60

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
age 60 at 
31 March 

2013

Lump sum 
at age 60 
related to 
accrued 

pension at 
31 March 

2013

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2013

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2012

Real 
Increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value

Employers 
Contribution 

to 
Stakeholder 

Pension

(bands of 
£2500)
£000

(bands of 
£2500)
£000

(bands of 
£5,000)

£000

(bands of 
£5000)
£000 £000 £000 £000

To nearest 
£100

Mark Newbold 
(Chief Executive) 0-2.5 5-7.5 65-70 205-210 1,362 1,277 13 0

Mandy Moreton 
(HR Director up to 
30 Sep 2012)

0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 65-70 307 289 1 0

Aresh Anwar 
(Medical Director) 5-7.5 15-17.5 35-40 115-120 620 522 49 0

Sarah Woolley 
(Director of Safety 
and Governance)

2.5-5 7.5-10 25-30 85-90 410 360 22 0

Adrian Stokes 
(Director of 
Finance & 
Performance & 
Deputy Chief 
Executive)

2.5-5 7.5-10 30-35 90-95 452 395 26 0

Mandie 
Sunderland 
(Chief Nurse)

0-2.5 5-7.5 40-45 125-130 741 683 16 0

Lisa Thomson 
(Director of 
Corporate Affairs 
w.e.f. 6 Nov 2012)

0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 40-45 236 n/a n/a 0

Simon Hackwell 
(Commercial 
Director)

0-2.5 2.5-5 15-20 50-55 296 262 14 0

As Non-Executive members do not receive 
pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries 
in respect of pensions for Non-Executive members. 
      
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the 
actuarially assessed capital value of the pension 
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a 
particular point in time.  The benefits valued are 
the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent 
spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.  A 
CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or 
arrangement to secure pension benefits in another 
pension scheme or arrangement when the member 
leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits 
accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures 
shown relate to the benefits that the individual has 
accrued as a consequence of their total membership 
of the pension scheme, not just their service in a 
senior capacity to which the disclosure applies.  
The CETV figures, and from 2004-05 the other 
pension details, include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which 
the individual has transferred to the NHS pension 
scheme.  They also include any additional pension 
benefit accrued to the member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated 
within the guidelines and framework prescribed by 
the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.   
     
       
 

Real Increase in CETV - This reflects the increase in 
CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes 
account of the increase in accrued pension due 
to inflation, contributions paid by the employee 
(including the value of any benefits transferred 
from another pension scheme or arrangement) and 
uses common market valuation factors for the start 
and end of the period.     
   
NHS Pensions are using the most recent set of 
actuarial factors produced by the Government 
Actuaries Department with effect from 9 September 
2010.  These were updated at that time to reflect 
the change in the indexation measure.  The 
Government announced in July 2010 that from 2011 
the Consumer Price Index (CPI) will replace the Retail 
Price Index (RPI) for indexation in deferment and 
in payment.  The new factors assume that benefits 
are indexed in line with CPI which is expected to 
be lower than RPI and hence will produce lower 
transfer values (CETV).  As such reductions in CETV in 

2011 compared to 2010 have often resulted.  
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Notes To The Accounts 

Note 4.1 Employee Expenses

2012/13 2012/13 2012/13 2011/12
Total Permanent Other Total 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Wages and salaries 313,983 313,983 0 308,149
Social security costs 24,375 24,375 0 24,169
Pension costs - defined contribution plans
Employers contributions to NHS Pensions 34,444 34,444 0 34,549

Pension Cost - other contributions 0 0 0 0
Termination benefits 0 0 0 0
Agency/contract staff 13,364 0 13,364 14,823
TOTAL 386,166 372,802 13,364 381,690

Note 4.2 Monthly average number of employees (whole time equivalent)

2012/13 2011/12 
Total Total

Number Number 
Medical and dental 994 990
Ambulance staff 0 0
Administration and estates 2,101 2,143
Healthcare assistants and other support staff 1,430 1,487
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 2,979 3,044
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners 0 0
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 1,411 1,402
Social care staff 0 0
Bank and agency staff 632 401
Other 0 0
TOTAL 9,547 9,467

Note 4.3 Employee Benefits in kind

Other than Trust contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme, there were no employee benefits in kind in 2012/13 or 
2011/12.

Note 4.4 Early retirements due to ill health

2012/13 2011/12 
Total Total

Number of early retirements on the grounds of 
ill-health 9 6

Value of early retirements on the grounds of 
ill-health (£000) 606 311

In addition to the costs above, the Trust has incurred Capitalised staff costs of £882k (£637k, 2011/12).
       
Total employee expenses do not include non executive director costs but include restructuring and early 
retirement costs as disclosed in Note 3.1.

Included in the above, there were 10 employees engaged on capital projects (11, 2011/12).  
 

The cost of these ill health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority (Pensions Division).
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Notes To The Accounts 

Note 4.5 Staff sickness absence 

2012/13 2011/12
Number Number

Days lost (long term) 81,484 76,828
Days lost (short term) 47,153 47,236
Total days lost 128,637 124,064

Total staff years 8,747 9,075
Average working days lost 14.7 13.6
Total staff employed in period (headcount) 10,199 10,545
Total staff employed in period with no absence (headcount) 3,498 4,865
Percentage staff with no sick leave 34.3% 46.1%

Note 4.6 Compensation schemes-Exit packages

Exit package cost band Number of compulsory 
redundancies

Number of other 
departures agreed

Total number of exit 
packages by cost band

2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12

 <£10,000 0 0 7 0 7 0

 £10,001 - £25,000 1 0 12 3 13 3

 £25,001 - £50,000 0 0 4 0 4 0

 £50,001 - £100,000 1 0 2 1 3 1

 £100,001 - £150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

 £150,001 - £200,000 0 0 1 0 1 0

 >£200,001 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total number of exit 
packages by type 2 0 26 4 28 4

Total cost (£000) 66 0 688 110 754 110

Redundancy and other departure costs have been accounted for in full in the year.  All of these items has been 
approved by HM Treasury and Monitor.      
      
As part of managing pay cost levels the Trust implemented a Mutually Agreed Resignation Scheme (MARS). This 
ran from 31st October 2012, with a closing date for application of 31st December 2012. Within the year there were 
19 employees who left the Trust through this scheme. All employees with agreed leaving dates of after 31 March 
2013 have been provided for.      
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Past and present employees are covered by the 
provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.  Details of 
the benefits payable under these provisions can be 
found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.
nhs.uk/pensions.  The scheme is an unfunded, 
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, 
GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and 
Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a 
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their 
share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were 
a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS 
Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal 
to the contributions payable to the scheme for the 
accounting period.

The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation 
every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an 
accounting valuation every year. An outline of these 
is as follows:

a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level 
of liability in respect of the benefits due under the 
scheme (taking into account its recent demographic 
experience), and to recommend the contribution 
rates to be paid by employers and scheme members.

The last such valuation, which determined current 
contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 
2004 and covered the period from 1 April 1999 to 
that date. The conclusion from the 2004 valuation 
was that the scheme had accumulated a notional 
deficit of £3.3 billion against the notional assets as 

at 31 March 2004. 

In order to defray the costs of benefits, employers 
pay contributions at 14% of pensionable pay and 
most employees had paid 6% up to April 2008, with 
manual staff paying 5%.

Following the full actuarial review by the Government 
Actuary undertaken as at 31 March 2004, and after 
consideration of changes to the NHS Pension Scheme 
taking effect from 1 April 2008, his Valuation report 
recommended that employer contributions could 
continue at the existing rate of 14% of pensionable 
pay, from 1 April 2008, following the introduction of 
employee contributions on a tiered scale from 5% 
up to 8.5% of their pensionable pay depending on 
total earnings.

On advice from the scheme actuary, scheme 
contributions may be varied from time to time to 
reflect changes in the scheme’s liabilities.

b) Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out 
annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the 
reporting period by updating the results of the full 
actuarial valuation.     
                                                                                                                               
Between the full actuarial valuations at a two-year 
midpoint, a full and detailed member data-set is 
provided to the scheme actuary. At this point the 
assumptions regarding the composition of the 
scheme membership are updated to allow the 
scheme liability to be valued.

Note 4.7 Pension costs
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The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 
March 2013, is based on detailed membership as 
at 31 March 2010 updated to 31 March 2013 with 
summary global member and accounting data.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme 
is contained in the scheme actuary report, which 
forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme 
(England and Wales) Resource Account, published 
annually.  These accounts can be viewed on the NHS 
Pensions website.  Copies can also be obtained from 
The Stationery Office.

c) Scheme provisions 

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined 
benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an 
illustrative guide only, and is not intended to detail 
all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the 
specific conditions that must be met before these 
benefits can be obtained:

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual 
pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 
1995 section and of the best of the last three years 
pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th 
for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year 
of membership. Members who are practitioners 
as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their 
annual pensions based upon total pensionable 

earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose 
to give up some of their annual pension for an 
additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum 
amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new 
provision is known as “pension commutation”.

Annual increases are applied to pension payments 
at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, 
and are based on changes in retail prices in the 
twelve months ending 30 September in the previous 
calendar year. 

For early retirements other than those due to ill 
health the additional pension liabilities are not 
funded by the scheme. The full amount of the 
liability for the additional costs is charged to the 
employer in the statement of comprehensive 
income at the time the Trust commits itself to the 
retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS 
Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s 
run by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other 
Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions 
(FSAVC) providers.
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Notes To The Accounts 

Note 5 Better Payment Practice Code

Better Payment Practice code-measure 
of compliance

Number Value Number Value 
2012/13 2012/13 2011/12 2011/12

£000 £000 
Total bills paid in the year 149,352 199,949 158,521 175,632
Total bills paid within target 137,366 190,683 147,185 167,600
Percentage of bills paid within target 92% 95% 93% 95%

Note 6 Finance income
2012/13 2011/12

£000 £000 
Interest on loans and receivables 1,872 1,365
Interest on available for sale financial 
assets 0 0

Interest on held-to-maturity financial 
assets 0 0

TOTAL 1,872 1,365

Note 7.1 Finance costs 2012/13 2011/12
£000 £000 

Finance leases 148 165
Finance Costs in PFI obligations:
Main Finance Costs 162 162
Contingent Finance Costs 0 0
Other 0 0
TOTAL 310 327

Note 7.2 Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment Assets

2012/13 2011/12
£000 £000 

Reversal of impairments (23,914) 0
Changes in market price 97,530 0
TOTAL 73,616 0

The Trust holds three Finance lease contracts all of which relate to building assets and in duration range 
from 25 years to 99 years.  The buildings held under finance lease are the Birmingham Chest Clinic, The Glaxo 
Renal Unit and the Heartlands Education Centre Limited.  Within these agreements the Trust does not have a 
contingent rent liability and does not have any outstanding sublease payments to be received.   
           
The finance lease contracts held by the Trust do not contain any potential for the Trust to be exposed to 
contingent rent liabilities. The Birmingham Chest Clinic lease does not contain an option to purchase the 
building due to the part occupancy nature of the tenancy. Heartlands Education Centre Limited reverts to Trust 
ownership at the end of the lease term.       
       
The finance leases held by the Trust do not restrict the Trust in any way due to relatively small size and structure 
of the borrowing.       

       
The 2012/13 impairments are due to an in year valuation of the Trust’s estate. Further information can be 
found in Note 9.7.       

The interest receivable arose from interest earned in the main current account and from surplus cash placed in 
commercial deposit accounts and in bank bonds

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid non-NHS invoices by the due date 
or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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Notes To The Accounts 
Note 8.1  Intangible assets 2012/13

Total Software  
licences

(purchased)

Licences & 
trademarks
(purchased)

Other
(purchased)

Intangible 
Assets 
Under 

Construction

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Gross cost at 1 April 2012 10,025 6,303 0 0 3,722
Additions - purchased 3,050 1,886 0 0 1,164
Additions - donated 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluations 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2013 13,075 8,189 0 0 4,886

Accumulated Amortisation at 1 April 
2012 5,216 5,216 0 0 0

Provided during the year 348 348 0 0 0
Impairments 2,100 2,100 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (236) (236) 0 0 0
Accumulated Amortisation at 31 March 
2013 7,428 7,428 0 0 0

Net book value 
  NBV - Purchased at 1 April 2012 4,792 1,072 0 0 3,720
  NBV - Donated at 1 April 2012 17 16 0 0 1
NBV total at 1 April 2012 4,809 1,087 0 0 3,722
Net book value 
  NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2013 5,635 749 0 0 4,886
  NBV - Donated at 31 March 2013 12 12 0 0 0
NBV total at 31 March 2013 5,647 761 0 0 4,886

The intangible asset base held by the Trust is currently valued using a depreciated  cost model due to the 
individually low value of the assets and also due to the lack of evidence to suggest a fall in value. An active 
market does not exist and, as the Trust’s intangibles are not income generating, the depreciated replacement 
cost model has been applied. The asset under construction relates to the electronic scanning of medical records 
which will be an asset that is internally generated. The value of this asset was reviewed at 31 March 2013 and 
an impairment of £2,100k was applied as the asset has not been generating benefits to the extent originally 
anticipated.         
         
The Trust’s intangible asset base has a finite life ranging from five to ten years and each asset is being amortised 
over this period. The Trust does not hold intangible assets funded by government grants.    
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Total 
Software  
licences

(purchased)

Licences & 
trademarks
(purchased)

Other
(purchased)

Intangible 
Assets 
Under 

Construction

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Gross cost at 1 April 2011 7,561 5,511 0 0 2,050
Additions - purchased 2,569 792 0 0 1,777
Additions - donated 11 0 0 0 11
Revaluations 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications (117) 0 0 0 (117)
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2012 10,024 6,303 0 0 3,721

Accumulated Amortisation at 1 April 
2011 4,616 4,616 0 0 0

Provided during the year 600 600 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated Amortisation at 31 March 
2012 5,216 5,216 0 0 0

Net book value 
  NBV - Purchased at 1 April 2011 2,933 883 0 0 2,050
  NBV - Donated at 1 April 2011 12 12 0 0 0
NBV total at 1 April 2011 2,945 895 0 0 2,050
Net book value 
  NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2012 4,792 1,072 0 0 3,720
  NBV - Donated at 31 March 2012 17 16 0 0 1
NBV total at 31 March 2012 4,809 1,088 0 0 3,721

Note 8.2  Intangible assets 2011/12
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Notes To The Accounts 

Note 9.1 Property, plant and equipment 2012/13

The categorisation of assets as either protected or unprotected has been made in accordance with the guidance issued by Monitor in 
the document “Protection of Assets – Guidance for NHS FT’s” 

Condition 9 of the Trust’s Term of Authorisation defines a protected asset as “…protected if it is required for the purposes of providing 
either the mandatory goods or services or the mandatory education and training as defined in the Terms of Authorisation.”  Examples 
of protected assets for the Trust include Accident & Emergency departments, ward blocks and Theatres.  Unprotected assets include 
office areas.

Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

POA

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2012 379,642 51,625 219,830 3,391 1,023 58,858 702 33,582 10,631
Additions - purchased 34,669 0 17,709 (4) 7,789 5,993 33 2,997 152
Additions - leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions - donated 308 0 8 0 0 300 0 0 0
Impairments charged to revaluation reserve (49,893) (25,178) (23,345) (1,370) 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 17,301 0 17,241 60 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 131 95 90 (316) 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses (60,169) 0 (59,746) (423) 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (3,469) 0 0 0 0 (481) 0 (2,988) 0
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2013 318,389 26,447 171,828 1,749 8,902 64,354 735 33,591 10,783

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2012 86,868 9,590 312 39,605 577 27,140 9,644
Provided during the year 17,292 9,511 257 3,802 52 2,917 753
Impairments recognised in operating expenses 47,931 47,665 266 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments (6,613) (6,613) 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 (6) 2 4 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses (60,169) (59,746) (423) 0 0 0 0
Disposals (2,719) 0 0 (481) 0 (2,238) 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2013 82,590 0 401 414 0 42,930 629 27,819 10,397

Net book value 
NBV - Owned at 1 April 2012 282,429 51,625 200,478 3,079 1,023 18,720 125 6,428 951
NBV - Finance lease & PFI Assets at 1 April 2012 7,603 0 7,603 0 0 0 0 0 0
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2012 2,742 0 2,159 0 0 533 0 14 36
NBV total at 1 April 2012 292,774 51,625 210,240 3,079 1,023 19,253 125 6,442 987

Net book value 
NBV - Owned at 31 March 2013 222,855 26,447 159,233 1,335 8,902 20,696 106 5,763 373
NBV - Finance lease & PFI Assets at 31 March 2013 8,103 0 8,099 0 0 4 0 0 0
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2013 4,841 0 4,095 0 0 724 0 9 13
NBV total at 31 March 2013 235,799 26,447 171,427 1,335 8,902 21,424 106 5,772 386

 

Note 9.2 Analysis of property, plant and equipment 31 March 2013

Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings Assets under 

Construction & POA Plant & Machinery Transport Equipment Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Net book value 
NBV - Protected assets at 31 March 2013 152,710 26,447 126,263 0
NBV - Unprotected assets at 31 March 2013 83,089 0 45,164 1,335 8,902 21,424 106 5,772 386
Total at 31 March 2013 235,799 26,447 171,427 1,335 8,902 21,424 106 5,772 386

Note 9.3 Additional Analysis of asset ownership

Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings Assets under 

Construction & POA Plant & Machinery Transport Equipment Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

At 31 March 2013 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Freehold 228,790 26,447 164,418 1,335 8,902 21,424 106 5,772 386
Long Leasehold 6,713 0 6,713 0 0 0 0 0 0
Short Leasehold 296 0 296 0 0 0 0 0 0
NBV total at 31 March 2013 235,799 26,447 171,427 1,335 8,902 21,424 106 5,772 386
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Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

POA

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2012 379,642 51,625 219,830 3,391 1,023 58,858 702 33,582 10,631
Additions - purchased 34,669 0 17,709 (4) 7,789 5,993 33 2,997 152
Additions - leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions - donated 308 0 8 0 0 300 0 0 0
Impairments charged to revaluation reserve (49,893) (25,178) (23,345) (1,370) 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 17,301 0 17,241 60 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 131 95 90 (316) 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses (60,169) 0 (59,746) (423) 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (3,469) 0 0 0 0 (481) 0 (2,988) 0
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2013 318,389 26,447 171,828 1,749 8,902 64,354 735 33,591 10,783

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2012 86,868 9,590 312 39,605 577 27,140 9,644
Provided during the year 17,292 9,511 257 3,802 52 2,917 753
Impairments recognised in operating expenses 47,931 47,665 266 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments (6,613) (6,613) 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 (6) 2 4 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses (60,169) (59,746) (423) 0 0 0 0
Disposals (2,719) 0 0 (481) 0 (2,238) 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2013 82,590 0 401 414 0 42,930 629 27,819 10,397

Net book value 
NBV - Owned at 1 April 2012 282,429 51,625 200,478 3,079 1,023 18,720 125 6,428 951
NBV - Finance lease & PFI Assets at 1 April 2012 7,603 0 7,603 0 0 0 0 0 0
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2012 2,742 0 2,159 0 0 533 0 14 36
NBV total at 1 April 2012 292,774 51,625 210,240 3,079 1,023 19,253 125 6,442 987

Net book value 
NBV - Owned at 31 March 2013 222,855 26,447 159,233 1,335 8,902 20,696 106 5,763 373
NBV - Finance lease & PFI Assets at 31 March 2013 8,103 0 8,099 0 0 4 0 0 0
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2013 4,841 0 4,095 0 0 724 0 9 13
NBV total at 31 March 2013 235,799 26,447 171,427 1,335 8,902 21,424 106 5,772 386

 

Note 9.2 Analysis of property, plant and equipment 31 March 2013

Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings Assets under 

Construction & POA Plant & Machinery Transport Equipment Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Net book value 
NBV - Protected assets at 31 March 2013 152,710 26,447 126,263 0
NBV - Unprotected assets at 31 March 2013 83,089 0 45,164 1,335 8,902 21,424 106 5,772 386
Total at 31 March 2013 235,799 26,447 171,427 1,335 8,902 21,424 106 5,772 386

Note 9.3 Additional Analysis of asset ownership

Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings Assets under 

Construction & POA Plant & Machinery Transport Equipment Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

At 31 March 2013 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Freehold 228,790 26,447 164,418 1,335 8,902 21,424 106 5,772 386
Long Leasehold 6,713 0 6,713 0 0 0 0 0 0
Short Leasehold 296 0 296 0 0 0 0 0 0
NBV total at 31 March 2013 235,799 26,447 171,427 1,335 8,902 21,424 106 5,772 386



204

Note 9.4 Property, plant and equipment 2011/12 Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

POA

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2011 365,366 51,625 210,123 3,388 3,289 54,194 693 31,495 10,559
Additions - purchased 16,201 0 5,156 3 4,353 4,650 9 1,956 74
Additions - leased 143 0 0 0 0 131 0 12 0
Additions - donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments charged to revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 117 0 6,518 0 (6,619) 101 0 119 (2)
Revaluation surpluses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (2,185) 0 (1,967) 0 0 (218) 0 0 0
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2012 379,642 51,625 219,830 3,391 1,023 58,858 702 33,582 10,631

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2011 67,763 0 0 33,550 523 24,234 9,456
Provided during the year 19,257 9,590 312 6,207 54 2,906 188
Impairments recognised in operating expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (151) 0 0 (151) 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2012 86,869 0 9,590 312 0 39,606 577 27,140 9,644

Net book value 
NBV - Owned at 1 April 2011 286,962 51,625 200,020 3,388 3,289 20,158 170 7,253 1,059
NBV - Finance Lease & PFI Assets at 1 April 2011 7,839 0 7,839 0 0 0 0 0 0
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2011 2,802 0 2,264 0 0 486 0 8 44
NBV total at 1 April 2011 297,603 51,625 210,123 3,388 3,289 20,644 170 7,261 1,103

Net book value 
NBV - Owned at 31 March 2012 282,429 51,625 200,478 3,079 1,023 18,720 125 6,428 951
NBV - Finance lease & PFI Assets at 31 March 2012 7,603 0 7,603 0 0 0 0 0 0
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2012 2,742 0 2,159 0 0 532 0 15 36
NBV total at 31 March 2012 292,774 51,625 210,240 3,079 1,023 19,252 125 6,443 987

Note 9.5 Analysis of property, plant and equipment 31 March 2012

Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

POA

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Net book value 
NBV - Protected assets at 31 March 2012 214,377 51,625 162,751 0
NBV - Unprotected assets at 31 March 2012 78,397 0 47,489 3,079 1,023 19,252 125 6,443 987
Total at 31 March 2012 292,774 51,625 210,240 3,079 1,023 19,252 125 6,443 987

Note 9.6 Additional Analysis of asset ownership

Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

POA

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

At 31 March 2012 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Freehold 289,830 51,625 207,296 3,079 1,023 19,252 125 6,443 987
Long Leasehold 2,944 0 2,944 0 0 0 0 0 0
Short Leasehold 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
NBV total at 31 March 2012 292,774 51,625 210,240 3,079 1,023 19,252 125 6,443 987
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Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

POA

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2011 365,366 51,625 210,123 3,388 3,289 54,194 693 31,495 10,559
Additions - purchased 16,201 0 5,156 3 4,353 4,650 9 1,956 74
Additions - leased 143 0 0 0 0 131 0 12 0
Additions - donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments charged to revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 117 0 6,518 0 (6,619) 101 0 119 (2)
Revaluation surpluses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (2,185) 0 (1,967) 0 0 (218) 0 0 0
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2012 379,642 51,625 219,830 3,391 1,023 58,858 702 33,582 10,631

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2011 67,763 0 0 33,550 523 24,234 9,456
Provided during the year 19,257 9,590 312 6,207 54 2,906 188
Impairments recognised in operating expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (151) 0 0 (151) 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2012 86,869 0 9,590 312 0 39,606 577 27,140 9,644

Net book value 
NBV - Owned at 1 April 2011 286,962 51,625 200,020 3,388 3,289 20,158 170 7,253 1,059
NBV - Finance Lease & PFI Assets at 1 April 2011 7,839 0 7,839 0 0 0 0 0 0
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2011 2,802 0 2,264 0 0 486 0 8 44
NBV total at 1 April 2011 297,603 51,625 210,123 3,388 3,289 20,644 170 7,261 1,103

Net book value 
NBV - Owned at 31 March 2012 282,429 51,625 200,478 3,079 1,023 18,720 125 6,428 951
NBV - Finance lease & PFI Assets at 31 March 2012 7,603 0 7,603 0 0 0 0 0 0
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2012 2,742 0 2,159 0 0 532 0 15 36
NBV total at 31 March 2012 292,774 51,625 210,240 3,079 1,023 19,252 125 6,443 987

Note 9.5 Analysis of property, plant and equipment 31 March 2012

Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

POA

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Net book value 
NBV - Protected assets at 31 March 2012 214,377 51,625 162,751 0
NBV - Unprotected assets at 31 March 2012 78,397 0 47,489 3,079 1,023 19,252 125 6,443 987
Total at 31 March 2012 292,774 51,625 210,240 3,079 1,023 19,252 125 6,443 987

Note 9.6 Additional Analysis of asset ownership

Total Land Buildings excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

POA

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

At 31 March 2012 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Freehold 289,830 51,625 207,296 3,079 1,023 19,252 125 6,443 987
Long Leasehold 2,944 0 2,944 0 0 0 0 0 0
Short Leasehold 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
NBV total at 31 March 2012 292,774 51,625 210,240 3,079 1,023 19,252 125 6,443 987
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Notes To The AccountS      
     
Note 9.7 Property Plant Equipment Revaluations in 2012/13 
    
GVA has carried out the current valuation, as at 31st March 2013, of the Trust’s Land, Buildings and Dwellings in 
accordance with the terms of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors’ Valuation - Professional Standards, 
incorporating the International Valuation Standards (March 2012), the requirements of HM Treasury Financial 
Reporting Manual Guidelines and IAS 16 (Property Plant and Equipment). Public sector bodies, including the 
NHS, are required to apply the Revaluation Model set out in IAS 16 and value their capital assets to fair value. 
This full revaluation was required per the accounting policies as it was 5 years since the implementation of 
IFRS.
     
Fair value is defined in IAS 16 as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arms length transaction. 
    
The assessment of fair value has been made on the assumption that the property is sold as part of the continuing 
enterprise in occupation (Existing Use Value). 
    
Non-specialised operational assets

The basis used for the valuation of non-specialised operational Trust-occupied property for accounting 
purposes under IAS 16 is fair value, which is the market value, subject to the assumption that the property is 
sold as part of the continuing enterprise in occupation.
     
Specialised operational property

Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) is the valuation approach adopted for reporting the value of specialised 
operational property for financial accounting purposes. The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors Standards 
at Appendix 4.1, restating International Valuation Application (IVA 1) defines this as “”the current cost of 
replacing an asset with its modern equivalent asset less deductions for physical deterioration and all relevant 
forms of obsolescence and optimisation.
    
Revaluation Losses 2012/13

The impairments have arisen due to the fall in value of specialised property arising as a result of the changes 
in market conditions and therefore do not relate to the movement in economic value or value in use of those 
assets.
    
The revaluation that took place as at 31st March 2013 showed a reduction of £73,616k in value. Of this, a 
loss of £32,592k is shown in the other comprehensive income section and is split between increases to the 
revaluation reserve of £17,301k in addition to impairments charges to the revaluation reserve of £49,893k. 
The remaining charge of £41,024k relates to impairments charges to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
of £47,931k and the reversal of impairments previously recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
of £6,613k. The net impairment movement is shown in note 7.2.
     
No revaluation took place in 2011/12     
     
Note 9.8 Leased Assets to Other Organisations 
    
The carrying amount of the assets leased to other organisations as at 31st March 2013 is £293k (£299k 2011/12). 
The depreciation charged during 2012/13 was £6k (2011/12 £6k).     
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Notes To The Accounts 

Note 10.1 Assets held under finance leases  and PFI arrangements 2012/13

Total Finance 
Lease and PFI 

Assets

Buildings 
excluding 

dwellings held 
under Finance 

Lease

Buildings PFI 
arrangements

£000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2012 7,839 3,055 4,784
Additions - purchased 0 0 0
Impairments charged to revaluation reserve (480) 0 (480)
Impairments charged to SOCI (1,403) (1,084) (319)
Revaluation surpluses 2,497 1,898 599
Disposals 0 0 0
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2013 8,453 3,869 4,584

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2012 236 111 125
Provided during the year 234 109 125
Impairments recognised in operating expenses 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses (470) (220) (250)
Disposals 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2013 0 0 0

Net book value 
NBV - Purchased at 1 April 2012 6,682 2,023 4,659
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2012 921 921 0
NBV total at 1 April 2012 7,603 2,944 4,659

Net book value 
NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2013 5,597 1,013 4,584
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2013 2,856 2,856 0
NBV total at 31 March 2013 8,453 3,869 4,584

The Trust has two PFI Contracts that are accounted for in the Statement of Financial Position:-   
  
(1) BHE Heartlands Limited is a contract  to provide a new main entrance and retail facility at Heartlands Hospital. 
The net book value as at 31 March 2013 is £4,243k (31 March 2012 £3,568k).     

(2) Ener-G Combined Power Limited is a contract for the provision of energy management services at Heartlands 
Hospital. The net book value at 31 March 2013 is £341k (31 March 2012 £1,091k).    
 
Note 18.4 provides more detail on these contracts.     
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Notes To The Accounts 
Note 10.2 Assets held under finance leases and PFI arrangements 2011/12

Total Finance 
Lease and PFI 

Assets

Buildings 
excluding 

dwellings held 
under Finance 

Lease

PFI 
arrangements

£000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2011 7,839 3,055 4,784
Additions - purchased 0 0 0
Impairments charged to revaluation reserve 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2012 7,839 3,055 4,784

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2011 0 0 0
Provided during the year 236 111 125
Impairments recognised in operating expenses 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0
Revaluation surpluses 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2012 236 111 125

Net book value 
NBV - Purchased at 1 April 2011 6,881 2,097 4,784
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2011 958 958 0
NBV total at 1 April 2011 7,839 3,055 4,784

Net book value 
NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2012 6,682 2,023 4,659
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2012 921 921 0
NBV total at 31 March 2012 7,603 2,944 4,659

 
Note 11.1  Inventories 

31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2012
£000 £000 

Drugs 2,353 2,711
Work in progress 45 24
Consumables 5,053 4,873
Energy 287 266
Other 0 0
TOTAL 7,738 7,874

Note 11.2 Analysis of inventories
31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2012

£000 £000 
Opening carrying value 7,874 7,710
Add: Additions 108,589 105,372
Less: Inventories recognised in expenses (108,582) (105,014)
Less: Write-down of inventories recognised as an 
expense (143) (194)
Add: Reversal of any write down of inventories 
resulting in a reduction of recognised expenses 0 0

Other 0 0
Carrying value at 31 March 7,738 7,874
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Notes To The Accounts 
Note 12.1 Trade receivables and other receivables

31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2012
£000 £000 

Current
NHS Receivables -Revenue 12,262 14,325
NHS Receivables -Capital 0 0
Receivables due from NHS charities -Revenue 0 0
Other receivables with related parties -Revenue 7,432 7,356
Other receivables with related parties -Capital 0 0
Provision for impaired receivables (9,693) (10,482)
Prepayments 4,553 4,286
Accrued income 301 387
Interest receivable 25 27
PDC dividend receivable 1,412 0
VAT receivable 1,510 458
Other receivables -Revenue 4,088 5,907
TOTAL 21,890 22,264

Non-Current
NHS Receivables -Revenue 0 0
NHS Receivables -Capital 0 0
Other receivables with related parties -Revenue 2,989 2,680
Provision for impaired receivables (1,494) (1,187)
Prepayments 0 0
Accrued income 0 0
Other receivables -Revenue 0 0
TOTAL 1,495 1,493

For 2012/13 the value due for PDC is lower than what had been paid over due to late adjustments arising 
from the revaluation of land, buildings and dwellings.  In 2011/12 the amount of PDC paid in the year was 
correct so no debtor was required.

Note 12.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

2012/13 2011/12
£000 £000 

 11,669 10,065
Increase in provision 879 2,365
Amounts utilised (1,361) (761)
Unused amounts reversed 0 0
At 31 March 11,187 11,669

Note 12.3 Analysis of impaired receivables

31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000 £000 

Ageing of impaired receivables
  0-30 days 920 1,031
  30-60 Days 392 324
  60-90 days 506 663
  90-180 days 938 701
  Over 180 days 8,431 8,950
TOTAL 11,187 11,669

Ageing of non-impaired receivables past their due date
  0-30 days 2,553 1,021
  30-60 Days 682 818
  60-90 days 987 226
  90-180 days 742 1,043
  Over 180 days 3,016 4,726
TOTAL 7,980 7,834
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Notes To The Accounts 
Note 13 Trade and other payables 

31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000 £000 

Current 
Receipts in advance 0 0
NHS payables -Revenue 248 3,504
NHS payables -Capital 0 0
Amounts due to other related parties -Revenue 378 124
Amounts due to other related parties -Capital 0 0
Trade payables -Revenue 2,806 (1,910)
Trade payables -Capital 5,532 1,823
Social Security costs 143 91
Other taxes payable 153 13
Other payables 1,537 1,094
Accruals 41,242 43,324

TOTAL 52,039 48,063

There were no liabilities to buy out early retirements 
included above.

There are no non-current trade and other payables in 
2012/13 (or in 2011/12).

Note 14 Other liabilities
31 March 2013 31 March 2012

£000 £000 
Current 
Deferred Income 10,292 15,372
Deferred PFI credits 0 0
TOTAL 10,292 15,372

There are no non-current other liabilities in 2012/13 (or 2011/12).
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Notes To The Accounts 
Note 15 Borrowings

31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000 £000 

Current 
Bank overdrafts 0 0
Drawdown in committed facility 0 0
Loans from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 0 0
Other Loans 0 0
Obligations under finance leases 110 256
Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts 224 224
TOTAL 334 480

Non-current
Bank overdrafts 0 0
Drawdown in committed facility 0 0
Loans from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 0 0
Other Loans 0 0
Obligations under finance leases 2,011 1,973
Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts 2,770 2,968
TOTAL 4,781 4,941

Note 16 Prudential borrowing limit
31 March 2013 31 March 2012

£000 £000
Total long term borrowing limit set by Monitor 124,300 117,500
Working capital facility agreed by Monitor 30,000 30,000
TOTAL 154,300 147,500

Long term borrowing at 1 April 5,421 5,711
Net actual repayment in year - long term (306) (290)
Long term borrowing at 31 March 5,115 5,421

Working capital borrowing at 1 April 0 0
Net actual borrowing/(repayment) in year - working capital 0 0
 0 0

The Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit, as set out in Monitor’s Prudential 
Borrowing Code.  This limit is made up of two elements;

• The maximum cumulative amount of long-term borrowing.  This is set by reference to the four ratio tests set out in the 
Prudential Borrowing Code.  The financial risk rating, set out under Monitor’s Compliance Framework (see page 74 of the 
Annual Report), determines one of the ratios and therefore can impact on the long term borrowing limit; and

• The amount of working capital facility approved by Monitor.  

Further information on the NHS Foundation Trust's Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be 
found on Monitor’s website.

The Trust has a prudential borrowing limit of £124.3m in 2012/13 (£117.5m in 2011/12). The Trust borrowings of 
£5.1m (£5.4m in 2011/2012) are for the Trust’s 2 PFI schemes and 3 finance leases only.  The Trust has not raised 
any new borrowings in 2012/13.

Key ratios upon which the Prudential borrowing limit is based

Financial ratio Actual ratios Actual ratios

2012/13 2011/12
Minimum dividend cover 5 4
Minimum interest cover 124 104
Minimum debt service cover 62 57
Maximum debt service to revenue 0 0

Monitor has approved a working capital facility level of £30m (£30m in 2011/12).  The Trust has not held a working 
capital facility agreed with a bank since January 2009 because it holds sufficient cash.
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Notes To The Accounts 
Note 17 Finance lease obligations

Minimum Lease 
Payments

Minimum Lease 
Payments

31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000 £000 

Gross lease liabilities 3,063 3,319
of which liabilities are due
not later than one year; 257 257
later than one year and not later than five years; 1,027 1,027
later than five years. 1,779 2,035
Finance charges allocated to future periods (942) (1,090)
Net lease liabilities 2,121 2,229

not later than one year; 110 109
later than one year and not later than five years; 545 535
later than five years. 1,466 1,585

2,121 2,229

Present Value of 
Minimum Lease 

Payments

Present Value of 
Minimum Lease 

Payments
31 March 2013 31 March 2012

£000 £000 

Gross lease liabilities 2,038 2,159
of which liabilities are due
not later than one year; 241 241
later than one year and not later than five years; 827 827
later than five years. 970 1,091
Finance charges allocated to future periods (679) (767)
Net lease liabilities 1,359 1,392

not later than one year; 113  104 
later than one year and not later than five years; 484  450 
later than five years. 762  838 

1,359 1,392
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Notes To The Accounts 

Note 18.1 PFI obligations (on SoFP)
31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2012

£000 £000 
Gross PFI liabilities 4,336 4,694
of which liabilities are due
not later than one year; 224 224
later than one year and not later than five years; 896 896
later than five years. 3,216 3,574
Finance charges allocated to future periods (1,342) (1,502)
Net PFI liabilities 2,994 3,192
not later than one year; 73 65
later than one year and not later than five years; 388 350
later than five years. 2,533 2,778

2,994 3,192

18.2 On-SoFP PFI Commitments

The Trust is committed to make the following payments for on-SoFP PFIs obligations during the next year in which 
the commitment expires: 

31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2012
Total PFI 1 PFI 2 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Within one year 0 0 0 0
2nd to 5th years (inclusive) 0 0 0 0
6th to 10th years (inclusive) 839 0 839 0
11th to 15th years (inclusive) 0 0 0 799
16th to 20th years (inclusive) 59 59 0 55
21st to 25th years (inclusive) 0 0 0 0
26th to 30th years (inclusive) 0 0 0 0
31st to 35th years (inclusive) 0 0 0 0
36th year and beyond 0 0 0 0

18.3 On-SoFP PFI Service Charge Commitments

31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2012
Total PFI 1 PFI 2 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Within one year 898 59 839 854
2nd to 5th years (inclusive) 3,592 236 3,356 3,416
Later than five years 4,439 733 3,706 5,066
Total 8,929 1,028 7,901 9,336
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18.4 PFI Contract Details

The Trust has entered into two PFI contracts: 

PFI 1 - Main Entrance and Retail Facility at Heartlands Hospital

This is 25 year contract with BHE (Heartlands) Limited which commenced in August 2005.  This contract has been 
treated as being on-statement of financial position by the Trust following a review of the contracts based on Treasury 
Taskforce Technical Note 1 "How to account for PFI transactions" which interprets IAS 16 (Property, Plant and 
Equipment) and IFRIC 12 (Service Concession Arrangements).

The contract states that the service provision must be made available for users of the Heartlands Hospital including 
patients, visitors and staff.  The contract contains a range of measures upon which deficiency points are allocated 
if pre-agreed levels are not achieved.  The deficiency points are valued and deducted retrospectively from the Trust 
unitary payment at the end of the following quarter.  At the end of the contract, ownership of the Main Entrance structure 
transfers to the Trust, at this point the Trust is not liable to provide any compensation payment and the contract is 
deemed to have reached its natural termination.  The Trust is entitled to terminate the contract voluntarily with 12 
months written notice and there are specific circumstances such as hospital closure or significant reconfiguration.

PFI 2 - Provision of Energy Management Services at Heartlands Hospital

This is 15 year contract with Ener-G Combined Power Limited which commenced in August 2007.  This contract has 
been treated as being on-statement of financial position by the Trust following a review of the contracts based on 
Treasury Taskforce Technical Note 1 (How to account for PFI transaction) which interprets IAS 16 (Property, Plant and 
Equipment) and IFRIC 12 (Service Concession Arrangements).

The contract is for the provision of combined heat and power facilities at the Heartlands Hospital.  If either party 
terminates the contract before the end of the agreement, there is provision for either party to be liable to pay 
compensation as detailed within the contract.  The assets are transferred at the end of the agreement and become 
assets of the Trust.  The service provision is implicitly for the patients, visitors and staff of Heartlands Hospital.

The annual unitary payments of £59k (PFI1) and £839k (PFI2) made by the operator are included in the Statement 
of Comprehensive income on an accruals basis.  There is a payment mechanism that allows for deductions to be 
made to the unitary payment where the quality standards set out in the contract are not met.  The total charge made 
in 2012/13 was £898k (2011/12 £854k).
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The 'Pensions- other staff' provision is made up of permanent injury and early retirement provisions. The calculations 
for these provisions are based on agreed annual payments, age, gender and estimated life expectancy. The final 
amount of payment that will be made is not known as this will depend on actual life expectancy which may differ from 
the estimated number of years. The estimated life expectancy is provided from Interim Life Tables provided by the 
Office for National Statistics and updated every 2 years. To the extent that some of these liabilities will not be settled 
for several years the provision is discounted using a nominal discount rate of 2.35% (2011/12 2.8%).

'Other legal claims' relate to personal legal claims that have been lodged against the Trust with the NHS Litigation 
Authority (NHSLA) but not yet agreed.  The exact timing or amount of any payment will only be known once the case 
is heard, although it is expected that all cases will be resolved within the 2013/14 year.

The 'Agenda for Change' provision estimates the amount that will be paid over to several staff groups for unresolved 
applications of Agenda for Change. The calculations have been based on assumptions of headcount, number of 
cases put forward, average pay and increments for the relevant staff groups and the period time it will apply for. Only 
when the payroll team do the calculations by individual will the exact amounts be known. It is expected that these 
issues will have been resolved within the next 12 months.

Included in 'Other' is a new provision for environmental corrections required in some sections of the Trust, provision for 
legal claims costs for cases being bought by members of staff, and provision for costs being pursued by commercial 
organisations. It also includes a value to cover a dispute with Birmingham City Council over the rental value of a 
piece of land.

No reimbursement is anticipated from any of these provisions, other than in some 'Other legal claims' when the Trust 
receives reimbursement for any sums paid out which exceed the Trust's excess level with the NHSLA. 

Notes To The Accounts 
Note 19 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Current Current Non-
current

Non-
current

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2012

£000 £000 £000 £000
Pensions relating to former 
directors 0 0 0 0
Pensions relating to other staff 181 174 2,580 2,473
Other legal claims 390 323 0 0
Agenda for Change 402 180 0 0
Equal pay 0 38 0 0
Redundancy 3,000 3,013 0 0
Other 6,705 2,705 0 0
TOTAL 10,678 6,433 2,580 2,473

Total Pensions - 
other staff

Other 
legal 

claims

Agenda for 
Change

Equal 
pay Redundancy Other 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 April 2012 8,906 2,647 323 180 38 3,013 2,705
Change in the discount rate 22 22 0 0 0 0 0
Arising during the year 10,413 318 334 403 0 3,000 6,358
Utilised during the year (2,133) (176) (170) 0 (1) (824) (962)
Reversed unused (3,954) (54) (97) (181) (37) (2,189) (1,396)
Unwinding of discount 4 4 0 0 0 0 0
At 31 March 2013 13,258 2,761 390 402 0 3,000 6,705

Expected timing of cash flows: 
not later than one year; 10,678 181 390 402 0 3,000 6,705
later than one year and not later 
than five years; 769 769 0 0 0 0 0
later than five years. 1,811 1,811 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL 13,258 2,761 390 402 0 3,000 6,705
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Note 20 Revaluation reserve

Revaluation 
Reserve -property, 

plant and 
equipment

£000 
Revaluation reserve at 1 April 2012 85,340
Impairments (32,592)
Revaluations 0
Transfers to other reserves (2,127)
Other recognised gains and losses 0
Other reserve movements 0
Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2013 50,621

Revaluation reserve at 1 April 2011 88,077
Impairments 0
Revaluations 0
Transfers to other reserves 0
  Other recognised gains and losses 0
Other reserve movements (2,737)
Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2012 85,340

All revaluation reserve movements relate to property plant and equipment.

The transfers to other reserves is the amortisation of the revaluation reserve over the life the 
asset it relates to and  is transferred to the I&E reserve.

In 2012/13 the Trust performed a revaluation exercise which resulted in an overall decrease 
in asset value of £73,616k.  Of this impairments of £49,893k were charged to the revaluation 
reserve and a gain of £17,301k increased the revaluation reserve.

Note 21.1 Cash and cash equivalents
31 March 2013 31 March 2012

£000 £000 
At 1 April 97,165 98,340
Net change in year (3,500) (1,175)
 93,665 97,165

Broken down into:
Cash at commercial banks and in hand 36 11
Cash with the Government Banking Service 93,629 97,154
Other current investments 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 93,665 97,165

Bank overdrafts 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 93,665 97,165
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Notes To The Accounts 

Note 21.2 Third party assets held by the NHS Foundation Trust

The Trust held £18k (£15k 31 March 2012) of cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2013 which relates 
to monies held by the Trust on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from cash at bank and in 
hand figure reported in the accounts.

Note 22.1 Contractual Capital Commitments

Commitments under contracts at the 'Statement of Financial Position' date were:

31 March 2013 31 March 2012
£000 £000 

Property, Plant and Equipment 2,813 7,540
Intangible assets 977 576
TOTAL 3,790 8,116

The majority of these commitments at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2013 relate to site strategy 
developments.

Note 23 Events after the reporting period

There have been no events after the reporting period.

Note 24 Contingent Liabilities
31 March 2013 31 March 2012

£000 £000 

Gross value of contingent liabilities (189) (179)

Amounts recoverable against liabilities 0 0

Net value of contingent liabilities (189) (179)

Net value of contingent assets 0 0

The contingent liability in 2012/13 (and 2011/12) was identified by the NHS Litigation Authority. It 
relates to non-clinical Liabilities to Third Parties (LTPS) claims, which are public and employer liability 
legal claims.

These liabilities are expected to be settled within a year, and no reimbursement is expected.
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Note 25.1 Related Party Transactions

During the year none of the Board members, governors, key staff members or parties related to them have 
undertaken any material transactions with the Trust.

Note 31 gives an analysis of the relationship with Heartlands Education Centre Limited (HECL). Adrian Stokes, 
Finance Director of the Trust is also a Director on the Board of HECL.

All significant related party transactions are in relation to the primary activities of the Trust i.e. Provision of 
Healthcare.

The Trust has entered into a significant number of material transactions with the following organisations for 
which there are no guarantees given or received:

Income Income
31 March 2013 31 March 2012

>£5m >£5m
£000 £000

Birmingham East and North PCT 301,566 292,669
Heart of Birmingham Teaching PCT 30,137 29,413
Solihull PCT 133,337 133,756
South Birmingham PCT 23,525 23,563
South Staffordshire PCT 39,733 40,146
Walsall Teaching PCT 6,713 6,931
Warwickshire PCT 9,562 9,767
West Midlands Strategic Health Authority 20,641 20,711
TOTAL 565,214 556,956

Expenditure Expenditure
31 March 2013 31 March 2012

>£5m >£5m
£000 £000

Health Protection Agency 5,720 6,597
National Insurance Fund 24,375 24,181
NHS Litigation Authority 12,967 12,722
NHS Pension Scheme 34,444 34,549
TOTAL 77,506 78,049
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Notes To The Accounts 

Note 25.2 Related Party Balances

All significant related party balances are in relation to the primary activities of the Trust i.e. Provision of 
Healthcare
The Trust has entered into a significant number of material transactions with the following organisations for 
which there are no guarantees given or received:

Receivables Receivables
31 March 2013 31 March 2012

>£0.5m >£0.5m
£000 £000

Birmingham City Council 4,227 3,840
Birmingham & Solihull Mental Health NHS FT 124 1,658
Birmingham East and North PCT 3,604 4,214
Burton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 453 638
Department of Works & Pensions 4,598 4,662
Health Protection Agency 858 938
HM Revenue & Customs 1,510 458
Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 1,419 1,069
Solihull PCT 1,319 1,255
South Staffordshire PCT 534 518
University Hospital Birmingham NHS FT 1,448 574
Walsall Teaching PCT 75 515
West Midlands Strategic Health Authority 161 919
TOTAL 20,330 21,258

Payables Payables 
31 March 2013 31 March 2012

>£0.5m >£0.5m
£000 £000

Department of Health 1,463 281
Health Protection Agency 3,764 248
Sandwell & West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust 272 582
Solihull Care PCT 131 2,599
TOTAL 5,630 3,710
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Note 25.3 Key Management Personnel Compensation

Under IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures) there are additional disclosure requirements in respect key management 
personnel compensation.  Note 3.4 discloses directors' remuneration as required under the Companies Act 2006.  
This note discloses compensation as defined under IAS 24.

Key management includes directors, both executive and non-executive. It also includes the compensation to the 
Director of Workforce as well as Site Directors at Solihull and Good Hope hospitals.  The compensation paid or 
payable in aggregate to key management for employment services is shown below:

2012/13 2011/12
£'000 £'000

Salaries and other short term benefits 1,890 1,617
Pension contributions 199 188
Other long term benefits 0 0
Post employment benefits 0 0
Termination benefits 0 0
Total 2,089 1,805

There were no amounts owing to Key Management Personnel at the 
beginning or end of the financial year.

Note 26.1 For PFI schemes deemed to be off-SoFP 

PFI 3 - Provision of Energy Management Services at Solihull Hospital
The Trust holds a third PFI agreement with EnerG Combined Power Limited for the provision of energy services at 
Solihull Hospital.  The scheme commenced in April 2010 and a unitary payment of £736k was paid in 2012/13.  This 
is a 15 year agreement.

The Trust is accounting for this scheme as an off Statement of Financial Position PFI contract using the NHS Finance, 
Performance and Operations Guidance on "Accounting for PFI under IFRS" and also has been classified as a non 
finance lease under IAS 17.

In accordance with SIC 29 (Service Concession Arrangements), the Trust is committed to make the following 
payments for the service charge element of off-SoFP service concessions:

31 Mar 2013 31 Mar 2012
Total Total
£000 £000 

Within one year 736 709
2nd to 5th years (inclusive) 2,944 2,835
Later than five years 5,152 5,671
Total 8,832 9,215
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Note 27.1 Financial Risk Management

IFRS7 (Financial Instruments: Disclosures) requires 
disclosure of the role that financial instruments 
have had during the period in creating or changing 
the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities.

The  Trust is not exposed to significant financial 
risk factors arising from financial instruments. The 
continuing service provider relationship that the  
Trust has with local Primary Care Trusts (PCT) and 
the way those PCTs are financed, means that the  
Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk 
faced by business entities. In the current financial 
environment where affordability by PCT’s has re-
emerged as a theme, the Trust regularly reviews 
the level of actual and contracted activity with 
the PCT’s to ensure that any income at risk is 
discussed and resolved at a high level at the earliest 
opportunity available. Financial assets and liabilities 
are generated by day-to-day operational activities 
rather than being held to change the risks facing 
the Trust in undertaking its activities.

The Trust is working with the new Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and the contacts at the 
newly emerging clusters and consortia to ensure 
there is an ongoing dialogue in commissioning 
intentions.

Market Risk

Market risk is the possibility that financial loss 
might arise as a result of changes in such measures 
as interest rates and stock market movements. The  
Trust’s transactions are undertaken in sterling and 
so it is not exposed to foreign exchange risk and 
the Trust does not have any direct dealings with the 
stock market. Other than cash balances, the  Trust’s 
financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates 
of interest and the  Trust’s income and operating 
cash flows are substantially independent of 
changes in market interest rates. When the Trust is 
placing cash on deposit, it reviews future expected 
changes in interest rates, and this may determine 
the period over which the deposit is placed. In the 
current financial climate it is unusual for cash to be 
deposited for longer than a year.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the possibility that other parties 
might fail to pay amounts due to the Trust. Credit 
risk arises from deposits with banks and financial 
institutions as well as credit exposures to the  
Trust’s commissioners and other debtors. Given the 
current economic climate surplus operating cash is 
only invested with banks and financial institutions 
that are rated independently with a minimum 
long term rating of A1+ (Standard and Poor’s). The 
Trust’s Treasury Management Committee, chaired 
by a non-executive director, has met 4 times in the 
year and assesses available market intelligence in 
deciding where to place surplus cash funds. The  
Trust’s net operating costs are incurred largely 
under annual service agreements with local PCTs, 
which are financed from resources voted annually 
by Parliament.

A regular review of large, old or problematic debt 
is performed and any issues escalated up to director 
level.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the possibility that the  Trust might 
not have funds available to meet its commitments to 
make payments. Prudent liquidity risk management 
includes maintaining sufficient cash and the 
availability of funding from an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities. The Trust is required to 
comply with Monitor’s Prudential Borrowing Limit, 
and further details of the Trust’s compliance can 
be found at note 16 ‘Prudential borrowing limit’. 
The Trust also seeks to minimise risk relating to 
prepayments made to suppliers, by keeping them 
to a minimum. Material prepayments are only made 
under contractual arrangements for periods not 
exceeding 12 months.
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Note 27.2 Financial assets by category

Total Loans and 
receivables

£000 £000 
Assets as per SoFP

NHS Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 8,185 8,185

Non -NHS Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 6,591 6,591
Other Investments 0 0
Other Financial Assets 0 0
Non current assets held for sale and assets held in disposal group 
excluding non financial assets 0

Cash and cash equivalents (at bank and in hand) 93,665 93,665
Total at 31 March 2013 108,441 108,441

NHS Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 14,325 14,325
Non -NHS Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 3,955 3,955
Other Investments 0 0
Other Financial Assets 0 0
Non current assets held for sale and assets held in disposal group 
excluding non financial assets 0

Cash and cash equivalents (at bank and in hand) 97,165 97,165
Total at 31 March 2012 115,445 115,445

The Financial Assets included above do not include Prepayments, PDC Receivable, amounts owing in respect 
of VAT from HMRC or amounts owing from the NHS Injury scheme. These are all included in Note 12.1 Trade 
receivables and other receivables.

Note 27.3 Financial liabilities by category
Total Other financial 

liabilities
£000 £000

Liabilities as per SoFP
Borrowings excluding Finance lease and PFI liabilities 0 0
Obligations under finance leases 2,121 2,121
Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts 2,994 2,994
NHS Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets 2,379 2,379
Non NHS Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets 49,660 49,660
Provisions under contract 10,497 10,497
Liabilities in disposal groups excluding non-financial assets 0 0
Total at 31 March 2013 67,651 67,651

Borrowings excluding Finance lease and PFI liabilities 0 0
Obligations under finance leases 2,229 2,229
Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts 3,192 3,192
NHS Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets 3,850 3,850
Non NHS Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets 44,213 44,213
Other financial liabilities 0 0
Provisions under contract 6,259 6,259
Liabilities in disposal groups excluding non-financial assets 0 0
Total at 31 March 2012 59,743 59,743
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Note 27.4 Fair values of financial assets

There is no difference between the book value and fair value of the financial assets at 31 March 2013.

Note 27.5 Fair values of financial liabilities

There is no difference between the book value and fair value of the financial liabilities at 31 March 2013.

Note 27.6 Foreign Currency Risk

The Trust has no foreign currency income and negligible foreign currency expenditure.

Note 28 Losses and Special Payments

There were 1,648 cases of losses and special payments totalling £705k approved during 2012/13 (238 in 2011/12, 
costing £538k). 

Legal claims totalling £170k (£228k, 2011/12) are included within these figures, but they are classified under 
'Legal fees' rather than 'Losses, ex gratia and special payments' in Note 3.1 Operating Expenses.

In 2012/13 there was one (0, 2011/12) individual case where the net payment exceeded £100,000. It was a 
payment in lieu of notice, of £180k. 
    
These losses are reported on an accruals basis excluding provision for future losses.

Note 29 Subsidiary relationships

29.1 Heartlands Education Centre Limited (HECL)

In applying the principles of IAS 27 (Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements) the Trust has a subsidiary 
relationship with Heartlands Education Centre Limited (HECL).  The net assets of HECL are not deemed material 
to the Trust's position, and therefore are not consolidated into group accounts and group accounts are not 
prepared. The following table sets out the net assets of the HECL in relation to the Trust's surplus and the 
HECL's net profit results.

2012/13 2011/12
£000 £000

HECL net assets (36) (55) 
HEFT net assets 285,530 348,617
% -0.01% -0.02%

HECL net profit 19 29
HEFT net profit (63,087) 6,675
% -0.03% 0.43%

The company was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 25 October 1994 as a company limited by guarantee 
and does not therefore have any share capital.  As such the Trust does not hold a financial investment in HECL.

Adrian Stokes  (Finance Director for the Trust) also sits on the Board of Directors with HECL.

29.2 Charitable Funds

The Trust is the Corporate Trustee for the Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust General Charitable Fund (The 
Charity), registered charity number 1052330.

In applying the principles of IAS 27 (Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements) the charity would need 
to be consolidated. However the Annual Reporting Manual and the HM Treasure guidance has granted a 
dispensation for all NHS Foundation Trusts to not apply the IAS 27 until the 2013/14  financial year. The effect 
of consolidation would be to increase the Trust's net assets by £8.6m. Details of the charity can be obtained 
through the Trust's company secretary. 
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